UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by	the Registrant 🗵
Filed by	γ a Party other than the Registrant $\ \Box$
Check t	the appropriate box:
	Preliminary Proxy Statement
	Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
\boxtimes	Definitive Proxy Statement
	Definitive Additional Materials
	Soliciting Material Under §240.14a-12
	ImmunityBio, Inc. (Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
Paymei	(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
Paymei ⊠	(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter) (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if Other than Registrant)
•	(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter) (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if Other than Registrant) Int of Filing Fee (Check all boxes that apply):



To our Stockholders:

We are pleased to invite you to attend the 2022 annual meeting of stockholders (the Annual Meeting) of ImmunityBio, Inc. to be held on Tuesday, June 14, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. Pacific Time, or at any adjournment or postponement thereof. The Annual Meeting will be a virtual meeting of stockholders. You are invited to attend and vote your shares at the Annual Meeting live via Internet webcast so long as you register to attend the Annual Meeting at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX by 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time on June 10, 2022 (the Registration Deadline). Questions will need to be submitted prior to the Annual Meeting. To submit questions, please visit www.proxydocs.com/IBRX. You will not be able to attend the Annual Meeting in person.

We have also elected to provide access to our proxy materials over the Internet under the United States Securities and Exchange Commission's (SEC) "notice and access" rules. We believe these rules allow us to provide you with the information you need while reducing our delivery costs and the environmental impact of the Annual Meeting. The board of directors (Board) has fixed the close of business on April 18, 2022 as the record date (Record Date) for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. Our notice of proxy materials accessibility was first sent or given on April 29, 2022 to all stockholders as of the Record Date.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting via live webcast, please vote at your earliest convenience. You may vote over the Internet, by telephone or, if you request to receive printed proxy materials, by mailing a proxy or voting instruction card. You may also vote your shares during the Annual Meeting. Submitting your proxy in advance of the Annual Meeting will not prevent you from voting your shares at the Annual Meeting, as your proxy is revocable at your option as described in the proxy statement accompanying this notice. Please review the instructions regarding each of your voting options described in the proxy statement, as well as in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or proxy card you received by mail.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The accompanying proxy statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 (Annual Report) are available to view and download at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX.

Thank you for your ongoing support of, and continued interest in, ImmunityBio, Inc.

Sincerely,

Richard Adcock
Chief Executive Officer and President

April 29, 2022



Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Date and Time: Internet Availability of Proxy Materials:

Webcast Address: Items of Business:

Record Date:

Meeting Admission:

Tuesday, June 14, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. Pacific Time.

Under rules adopted by the SEC, we may furnish proxy materials, including this proxy statement and our Annual Report by providing access to such documents on the Internet instead of mailing printed copies. Most of you will not receive printed copies of the proxy materials unless you request them. Instead, the Notice of Internet Availability, which was mailed to most of you, will instruct you as to how you may access and review all of the proxy materials on the Internet. The Notice of Internet Availability also instructs you as to how you may submit your proxy on the Internet. If you would like to receive printed copies of our proxy materials by mail, please follow the instructions in the Notice of Internet Availability for requesting such materials. If you request printed copies of the proxy materials by mail, the materials you receive will include the proxy card or voting instruction form for the Annual Meeting. A copy of our proxy statement and our Annual Report are also posted on

www.proxydocs.com/IBRX, and are available from the SEC on its website at https://www.sec.gov.

www.proxydocs.com/IBRX.

- To elect nine directors from the nominees named in the accompanying proxy statement to serve until our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal.
- 2. To approve an amendment to the ImmunityBio, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of the company's common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 19,900,000 shares.
- 3. To ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as ImmunityBio's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.
- 4. To transact other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting.

Only stockholders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on Monday, April 18, 2022, are entitled to receive notice of, and vote at the Annual Meeting and any continuation, postponement, or adjournment thereof.

You are invited to attend the Annual Meeting live via webcast if you are a stockholder of record or a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock, in each case, as of April 18, 2022. Prior registration to attend the Annual Meeting at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX is required by 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time on June 10, 2022. Instructions regarding how to connect and participate live via the Internet, including how to demonstrate proof of stock ownership, are posted at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Jason LiljestromCorporate Secretary

San Diego, California April 29, 2022

Table of Contents

	Page
PROXY STATEMENT	1
Questions and Answers about the Proxy Materials and Annual Meeting	1
PROPOSAL 1 – ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	7
Nominees for Director	7
Board Recommendation	7
<u>Director Biographies</u>	8
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	11
Composition of the Board	11
Board Leadership Structure	11
The Board's Role in Risk Oversight	11
Board Meetings	12
Communication with the Board	12
Board Committees and Charters	13
Audit Committee	13
Compensation Committee	14
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	14
Related Party Transaction Committee	14
Special Committee	14
Board Diversity	15
Process for Selecting Directors and Director Qualifications	15
<u>Director Independence</u>	17
Prohibited Trading Activities	17
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	17
PROPOSAL 2 – APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF SHARES OF	18
COMMON STOCK AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER THE 2015 PLAN	
Approval of Amendment to Increase the Number of Shares of Common Stock Authorized for Issuance	18
under the 2015 Plan	
Board Recommendation	24
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	25
Our Current Named Executive Officers	25
Processes and Procedures for Executive Compensation	25
Employment Arrangements with Our Current Named Executive Officers	26
Merger or Change in Control	28
Other Compensation Policies	28
Tax and Accounting Considerations	28
Executive Compensation Clawback Policy	29
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION TABLES	30
Summary Compensation Table	30
All Other Compensation – Other Compensation and Perquisites	31
Grants of Plan-Based Awards	31
2021 Executive Bonus Plan	33
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION	34
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	35
2021 Director Compensation Policy	35
Equity Awards	35
Director Compensation Policy Changes for 2022	36

Other Compensation Details	36
Non-Employee Director Stock Ownership Policy	36
<u>Director Compensation Table</u>	37
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	38
PROPOSAL 3 - RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS	40
Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accountants	40
Board Recommendation	40
Audit Committee Report	41
Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accountants	42
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K	42
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	43
<u>Cambridge Investment</u>	43
Related Party Promissory Notes	44
Other Related Party Agreements and Arrangements	45
Indemnification Agreements	49
Policies for Approval of Related Party Transactions	49
OTHER MATTERS	50
Stockholder Proposals for the 2023 Annual Meeting	50
Availability of Bylaws	51
Code of Global Business Conduct and Ethics	51
<u>Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports</u>	51
Householding of Proxy Materials	51
No Incorporation by Reference	52
APPENDIX A: IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN	A-1
1 :: 1	
ii	



As a smaller reporting company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, ImmunityBio is electing to comply with the scaled disclosure requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies pursuant to SEC rules for many of the items that are incorporated by reference into Part III of its Annual Report on Form 10-K. These scaled disclosure requirements include reduced disclosure about the company's executive compensation arrangements. Please note that certain of the executive compensation disclosure required to be described for a smaller reporting company is presented in tabular form for ease.

The information provided in the "Questions and Answers" format below is for your convenience only and is merely a summary of the information contained in this proxy statement. You should read the entire proxy statement carefully.

Questions and Answers about the Proxy Materials and Annual Meeting

Why am I receiving these materials?

This proxy statement and the enclosed form of proxy are posted in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board for use at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of ImmunityBio, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any postponements or adjournments thereof. The Annual Meeting will be held on Tuesday, June 14, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. Pacific Time, via live Internet webcast.

Stockholders are invited to attend the Annual Meeting live via webcast and are requested to vote on the items of business described in this proxy statement. A copy of this proxy statement and our 2021 Annual Report are posted on www.proxydocs.com/lBRX, and are also available from the SEC on its website at https://www.sec.gov.

What is a proxy?

A proxy is your legal designation of another person to vote the stock you own. The person you designate is your "proxy," and you give the proxy authority to vote your shares by submitting the enclosed proxy card, or if available, voting by telephone or the Internet. We have designated each of Richard Adcock, our Chief Executive Officer and President, Jason Liljestrom, our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, and David Sachs, our Chief Financial Officer, to serve as proxies for the Annual Meeting.

What am I voting on?

You are being asked to vote on three proposals:

- the election of nine directors from the nominees named in this proxy statement to serve until our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal;
- the approval of an amendment to the ImmunityBio, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2015 Plan) to increase the number of shares of the company's common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 19,900,000 shares; and
- the ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as ImmunityBio's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.

What if other matters are properly brought before the Annual Meeting?

As of the date of this proxy statement, we are not aware of any other matters that will be presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters are properly brought before the Annual Meeting, the persons named as proxies will be authorized to vote or otherwise act on those matters in accordance with their judgment. If for any reason a director nominee is not available as a candidate for director, the persons named as proxy holders will vote your proxy for such other candidate as may be nominated by the Board.

ImmunityBio, Inc.	1	2022 Prox	y Statement

How does the Board recommend that I vote?

The Board recommends that you vote your shares:

- "FOR" the election of each of the nine nominees for director named in this proxy statement;
- **"FOR"** the approval of an amendment to the ImmunityBio, Inc. 2015 Plan to increase the number of shares of the company's common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 19,900,000 shares; and
- "FOR" the ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as ImmunityBio's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.

Who may vote at the Annual Meeting?

Only stockholders of record as of the close of business as of the Record Date on April 18, 2022 are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. As of the Record Date, there were 397,953,809 shares of our common stock outstanding, held by 88 holders of record.

You are invited to attend and vote your shares at the Annual Meeting live via webcast so long as you register to attend the Annual Meeting at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX by 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time on June 10, 2022. You will be asked to provide the control number located inside the shaded gray box on your proxy card (the Control Number) as described in the proxy card. After completion of your registration by the Registration Deadline, further instructions, including a unique link to access the Annual Meeting, will be emailed to you.

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If, at the close of business on the Record Date, your shares were registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, then you are a stockholder of record. As a stockholder of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to the individuals listed on the proxy card or to vote live via the Internet at the Annual Meeting.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If, at the close of business on the Record Date for the Annual Meeting, your shares were held, not in your name, but rather in an account at a brokerage firm, bank or other nominee, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name" and these proxy materials will be forwarded to you by that organization. The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other nominee regarding how to vote the shares in your account by following the voting instructions your broker, bank or other nominee provides. You are also invited to attend the Annual Meeting live via webcast. However, since you are not the stockholder of record, you may not vote your shares live via the Internet at the Annual Meeting unless you obtain a valid proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee prior to the Annual Meeting.

How can I vote my shares?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote in one of the following ways:

- You may vote during the Annual Meeting live via the Internet. If you plan to attend the Annual Meeting live via webcast, you may vote by
 following the instructions posted at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX. To be admitted to the Annual Meeting and vote your shares, you must register
 by the Registration Deadline and provide the Control Number as described in the proxy card. After completion of your registration by the
 Registration Deadline, further instructions, including a unique link to access the Annual Meeting, will be emailed to you.
- You may vote by mail. Complete, sign and date the proxy card and return it promptly in the postage-prepaid envelope provided (if you
 requested and received printed proxy materials). Your completed, signed and dated proxy card must be received prior to the Annual Meeting.
- You may vote by telephone. To vote over the telephone, dial toll-free (844) 209-9557 and follow the recorded instructions. You will be asked to provide the Control Number from your proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.
- You may vote via the Internet. To vote via the Internet, go to www.proxypush.com/IBRX to complete an electronic proxy card (have your proxy card in hand when you visit the website). You will be asked to provide the Control Number from your proxy card. Internet voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

	ImmunityBio, Inc.	2	2022 Proxy	v Statement
--	-------------------	---	------------	-------------

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you are a beneficial owner of shares held of record by a broker, bank or other nominee, you will receive voting instructions from your broker, bank or other nominee. You must follow the voting instructions provided by your broker, bank or other nominee in order to instruct your broker, bank or other nominee on how to vote your shares. Beneficial owners of shares should generally be able to vote by returning the voting instruction card, or by telephone or via the Internet. However, the availability of telephone or Internet voting will depend on the voting process of your broker, bank or other nominee. As discussed above, if you are a beneficial owner, you may not vote your shares live via the Internet at the Annual Meeting unless you obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee prior to the Annual Meeting.

Can I change my vote or revoke my proxy?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record, you can change your vote or revoke your proxy at any time before the Annual Meeting by:

- entering a new vote via the Internet or by telephone (until the applicable deadline for each method as set forth above);
- returning a later-dated proxy card (which automatically revokes the earlier proxy);
- providing a written notice of revocation prior to the meeting date to ImmunityBio, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, 3530 John Hopkins Court, San Diego, California 92121; or
- attending the Annual Meeting and submitting your vote live via the Internet. Attendance at the Annual Meeting live via the Internet will not by
 itself cause your previously granted proxy to be revoked unless you specifically so request.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you are the beneficial owner of your shares, you must contact the broker, bank or other nominee holding your shares and follow their instructions to change your vote or revoke your proxy.

What is the effect of giving a proxy?

Proxies are solicited by and on behalf of the Board. The persons named in the proxy, Richard Adcock, Jason Liljestrom, and David Sachs, have been designated as proxies for the Annual Meeting by the Board. When proxies are properly dated, executed and returned, the shares represented by such proxies will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instruction of the stockholder. If no specific instructions are given, however, the shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board as described above and, if any other matters are properly brought before the Annual Meeting, the shares will be voted in accordance with the proxies' judgment.

How many votes do I have?

For the election of directors, each stockholder is entitled to cast one vote for each director nominee for each share of the company's common stock held by them as of the Record Date. Cumulative voting is not permitted for the election of directors. On the other matters to be voted upon, each stockholder is entitled to one vote for each share of the company's common stock held by them as of the Record Date.

What is the quorum requirement for the Annual Meeting?

A quorum is the minimum number of shares required to be present or represented at the Annual Meeting for the meeting to be properly held under our amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law. Holders of a majority of the voting power of the company's outstanding common stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting must be present live via the Internet or represented by proxy to hold and transact business at the Annual Meeting. On the Record Date, there were 397,953,809 shares outstanding and entitled to vote. Thus, the holders of at least 198,976,905 shares must be present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting to have a quorum.

Abstentions, "WITHHOLD" votes, and "broker non-votes" are counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining a quorum. If there is no quorum, the chair of the meeting or the holders of a majority of the voting power present live via the Internet or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting may adjourn the meeting to another date.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 3 2022 Proxy Statement

What are broker non-votes?

Broker non-votes occur when a beneficial owner of shares held in street name does not give instructions to the broker holding the shares as to how to vote on matters deemed "non-routine" and there is at least one "routine" matter to be voted upon at the meeting. Generally, if shares are held in street name, the beneficial owner of the shares is entitled to give voting instructions to the broker holding the shares. If the beneficial owner does not provide voting instructions, the broker can still vote the shares with respect to matters that are considered to be routine, but not with respect to non-routine matters. In the event that a broker votes shares on the routine matters but does not vote shares on the non-routine matters, those shares will be treated as broker non-votes with respect to the non-routine proposals. Accordingly, if you own shares through a nominee, such as a broker or bank, please be sure to instruct your nominee how to vote to ensure that your vote is counted on each of the proposals.

What matters are considered "routine" and "non-routine"?

The ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 (Proposal 3) is considered routine under applicable federal securities rules. The election of directors (Proposal 1) and the approval of an amendment to increase the number of shares of ImmunityBio, Inc.'s common stock authorized for issuance under the 2015 Plan (Proposal 2) are considered non-routine under applicable rules.

What are the effects of abstentions and broker non-votes?

An abstention represents a stockholder's affirmative choice to decline to vote on a proposal. If a stockholder indicates on its proxy card that it wishes to abstain from voting its shares, or if a broker, bank or other nominee holding its customers' shares of record cause abstentions to be recorded for shares, these shares will be considered present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. As a result, abstentions will be counted for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum and will also count as votes against a proposal in cases where approval of the proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present live via the Internet or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, including Proposals 2 and 3. However, because the outcome of Proposal 1 (election of directors) will be determined by a plurality vote, abstentions will have no impact on the outcome of such proposal as long as a guorum exists.

Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of calculating whether a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting but will not be counted for purposes of determining the number of votes cast on a non-routine proposal. Therefore, a broker non-vote will make a quorum more readily attainable but will not otherwise affect the outcome of the vote on any non-routine proposal.

What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals?

Proposal 1: Election of Directors. The election of directors requires a plurality of the voting power of shares present live via the Internet or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. This means that the nine nominees for director receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes will be elected as directors. You may vote (i) "FOR" each director or (ii) "WITHHOLD" for each director nominee. Because the outcome of this proposal will be determined by a plurality vote, shares voted "WITHHOLD" will have no impact on the outcome of this proposal but will count towards the quorum requirement for the Annual Meeting.

Proposal 2: Amendment to Increase the Number of Shares Authorized for Issuance Under the 2015 Plan. Amending the 2015 Plan requires the affirmative "FOR" vote of a majority of the shares present live via the Internet or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon to be approved. You may vote "FOR," "AGAINST," or "ABSTAIN" on this proposal. Abstentions will count towards the quorum requirement for the Annual Meeting and will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal. Broker non-votes are not deemed to be votes cast, are not included in the tabulation of voting results on this proposal, and will not affect the outcome of voting on this proposal.

Proposal 3: Ratification of Selection of Ernst & Young LLP. The ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present live via the Internet or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon to be approved. You may vote "FOR," "AGAINST," or "ABSTAIN" on this proposal. Abstentions will count towards the quorum requirement for the Annual Meeting and will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

ImmunityBio, Inc.	4	2022 Proxy Statement
-------------------	---	----------------------

Dr. Patrick Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, and his affiliates owned, in the aggregate, approximately 78.7% of the company's outstanding common stock as of the Record Date and has advised us that he intends to vote (1) "FOR" the election of each of the nine nominees for director named in this proxy statement; (2) "FOR" the approval of an amendment to the ImmunityBio, Inc. 2015 Plan to increase the number of shares of the company's common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 19,900,000 shares; and (3) "FOR" the ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as ImmunityBio's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.

What is the interest of the company's executive officers and directors in the proposals being voted upon?

None of our executive officers or directors or their associates has any substantial interest in any matter to be acted upon, other than (i) our directors, with respect to the election to office of the directors so nominated, and (ii) our executive officers and directors, with respect to the approval of an amendment to the 2015 Plan, because their compensation could be impacted.

Who will count the votes?

A representative of Mediant Communications, Inc. will tabulate the votes and act as inspector of elections.

What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted or fail to provide timely directions to my broker, bank or other nominee?

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record and you submit a signed proxy but you do not provide voting instructions, your shares will be voted:

- "FOR" the election of each of the nine nominees for director named in this proxy statement:
- **"FOR"** the approval of an amendment to the ImmunityBio, Inc. 2015 Plan to increase the number of shares of the company's common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 19,900,000 shares; and
- "FOR" the ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as ImmunityBio's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.

In addition, if any other matters are properly brought before the Annual Meeting, the persons named as proxies will be authorized to vote or otherwise act on those matters in accordance with their judgment.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. Brokers, banks and other nominees holding shares of common stock in street name for customers are generally required to vote such shares in the manner directed by their customers. In the absence of timely directions, your broker, bank or other nominee will have discretion to vote your shares on our sole routine matter – Proposal 3 to ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP. Absent direction from you, however, your broker, bank or other nominee will not have the discretion to vote on Proposal 1 relating to the election of directors and Proposal 2 relating to an amendment to increase the number of shares of ImmunityBio, Inc.'s common stock authorized for issuance under the 2015 Plan.

How can I contact ImmunityBio's transfer agent?

You may contact our transfer agent by writing to American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219. You may also contact our transfer agent via email at help@astfinancial.com or by telephone at (800) 937-5449.

How can I attend the Annual Meeting?

We will host the Annual Meeting live via Internet webcast. **You will not be able to attend the Annual Meeting in person.** Prior registration to attend the Annual Meeting at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX is required by 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time on June 10, 2022. A summary of the information you need in order to attend the Annual Meeting online is provided below:

Any stockholder may listen to the Annual Meeting and participate live via the Internet at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX. To be admitted to the
Annual Meeting's live Internet webcast, you must register at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX by the Registration Deadline as described in the proxy
card. The live Internet webcast will begin on June 14, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. Pacific Time.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 5 2022 Proxy Statement

- If a stockholder wishes to ask a question to directors and/or members of management in attendance at the Annual Meeting, please note that
 such questions must be submitted in advance of the Annual Meeting. To submit a question, mark the box on the proxy card when registering to
 attend the Annual Meeting and submit your written question or submit a question at www.proxydocs.com/iBRX after logging in with your
 Control Number.
- Stockholders of record may vote during the Annual Meeting live via the Internet.
- A stockholder must register to attend the Annual Meeting prior to the Registration Deadline, and after doing so, you will be sent a link in an email to join the meeting.
- Instructions regarding how to connect and participate live via the Internet, including how to demonstrate proof of stock ownership, are posted at www.proxydocs.com/lbRX.

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you were a stockholder of record at the close of business on the Record Date, follow the instructions regarding how to demonstrate proof of stock ownership posted at www.proxydocs.com/lBRX.

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you were a beneficial owner at the close of business on the Record Date, you may not vote your shares live via Internet at the Annual Meeting unless you obtain a "legal proxy" from your broker, bank or other nominee who is the stockholder of record with respect to your shares prior to the Annual Meeting. You may still attend the Annual Meeting even if you do not have a legal proxy. Instructions regarding how to demonstrate proof of stock ownership, are posted at www.proxydocs.com/lBRX.

How are proxies solicited for the Annual Meeting and who is paying for such solicitation?

The Board is soliciting proxies for use at the Annual Meeting by means of the proxy materials. The company will bear the entire cost of proxy solicitation. Copies of solicitation materials will also be made available upon request to brokers, banks and other nominees to forward to the beneficial owners of the shares held of record by such brokers, banks or other nominees. The original solicitation of proxies may be supplemented by solicitation by telephone, electronic communication, or other means by our directors, officers or employees. No additional compensation will be paid to these individuals for any such services, although we may reimburse such individuals for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with such solicitation. We do not plan to retain a proxy solicitor to assist in the solicitation of proxies.

If you choose to access the proxy materials and/or vote via the Internet, you are responsible for Internet access charges you may incur. If you choose to vote by telephone, you are responsible for telephone charges you may incur.

Where can I find the voting results of the Annual Meeting?

We will announce preliminary voting results at the Annual Meeting. We will also disclose voting results on a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC within four business days after the Annual Meeting. If final voting results are not available to us in time to file a Current Report on Form 8-K within four business days after the Annual Meeting, we will file a Current Report on Form 8-K to publish preliminary results and, within four business days after final results are known, file an additional Current Report on Form 8-K to publish the final results.

Is there a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

The names of stockholders of record entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available at the Annual Meeting and from our Corporate Secretary for 10 days prior to the meeting for any purpose germane to the meeting, between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m., Pacific Time, at our "principal executive offices" located at 3530 John Hopkins Court, San Diego, California 92121.

When are stockholder proposals due for next year's annual meeting?

Please see "Other Matters—Stockholder Proposals for the 2023 Annual Meeting" in this proxy statement for more information regarding the deadlines for the submission of stockholder proposals for the 2023 annual meeting.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 6 2022 Proxy Statement

Election of Directors

The Board is currently composed of nine directors. At the Annual Meeting, nine directors will be elected to the Board by holders of the company's common stock to serve for a one year term expiring at the 2023 annual meeting of stockholders. Each director's term continues until the election and qualification of his or her successor, or until his or her earlier retirement, resignation, disqualification, removal, or death.

Nominees for Director

<u>Name</u>	Independent	Age	Director Since	Audit	Compensation	Nominating and Corporate Governance	Related Party Transaction	Special Committee
Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D., FRCS (C), FACS		69	2014			С		
Richard Adcock		53	2021					
Barry J. Simon, M.D.		57	2007					
Michael D. Blaszyk	✓	69	2015	С	М			С
John Owen Brennan	/	66	2021			M	С	
Wesley Clark	✓	77	2021			M	М	
Cheryl L. Cohen	✓	56	2019	М		M		М
Linda Maxwell, M.D., M.B.A., FRCSC	1	48	2021	М	С		М	
Christobel Selecky	/	67	2021	М	М			

[&]quot;C" indicates Chair of the committee.

The Governance Committee has nominated Dr. Soon-Shiong, Mr. Adcock, Dr. Simon, Messrs. Blaszyk and Brennan, Gen. Clark, Ms. Cohen, Dr. Maxwell and Ms. Selecky, each a current director, as nominees for re-election to the Board at the Annual Meeting. If elected, each of the aforementioned nominees will serve as a director until the 2023 annual meeting and until his or her respective successor is duly elected and qualified.

Each of our nominees for director has agreed to serve, if elected, and management has no reason to believe that they will be unavailable to serve. In the event a nominee is unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the Annual Meeting, proxies will be voted for any nominee who may be designated by the present Board to fill the vacancy.

Required Vote

The directors elected to the Board will be elected by a plurality of the voting power of shares present live via the Internet or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the election of directors. In other words, the nine nominees receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes will be elected as directors. Shares represented by executed proxies will be voted, if authority to do so is not expressly withheld, for the election of Dr. Patrick Soon-Shiong, Richard Adcock, Dr. Barry J. Simon, Michael D. Blaszyk, John Owen Brennan, Gen. Wesley Clark, Cheryl L. Cohen, Dr. Linda Maxwell and Christobel Selecky. Broker non-votes have no effect on this proposal.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" EACH OF THE NINE NOMINEES. PROXIES WILL BE VOTED "FOR" THE ELECTION OF THE NOMINEES UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 7 2022 Proxy Statement

[&]quot;M" indicates member of the committee.

Set forth below is biographical information for each nominee and a summary of the specific qualifications, attributes, skills, and experiences which led the Board to conclude that each nominee should serve on the Board at this time. There are no family relationships among any of our directors or among any of our directors and our executive officers.

Director Biographies

Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D., FRCS (C), FACS was appointed Executive Chairman of the Board in October 2020 and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer of the company on August 11, 2021. Previously, he served as the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer from March 2015 to October 2020, as the Co-Chairman of the Board from December 2014 to March 2015, and as our Chief Medical Officer from January 2015 to March 2015. In 2011, he founded NantWorks, an ecosystem of companies to create a transformative global health information and next generation pharmaceutical development network, for the secure sharing of genetic and medical information. Dr. Soon-Shiong invented and developed Abraxane®, the nation's first Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved protein nanoparticle albumin-bound delivery technology for the treatment of cancer. Abraxane was approved by the FDA for metastatic breast cancer in 2005, lung cancer in 2012, and pancreatic cancer in 2013. Abraxane is now approved in many countries across the globe. From 1997 to 2010, Dr. Soon-Shiong served as founder, chairman, and chief executive officer of two global pharmaceutical companies, American Pharmaceutical Partners (sold to Fresenius SE for \$4.6 billion in 2008) and Abraxis BioScience (sold to Celgene Corporation for \$3.8 billion in 2010). In 2018, he became the owner and executive chairman of the Los Angeles Times, San Diego Union-Tribune, Los Angeles Times en Español and other publications under the California Times. Dr. Soon-Shiong is chairman of the Chan Soon-Shiong Family Foundation and the Chan Soon-Shiong Institute of Molecular Medicine, a nonprofit medical research organization. He also serves as chair of the board of directors of the Access to Advanced Health Institute, a nonprofit biotech research institute located in Seattle focused on combating some of the world's deadliest diseases, including COVID-19, cancer, fungal and parasitic infections, and other non-communicable diseases. He is an Adjunct Professor of Surgery at UCLA and a visiting Professor at the Imperial College of London. Dr. Soon-Shiong holds a degree in medicine from the University of the Witwatersrand and a M.Sc. in science from the University of British Columbia. We believe Dr. Soon-Shiong is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on his depth of expertise as chairman and chief executive officer of multiple multi-billion dollar companies in the life sciences industry, his broad experience in the research and development of pioneering technologies, and his educational background. Pursuant to the Subscription and Investment Agreement between the company and Cambridge Equities, LP (Cambridge), Cambridge has the right to designate one individual to be nominated and recommended for election by the Board for as long as Cambridge continues to hold at least 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the company's common stock. Dr. Soon-Shiong has been selected by Cambridge to hold this Board seat.

Richard Adcock has served as our Chief Executive Officer since October 2020 and as President of the company and a member of the Board since March 2021. He has over 30 years of leadership experience in the healthcare industry. From January 2018 to September 2020, he served as chief executive officer of Verity Health System of California, Inc. (Verity Health), a nonprofit public benefit corporation healthcare provider, that he steered through a successful restructuring event. Please see "Executive Compensation—Our Current Named Executive Officers—Certain Proceedings" for more information. Prior to joining Verity Health, he served in various capacities at Sanford Health, a not-for-profit integrated healthcare delivery system, including as its chief innovation officer, president, executive vice president and director from 2004 to 2017. Prior to Sanford Health, he served as global engineering director at GE Healthcare. Mr. Adcock holds a B.S. in Business Administration from Northern State University and an M.B.A. in Healthcare Management from University of Phoenix. We believe Mr. Adcock is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on his extensive knowledge of the healthcare industry and his experience in senior management roles at leading healthcare companies.

Barry J. Simon, M.D. has served as a member of the Board since 2007 and as Chief Corporate Affairs Officer of the company since March 2021. Dr. Simon previously served as our President and Chief Administrative Officer from January 2017 to March 2021, and as President and Chief Operating Officer from 2015 to 2016. From 2007 to 2015, he was our President and Chief Executive Officer. He has served as president, chief executive officer and chairman of Brink Biologics Inc., a bioanalytics, reagents and testing services company (a company affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong), since March 2015. Previously, he held vice president, senior level, and advisory positions at F. Hoffmann-La Roche, a global healthcare company, Roche Labs, a pharmaceuticals company, Connetics Corporation, a specialty pharmaceutical company, Immunomedics, a biopharmaceutical company, Immusol, a biopharmaceutical company, HealthPro BioVentures, LLC, a healthcare and life sciences investment bank, and NorthSound Capital, LLC, a U.S.-based hedge fund. He currently serves as a director of Viracta Therapeutics, Inc. (Viracta), a biopharmaceutical company, since March 2021. He previously served as a director of Cue Biopharma, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company, from 2016 to June 2021 and as a director of Viracta from July 2017 to November 2020.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 8 2022 Proxy Statement

He has broad experience in public and private settings, having led private and public equity offerings, product and portfolio divestitures and acquisitions, strategic licensing and joint ventures, as well as commercial product launches, investigational new drug (IND) and biologics license application (BLA) regulatory filings, human-enabling programs, manufacturing, quality control and life cycle management. He has worked across several therapeutic areas including oncology, virology, ophthalmology and dermatology on products launches including Xeloda®, Pegasys®, Fortovase®, Tamiflu®, Camptobell®, Boniva®, Fuzeon®, Valcyt®, and Accutane®. He attended corporate training programs through the London School of Business and Amos Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth College. Dr. Simon trained clinically in Infectious Diseases at Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Anesthesiology at The Mount Sinai Medical Center, and Internal Medicine at New York University and received his M.D. from the SUNY Downstate Health Sciences Center in New York. We believe Dr. Simon is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on his extensive medical and scientific knowledge and experience, and senior management experience in the biopharmaceutical industry, including mergers and acquisitions, asset and company divestitures, biotechnology spinouts, start-ups, private and public company financings, strategic alliances formation, in- and out-licensing organizational effectiveness and development, corporate restructurings, patent and trademarks, clinical and regulatory affairs, IND and BLA applications, drug product launches, medical marketing, and lifecycle management.

Michael D. Blaszyk has served as a member of the Board since July 2015. Since July 2017, Mr. Blaszyk has served as an operating partner of Beecken Petty O'Keefe & Company, LLC (BPOC), a capital markets company. Prior to BPOC, he served as the chief financial officer and chief corporate officer of Dignity Health (formerly known as Catholic Healthcare West), a not-for-profit public benefit corporation, from December 2000 until his retirement in December 2015. Prior to joining Dignity Health, he served as the senior vice president and chief financial officer of University Hospitals Health System in Cleveland, Ohio, a healthcare system, from 1997 to 2000. He also previously served as the managing partner of the Northeast Region Health Care Provider Consulting Practice for Mercer LLC (formerly known as William M. Mercer), a global consulting firm, and the executive vice president of Boston Medical Center, a not-for-profit academic medical center. Mr. Blaszyk is a director/manager for Medicus, NantHealth (an affiliate of Dr. Soon-Shiong), Himagine, and Health Management Associates. He received his B.S. in Life Sciences from Wayne State University and his Masters in Health Administration from the University of Colorado. We believe Mr. Blaszyk is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on his extensive experience with and knowledge of the healthcare industry and his significant financial and accounting background.

John Owen Brennan has served as a member of the Board since March 2021. Mr. Brennan served on the board of directors of ImmunityBio, Inc. (a private company) from February 2021 until March 9, 2021. Mr. Brennan served for 29 years in a variety of roles at the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), rising from analyst to station chief, and was ultimately appointed as the agency's Director by President Barack Obama, leading the CIA from March 2013 to January 2017. From 2009 to 2013, he served as Deputy National Security Advisor for Homeland Security and Counterterrorism and has also served as a senior national security and intelligence analyst for NBC News and MSNBC since February 2018. Mr. Brennan has served on numerous boards of advisors and boards of directors of privately-held entities, including his current service on the Swiss Re Group Strategic Council. He earned a Bachelor of Arts degree from Fordham University, which included study abroad at the American University in Cairo, and is a Distinguished Fellow at the Fordham University Law School. He earned a Master of Arts from the University of Texas at Austin, where he currently serves as a Distinguished Non-Resident Scholar and a senior advisor to the University's Intelligence Studies Projects. We believe Mr. Brennan is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on his demonstrated fidelity and leadership experience throughout his career, and his acumen for public affairs.

Wesley Clark has served as a member of the Board since March 2021. General Clark, USA, Retired served on the board of directors of ImmunityBio, Inc. (a private company) from February 2021 until March 9, 2021. He served for 34 years in the U.S. Army, rising through the ranks to earn his fourth star as a full general in 1996. He served as the Supreme Allied Commander Europe of NATO from 1997 to 2000, where he commanded Operation Allied Force in the Kosovo War. Highly decorated throughout his career, Gen. Clark was awarded the U.S. Presidential Medal of Freedom by President William J. Clinton. Since March 2003, he has served as chairman and chief executive officer of Wesley K. Clark & Associates, LLC, a consulting firm specializing in business development, crisis support and strategic communications. Since 2010, he has served as chairman and chief executive officer of Enverra, Inc., a boutique investment bank. Gen. Clark has served on the board of directors of Equinox Gold Corp. since 2016 and served on the board of directors of Rentech, Inc. from 2010 to April 2018. He is a graduate of the U.S. Military Academy at West Point, where he was class valedictorian. After graduating from West Point, he was awarded a Rhodes Scholarship to the University of Oxford where he earned degrees in philosophy, politics and economics. He earned a master's degree in military science from the Command and General Staff College. We believe Gen. Clark is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on his extensive leadership experience, success in both the public and private sectors, and experience serving on other public company boards of directors.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 9 2022 Proxy Statement

Cheryl L. Cohen has served as a member of the Board since June 2019. Since 2008, Ms. Cohen has served as president of CLC Consulting, a pharmaceutical and biotechnology consulting firm specializing in new product start-up and commercialization. Prior to CLC, she served as chief commercial officer of Medivation, Inc., a publicly-traded bio-pharmaceutical company, from 2011 until 2014. From 2007 to 2008, she served as Vice President, Strategic Commercial Group, of Health Care Systems, Inc., a Johnson & Johnson company, and from 1998 to 2007, she worked at Janssen Biotech, Inc. (formerly Centocor Biotech, Inc.), a Johnson & Johnson company, in a variety of senior sales roles including Vice President, Rheumatology Franchise. She has served on the board of directors of MEI Pharma, Inc., a late-stage pharmaceutical company, since April 2020, and Ignyte Acquisition Corp., a special purpose acquisition company, since November 2020. She previously served on the board of directors of Aerpio Pharmaceuticals, Novus Therapeutics, Inc., Vital Therapies, Inc., Protein Sciences Corporation, and Cytrx Corporation. She began her career at Solvay Pharmaceuticals in a variety of sales positions. Ms. Cohen received her B.A. from Saint Joseph College. We believe Ms. Cohen is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on her extensive experience with and knowledge of the healthcare industry, commercialization expertise, and experience serving on boards of directors of public companies.

Linda Maxwell, M.D., M.B.A., FRCSC has served as a member of the Board since March 2021. Dr. Maxwell is an experienced physician and surgeon, having managed her own head and neck surgical practice since 2006. She is a medical educator, a published scientific author, and a health technology entrepreneur and innovator. As of March 2022, she is an Operating Partner at DCVC Management Co, LLC, a venture capital fund. She is currently an Adjunct Professor of Surgery at the University of Toronto, a Distinguished Visiting Professor at Ryerson University, and an Associate Scientist at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute in Toronto. She is the Founder and Executive Director of The Biomedical Zone at Ryerson University, Canada's premier hospital-embedded medical technology incubator for early-stage digital health and medical technology companies, and has guided a wide variety of startup companies through clinical development, capitalization and commercialization. She has also managed a life sciences tech transfer portfolio at the University of Oxford and the UK National Health Service, executing patent strategy, spin-out company formation, and early-stage capital raising. She has also served as a healthcare innovation expert to various Canadian federal, provincial, and local government entities, as a member of the Department Audit Committee of the Public Health Agency of Canada, and as an advisor to the Canadian Medical Association and the Canadian Space Agency. She currently serves on the board of directors of United Therapeutics Corporation. Dr. Maxwell earned an A.B. with honors from Harvard University, an M.D. from Yale University School of Medicine, and an M.B.A. from the Saïd Business School at the University of Oxford. We believe Dr. Maxwell is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on her extensive medical and scientific knowledge and experience, and her experience advising and cultivating companies in the health technology industry.

Christobel Selecky has served as a member of the Board since March 2021. Ms. Selecky served on the board of directors of ImmunityBio, Inc. (a private company) from August 2020 until March 9, 2021. Ms. Selecky has more than 35 years of healthcare industry experience. She is the principal at Population Health Strategies, her healthcare consultancy, where since 2009 she has provided strategic consulting to management teams, companies and investors, helping improve patient engagement, population health outcomes, and healthcare cost management. Since 2014 she has served as a Strategic Advisor at Ceresti Health, a privately-held healthcare technology company, and has served as a lecturer in Healthcare Entrepreneurship for the M.B.A. program at the University of California, Irvine since 2017. She held several leadership positions over her 14-year career at FHP International Corporation, which ended in 1995 including as President of the FHP California Health Plan. She subsequently co-founded, and served as President, CEO, and Executive Chairman of LifeMasters Supported SelfCare, a national leader in the field of disease and population health management. She currently serves on the boards of directors of Teleperformance SE, a French public company providing business services, Satellite Healthcare (Chair), a leading not-for-profit provider of kidney dialysis and related services, and Griswold Home Care, a privately-held non-medical home care company. She is active in several board governance organizations such as NACD and Women Corporate Directors and has been a member of audit, compensation, governance and other committees of boards of directors on which she has served. Ms. Selecky received her B.A. from the University of Delaware and her M.A. from Syracuse University. We believe Ms. Selecky is qualified to serve as a member of the Board based on her extensive experience in and knowledge of the healthcare industry, experience in board governance, and experience in advising stakeholders of healthcare companies at various

ImmunityBio, Inc. 10 2022 Proxy Statement

Corporate Governance

Composition of the Board

Our business affairs are managed under the direction of the Board, which is currently comprised of nine members. Six of the nine directors qualify as "independent" within the meaning of such term as set forth in the listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Exchange (Nasdaq). Under Nasdaq rules, a director will only qualify as an "independent director" if, among other things, in the opinion of that company's board of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

On June 18, 2015, we entered into a letter agreement with Cambridge (Cambridge Nominating Agreement). Pursuant to the Cambridge Nominating Agreement, Cambridge has the right to designate one individual to be nominated and recommended for election by the Board or a duly authorized committee thereof, for as long as Cambridge or its affiliates continues to hold at least 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the company's common stock, subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and similar transactions. Dr. Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, controls the entity that is the general partner of Cambridge and was selected by Cambridge to hold this board seat. The Cambridge director nominee shall be nominated and recommended for election to the Board, subject to any applicable limitations imposed by Delaware General Corporation Law (DGCL), the Board's fiduciary duties to our stockholders, and any other applicable law. Cambridge's right to have a designee nominated or appointed to serve on the Board shall automatically terminate whenever Cambridge owns less than 20% of the company's issued and outstanding shares of common stock.

Under the terms of his employment agreement, Dr. Barry J. Simon, the company's Chief Corporate Affairs Officer, for so long as he remains an employee of the company, shall be nominated and recommended for election to the Board at each annual meeting of stockholders by the Board or a duly authorized committee thereof. If Dr. Simon's employment with us is terminated for any reason, his membership on the Board will also terminate, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the company and Dr. Simon.

The company's Corporate Governance Guidelines require that at least a majority of the Board shall consist of United States citizens and/or directors residing in the United States.

At each annual meeting of stockholders, the terms of each of our nine incumbent directors expire and all members of the Board will stand for election. The nine directors elected at the annual meeting will serve from the time of election and qualification until the earliest of the next annual meeting of stockholders following such election or their resignation or removal.

Board Leadership Structure

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that the Board will fill the chairman and chief executive officer positions based upon its view of what is in the best interests of the company at any point in time. The Board believes that Dr. Soon-Shiong's service as Executive Chairman and Mr. Adcock's service as Chief Executive Officer is in the best interests of the company and its stockholders.

Given his long tenure with and status within ImmunityBio, the Board believes Dr. Soon-Shiong possesses detailed and in-depth knowledge of the issues, opportunities, and challenges facing the company, and management believes he is best positioned, in consultation with Mr. Adcock, to develop agendas that ensure that the Board's time and attention is focused on the most critical matters. Management also believes that Dr. Soon-Shiong's extensive scientific and medical knowledge and background with the company enables him to work with Mr. Adcock to ensure clear accountability and enhance the company's ability to communicate its message and strategy clearly and consistently to our stockholders and employees.

The Board's Role in Risk Oversight

One of the key functions of the Board is informed oversight of the company's risk management process. The Board does not have a standing risk management committee, but rather administers this oversight function directly through the Board as a whole, as well as through its standing committees that address risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In particular, the Board is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and discussing the company's major financial risk exposures and the steps taken by management to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management. The Audit

ImmunityBio, Inc. 11 2022 Proxy Statement

Committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, in addition to oversight of the performance of the company's external audit function. The Related Party Transaction Committee reviews related party transactions and informs the Audit Committee of all related party transactions approved by them. The Governance Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the management of risk associated with board organization, membership and structure, and corporate governance. The Compensation Committee assesses and monitors whether any of the company's compensation policies and programs has the potential to encourage excessive risk-taking. The Board believes its leadership structure is consistent with and supports the administration of its risk oversight function.

Board Meetings

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the Board held 11 meetings (including regularly scheduled and special meetings), and each director attended at least 75% of the aggregate of (i) the total number of Board meetings held during the period for which he or she served as a director and (ii) the total number of Board committee meetings held during the periods that he or she served on such committee(s). Independent directors shall meet in executive session at each regularly scheduled meeting no less than four times per year.

We make every effort to schedule our annual meeting of stockholders at a date and time to maximize attendance by directors taking into account the directors' schedules. It is the company's policy that all current directors attend our annual meetings of stockholders, subject to extenuating circumstances. Each of our directors serving at the time of our 2021 annual meeting of stockholders were present at such meeting.

Communication with the Board

In cases where stockholders or other interested parties wish to communicate directly with our directors, messages can be sent to ImmunityBio, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, 3530 John Hopkins Court, San Diego, California 92121. Our Corporate Secretary monitors these communications and will forward to our designated legal counsel to provide a summary of all received messages to the board at each regularly scheduled meeting. The Board typically meets on a quarterly basis. Where the nature of a communication warrants, our designated legal counsel, may determine, in his or her judgment, to obtain the more immediate attention of the appropriate committee of the Board or non-management director, of independent advisors or of our management, as our designated legal counsel considers appropriate.

Our designated legal counsel may decide in the exercise of his or her judgment whether a response to any stockholder or interested party communication is necessary.

This procedure for stockholder and other interested party communications with the non-management directors is administered by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (Governance Committee). This procedure does not apply to (a) communications to non-management directors from our officers or directors who are stockholders, (b) stockholder proposals submitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act, or (c) communications to the Audit Committee pursuant to our procedures for complaints regarding accounting and auditing matters.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 12 2022 Proxy Statement

Board Committees and Charters

The Board currently has four standing committees: the Audit Committee; the Compensation Committee; the Governance Committee; and the Related Party Transaction Committee. Additionally, in October 2020 the Board established a Special Committee in connection with the merger between NantKwest, Inc. and ImmunityBio, Inc. (a private company) (the Merger), which closed on March 9, 2021.

The Board maintains charters for each of its standing committees and these charters are evaluated annually. In addition, the Board has adopted a written set of Corporate Governance Guidelines that generally formalize practices the Board has in place. The charters of our standing Board committees and our Corporate Governance Guidelines are available on our website, https://www.immunitybio.com.

Controlled Company Exemption

Dr. Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and entities affiliated with him, control a significant majority of our common stock. As a result, we are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the Nasdaq corporate governance rules. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company is a "controlled company" and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance standards, including (1) the requirement that a majority of the Board consist of independent directors, and (2) the requirement that the company have a nominating and corporate governance committee. Although not required by Nasdaq corporate governance rules, the Board is currently comprised of a majority of independent directors. The Board has determined that each of Messrs. Blaszyk and Brennan, Gen. Clark, Ms. Cohen, Dr. Maxwell and Ms. Selecky, representing six of our nine directors, is independent as that term is defined under Nasdaq rules. In addition, although not required by Nasdaq rules, the Board established a Governance Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established to oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes and assist the Board in monitoring our financial systems and our legal and regulatory compliance. The committee also:

- oversees the work of the independent registered public accounting firm;
- approves the hiring, discharging and compensation of the independent registered public accounting firm;
- approves engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm to render any audit or permissible non-audit services;
- reviews the qualifications, independence and performance of the independent registered public accounting firm;
- reviews our financial statements and our critical accounting policies and estimates;
- reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls;
- reviews our policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management;
- reviews and monitors our policies and procedures relating to related party transactions in consultation with the Related Party Transaction Committee; and
- reviews and discusses the results of our annual audit and reviews our quarterly financial statements and publicly filed reports with management and the independent registered public accounting firm.

The current members of the committee are Mr. Blaszyk (Chair and financial expert), Mses. Cohen and Selecky, and Dr. Maxwell. The Board has determined that each member of the committee is an independent director under the Nasdaq corporate governance rules, satisfies the additional independence criteria for audit committee members, and satisfies the requirements for financial literacy under the Nasdaq corporate governance rules and Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act, as applicable. The Board has also determined that Mr. Blaszyk qualifies as an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and satisfies the financial sophistication requirements of the Nasdaq corporate governance rules. The committee held 10 meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 13 2022 Proxy Statement

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee was established to oversee the company's corporate compensation programs and:

- provides oversight of the company's compensation policies and plans and benefits programs, and overall compensation philosophy, as well as human capital management programs;
- reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives relevant to the company's chief executive officer (CEO) compensation, evaluates the CEO's performance in light of those goals and objectives, and, either as a committee or together with the other independent directors (as directed by the Board), determines and approves the CEO's compensation level based on this evaluation;
- reviews and approves, or makes recommendations to the Board with respect to, non-CEO executive officer compensation, and incentive-compensation and equity-based plans;
- administers the company's equity compensation plans for its executive officers and employees and the granting of equity awards pursuant to such plans or outside of such plans; and
- engages a compensation consultant, legal counsel or other advisors to advise on executive compensation and assess the independence of each in accordance with Nasdag corporate governance and SEC rules, among other duties and responsibilities.

The current members of the committee are Dr. Maxwell (Chair), Mr. Blaszyk, and Ms. Selecky. The Board has determined that each member of the committee is an independent director under Nasdaq corporate governance rules, satisfies the additional independence criteria for compensation committee members under Rule 10C-1 of the Exchange Act and Nasdaq corporate governance rules, and is a "non-employee director" within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. The committee held eight meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Although not required by Nasdaq corporate governance rules because ImmunityBio is a controlled company, the Governance Committee was established to:

- identify, evaluate, and select or recommend nominees for appointment or election to the Board;
- recommend directors to the Board to be members and/or chairs of Board committees;
- review developments in corporate governance practices;
- evaluate the adequacy of the company's corporate governance practices and reporting; and
- evaluate the performance of the Board and of individual directors.

The current members of the committee are Dr. Soon-Shiong (Chair), Mr. Brennan, Gen. Clark and Ms. Cohen. The Board has determined that each of Mr. Brennan, Gen. Clark and Ms. Cohen is an independent director under Nasdaq corporate governance rules. The committee held three meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Related Party Transaction Committee

The Related Party Transaction Committee was established to review and approve related party transactions. The current members of the committee are Mr. Brennan (Chair), Gen. Clark, and Dr. Maxwell. The Board has determined that each member of the committee is an independent director under Nasdag corporate governance rules. The committee held eight meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Special Committee

The Special Committee was established in October 2020 to, among other things, evaluate and negotiate the terms and conditions of the Merger and to make recommendations to the Board regarding the Merger. The current members of the committee are Mr. Blaszyk (Chair) and Ms. Cohen, each of whom is a non-employee independent director. The committee held three meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 14 2022 Proxy Statement

Board Diversity

The following matrix presents the Board's diversity statistics in accordance with Nasdaq Rule 5606, as self-disclosed by our directors. The Board satisfies the minimum objectives of Nasdaq Rule 5605(f)(3) by having at least one director who identifies as female and at least one director who identifies as a member of an "Underrepresented Minority" (as defined by Nasdaq corporate governance rules). As we pursue future Board recruitment efforts, the Governance Committee will continue to seek out candidates who can contribute to the diversity of views and perspectives of the Board in accordance with the Governance Committee's Policies and Procedures for Director Candidates. This includes seeking out individuals of diverse ethnicities, a balance in terms of gender, and individuals with diverse perspectives informed by other personal and professional experiences.

Board Diversity Matrix as of April 29, 2022

Total Number of Directors			9	
	Female	Male	Non-Binary	Did Not Disclose Gender
Part I: Gender Identity				
Directors	3	5		1
Part II: Demographic Background				
African American or Black	_	_		
Alaskan Native or Native American	_	_	-	-
Asian	_	1	_	
Hispanic or Latinx	_	_	_	
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	_	_	_	
White	2	4	-	
Two or More Races or Ethnicities	1			
	3	5		
LGBTQ+			<u> </u>	
Did Not Disclose Demographic Background			1	

Process for Selecting Directors and Director Qualifications

As described above, under the terms of the Cambridge Nominating Agreement, Cambridge has the right to designate one individual to be nominated and recommended for election by the Board. Additionally, under the terms of Dr. Simon's employment agreement with the company, the Board is obligated to nominate and recommend Dr. Simon for election to the Board as long as he is employed by the company.

The Governance Committee uses the following procedures to identify and evaluate any individual recommended or offered for nomination to the Board:

- The Governance Committee will consider candidates recommended by stockholders in the same manner as candidates recommended to the Governance Committee from other sources.
- The Governance Committee will consider in each pool of candidates considered for nomination to the Board at least one woman or one member of an "underrepresented population," meaning a subset of a population that holds a smaller percentage within a significant subgroup than the subset holds in the general population, such as African Americans, American Indians, Alaskan Natives, and Latinx.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 15 2022 Proxy Statement

- In its evaluation of director candidates, including the members of the Board eligible for re-election, the Governance Committee will consider the following:
 - the current size and composition of the Board and the needs of the Board and its respective committees.
 - factors such as character, integrity, judgment, diversity of background (including race, national origin, and gender diversity), and
 experience, independence, area of expertise, corporate experience, length of service, potential conflicts of interest, other commitments,
 and other similar factors. The Governance Committee evaluates these factors, among others, and does not assign any particular
 weighting or priority to any of these factors.
 - other factors that the Governance Committee may consider appropriate.

The Governance Committee also focuses on issues of diversity, such as diversity in experience, international perspective, background, expertise, skills, age, gender, and ethnicity. The Board believes that it is essential that members of the Board represent diverse viewpoints.

The Governance Committee requires that any nominee for a position on the Board must satisfy the following minimum qualifications:

- the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;
- proven achievement and competence in the nominee's field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment;
- skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;
- the ability to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the company's success; and
- an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities required of a member of the Board and the commitment of time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities.

If the Governance Committee determines that an additional or replacement director is required, the Governance Committee may take such measures as it considers appropriate in connection with its evaluation of a director candidate, including candidate interviews, inquiry of the person or persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance on the knowledge of the members of the Governance Committee, the Board, or management.

The Governance Committee has discretion to decide which individuals to recommend for nomination as directors, and the Board has the final authority in determining the selection of director candidates for nomination to the Board. After completing its review and evaluation of director candidates, the Governance Committee and the Board unanimously recommends all nine of the director nominees for election named in this proxy statement.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 16 2022 Proxy Statement

Director Independence

To be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3 and Nasdaq rules, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the audit committee, board of directors, or any other board committee: (1) accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries; or (2) be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Board undertook a review of the independence of our directors and considered whether any director has a material relationship with the company that could compromise his or her ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his or her responsibilities. Based upon information requested from and provided by each director concerning his or her background, employment and affiliations, including family relationships, the Board has determined that each of Messrs. Blaszyk and Brennan, Gen. Clark, Mses. Cohen and Selecky, and Dr. Maxwell, representing six of our nine directors, is independent as that term is defined by the SEC and Nasdaq rules.

In making these determinations, the Board considered the relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances the Board deemed relevant in determining their independence, including consulting relationships, family relationships and the beneficial ownership of the company's capital stock by each non-employee director.

In addition, our Corporate Governance Guidelines require that each independent member of the Board: (i) shall not have and have not been at any time during the past five years, an employee of the company; (ii) shall have received only *de minimis* remuneration from service as (or compensation paid to an entity the director is an officer of or controls) an advisor, consultant, or legal counsel to the company and/or its senior management for the preceding three years; (iii) shall have no personal service contract(s) with the company or a member of its senior management; and (iv) shall have no business relationships with the company during preceding three years that required the company to make a disclosure under Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act (other than directorship/de minimis remuneration). Also, until January 1, 2024, a majority of the Board must have served as a director less than 10 consecutive years.

Prohibited Trading Activities

Under our Insider Trading Policy, all Board members, employees, consultants and certain other service providers (Service Providers) are prohibited from participating directly or indirectly in transactions involving trading activities in the company's securities that, by their nature, are aggressive or speculative, or may give rise to an appearance of impropriety. Such Service Providers may not:

- engage in short sales (sales of stock that the seller does not own or a sale that is completed by delivery of borrowed stock) with respect to the company's securities;
- · engage in transactions that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of the company's stock;
- purchase or pledge the company's on margin or as collateral to secure a loan or other obligation; or
- enter into any derivative or similar transactions with respect to the company's securities.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of our executive officers currently serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of the Compensation Committee, or other Board committees performing equivalent functions (or in the absence of any such committee, the entire Board), or as a director of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on the Compensation Committee or the Board. None of the members of the Compensation Committee during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, which included Dr. Maxwell, Mr. Blaszyk and Ms. Selecky has been an officer or employee of the company. Prior to their resignations on March 26, 2021, Frederick W. Driscoll and John C. Thomas, each of whom was an independent director, served on the Compensation Committee and had never been and officer or employee of the company.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 17 2022 Proxy Statement

Proposal 2 – Approval of Amendment to Increase the Number of Shares of Common Stock Authorized for Issuance under the 2015 Plan

Approval of Amendment to Increase the Number of Shares of Common Stock Authorized for Issuance under the 2015 Plan

The company's stockholders are being asked to approve an amendment to the 2015 Plan (as Amended and Restated June 10, 2020), which would increase the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2015 Plan by 19,900,000 shares. A copy of the 2015 Plan, as amended by this proposal, is set forth in this proxy statement as Appendix A.

The 2015 Plan is the only equity plan available for the grant of equity awards to employees, directors and consultants of the company. If our stockholders approve the amendment, the total number of shares of our common stock that will be reserved for issuance under the 2015 Plan will be 32,088,415 shares (representing approximately 8.1% of our outstanding common stock as of March 31, 2022) plus any additional shares added pursuant to expiration, termination or forfeiture of outstanding awards under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2014 Plan), pursuant to the 2015 Plan's terms following March 31, 2022. The Compensation Committee and Board considered the following when determining the number of shares to reserve for issuance under the 2015 Plan:

Number of Shares Remaining under the 2015 Plan. As of March 31, 2022, the number of shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan was 336,274 shares, plus any shares subject to outstanding equity awards granted under the 2014 and 2015 Plans that return to the 2015 Plan due to expiration, termination or forfeiture thereof pursuant to the terms of the 2015 Plan. Any shares made subject to new awards granted under the 2015 Plan between March 31, 2022, and the date the amendment to the 2015 Plan is approved by our stockholders will reduce the shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan. As of March 31, 2022, (i) options to purchase an aggregate of 7,802,119 shares of the company's common stock were outstanding under the 2015 Plan, with a weighted average exercise price of \$11.33 per share and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 8.4 years; and (ii) options to purchase an aggregate of 503,493 shares of the company's common stock were outstanding under the 2014 Plan, with a weighted average exercise price of \$1.38 per share and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.7 years. In addition, as of March 31, 2022, 1,412,245 restricted stock units were outstanding under the 2015 Plan with a weighted average remaining vesting period of 2.4 years.

Overhang. The following table summarizes our current overhang as of March 31, 2022 as well as the overhang, assuming approval of the additional share authorization in this proposal:

	Number of Shares (1) (#)	Common Shares Outstanding (%)
Outstanding stock options	8,819,466	2.2%
Outstanding RSUs	6,149,411	1.5%
Remaining shares available for grant	336,274	0.1%
Total current overhang	15,305,151	3.8%
Proposed increase in share reserve	19,900,000	5.0%
Total overhang after proposed increase in share reserve	35,205,151	8.8%

⁽¹⁾ The table above includes awards granted under the 2014 and 2015 Plans as well as awards granted by NantCell, Inc. (formerly known as ImmunityBio, Inc., a private company) under the Amended and Restated ImmunityBio, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2015 NC Plan) that were assumed by the company in connection with the Merger.

Historical Grant Practices. The Compensation Committee and Board considered the number of equity awards that we granted since our initial public offering (IPO). Since our IPO, which was completed in July 2015, we granted equity awards under the 2015 Plan totaling approximately 13.9 million shares through March 31, 2022.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 18 2022 Proxy Statement

External Factors. In determining the number of shares to request for approval under the 2015 Plan amendment, the Compensation Committee and the Board also considered various other factors, including the current stock price of the company's common stock, prior grants made under the plans, and quidance from Mercer, the Compensation Committee's independent compensation consultant.

After consideration of these factors, the Compensation Committee determined that a 19,900,000 share reserve increase would be appropriate to be able to properly incentivize future and current employees, at least for the immediate term. If stockholders do not approve the proposed 19,900,000 share increase, in order to remain competitive in hiring and retaining high quality employees, it may become necessary to replace components of compensation previously awarded as equity with cash. We do not believe increasing cash compensation to make up for any shortfall in equity compensation would be practical or advisable because we believe that a combination of equity awards and cash compensation provide a more effective compensation strategy than cash alone for attracting, retaining and motivating our employees for the long term and aligning employees' and stockholders' interests. In addition, any significant increase in cash compensation in lieu of equity awards could substantially increase our cash operating expenses and increase the negative cash flows from our operations, which could adversely affect our results of operations and could adversely affect our business strategy, including the research and development of innovative new product candidates.

Summary of the 2015 Plan

The Board adopted the 2015 Plan in connection with the company's IPO. The 2015 Plan permits the grant of incentive stock options, within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), to our employees and any parent and subsidiary corporations' employees, and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to our employees, directors and consultants and our subsidiary corporations' employees and consultants. As of March 31, 2022, we had six non-employee directors and approximately 694 employees, including our employee directors.

Authorized Shares

Subject to adjustment provisions contained in the 2015 Plan, the maximum aggregate number of shares of our common stock that may be issued under the 2015 Plan is (i) 9,500,000 shares, which will be increased to 29,400,000 shares if our stockholders approve this proposed amendment to the 2015 Plan, plus (ii) the sum of (A) any shares that, as of July 27, 2015, the date the company's shares of common stock were registered pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (the "Registration Date"), were reserved but not issued pursuant to any awards granted under the 2014 Plan, and were not subject to any awards granted thereunder, and (B) any shares subject to stock options or similar awards granted under the 2014 Plan that, on or after the Registration Date, expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full and shares issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2014 Plan that are forfeited to or repurchased by us, with the maximum number of shares to be added to the 2015 Plan pursuant to clauses (A) and (B) equal to 9,197,066. The shares may be authorized, but unissued, or reacquired common stock of the company.

If an award under the 2015 Plan expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full, is surrendered pursuant to an exchange program, or, with respect to restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance units or performance shares, is forfeited or repurchased due to failure to vest, the unpurchased shares (or for awards other than stock options or stock appreciation rights, the forfeited or repurchased shares) will become available for future grant or sale under our 2015 Plan. With respect to stock appreciation rights, the net shares issued will cease to be available under the 2015 Plan and all remaining shares will remain available for future grant or sale under the 2015 Plan. Shares that actually have been issued under the 2015 Plan under any award will not be returned to the 2015 Plan and will not become available for future distribution under the 2015 Plan, provided that if shares issued pursuant to awards of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares or performance units are repurchased by the company or are forfeited to the company, such shares will become available for future grant under the 2015 Plan. Shares used to pay the exercise price of an award or satisfy the tax withholding obligations related to an award will become available for future grant or sale under the 2015 Plan. To the extent an award is paid out in cash rather than shares, such cash payment will not result in reducing the number of shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan.

In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, shares, other securities, or other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of shares or other securities of the company, or other change in the corporate structure of the company affecting the shares occurs, the administrator, in order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the 2015 Plan, will adjust the number and class of shares that may be delivered under the 2015 Plan and/or the number, class, and price of shares covered by each outstanding award, and the numerical share limit as provided for in the 2015 Plan.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 19 2022 Proxy Statement

Plan Administration

The Board or one or more committees appointed by the Board administers the 2015 Plan. In the case of awards intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the committee will consist of two or more "outside directors" within the meaning of Section 162(m). However, because of a change in the tax laws, as of November 2, 2017, we have not been able to grant awards that would qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m). In addition, if we determine it is desirable to qualify transactions under the 2015 Plan as exempt under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act (Rule 16b-3), such transactions will be structured to satisfy the requirements for exemption under Rule 16b-3. Subject to the provisions of the 2015 Plan, the administrator has the power to administer the plan, including but not limited to, the power to interpret the terms of the 2015 Plan and awards granted under it, to create, amend and revoke rules relating to the 2015 Plan, including creating sub-plans, and to determine the terms of the awards, including the exercise price, the number of shares subject to each such award, the exercisability of the awards and the form of consideration, if any, payable upon exercise. The administrator also has the authority to amend existing awards to reduce or increase their exercise price, to allow participants the opportunity to transfer outstanding awards to a financial institution or other person or entity selected by the administrator and to institute an exchange program by which outstanding awards may be surrendered in exchange for awards of the same type which may have a higher or lower exercise price or different terms, awards of a different type and/or cash.

Stock Options

Stock options may be granted under the 2015 Plan. The exercise price of options granted under the 2015 Plan must at least be equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. The term of an incentive stock option may not exceed 10 years, except that with respect to any participant who owns more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of our outstanding stock, the term must not exceed five years and the exercise price must equal at least 110% of the fair market value on the grant date. The administrator will determine the methods of payment of the exercise price of an option, which may include cash, shares or other property acceptable to the administrator, as well as other types of consideration permitted by applicable law. After the termination of service of an employee, director or consultant, he or she may exercise his or her option for the period of time stated in his or her option agreement. Generally, if termination is due to death or disability, the option will remain exercisable for 12 months. In all other cases, the option will generally remain exercisable for three months following the termination of service. However, in no event may an option be exercised later than the expiration of its term. Subject to the provisions of the 2015 Plan, the administrator determines the other terms of options.

Stock Appreciation Rights

Stock appreciation rights may be granted under the 2015 Plan. Stock appreciation rights allow the recipient to receive the appreciation in the fair market value of our common stock between the exercise date and the date of grant. Stock appreciation rights may not have a term exceeding 10 years. After the termination of service of an employee, director or consultant, he or she may exercise his or her stock appreciation right for the period of time stated in his or her stock appreciation rights agreement. However, in no event may a stock appreciation right be exercised later than the expiration of its term. Subject to the provisions of the 2015 Plan, the administrator determines the other terms of stock appreciation rights, including when such rights become exercisable and whether to pay any increased appreciation in cash or with shares of our common stock, or a combination thereof, except that the per share exercise price for the shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of a stock appreciation right will be no less than 100% of the fair market value per share on the date of grant.

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock may be granted under the 2015 Plan. Restricted stock awards are grants of shares of our common stock that vest in accordance with terms and conditions established by the administrator. The administrator will determine the number of shares of restricted stock granted to any employee, director or consultant and, subject to the provisions of the 2015 Plan, will determine the terms and conditions of such awards. The administrator may impose whatever conditions for lapse of the restriction on the shares it determines to be appropriate (for example, the administrator may set restrictions based on the achievement of specific performance goals or continued service to us); provided, however, that the administrator, in its sole discretion, may accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or be removed. Recipients of restricted stock awards generally will have voting and dividend rights with respect to such shares upon grant without regard to the restriction, unless the administrator provides otherwise. Shares of restricted stock as to which the restrictions have not lapsed are subject to our right of repurchase or forfeiture.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 20 2022 Proxy Statement

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units may be granted under the 2015 Plan. Restricted stock units are bookkeeping entries representing an amount equal to the fair market value of one share of our common stock. Subject to the provisions of the 2015 Plan, the administrator will determine the terms and conditions of restricted stock units, including the vesting criteria (which may include accomplishing specified performance criteria or continued service to us) and the form and timing of payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the administrator, in its sole discretion, may accelerate the time at which any restricted stock units will vest.

Performance Units and Performance Shares

Performance units and performance shares may be granted under the 2015 Plan. Performance units and performance shares are awards that will result in a payment to a participant only if performance goals established by the administrator are achieved or the awards otherwise vest. The administrator will establish organizational or individual performance goals or other vesting criteria in its discretion, which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number and/or the value of performance units and performance shares to be paid out to participants. After the grant of a performance unit or performance share, the administrator, in its sole discretion, may reduce or waive any performance criteria or other vesting provisions for such performance units or performance shares. Performance units shall have an initial dollar value established by the administrator prior to the grant date. Performance shares shall have an initial value equal to the fair market value on the grant date. The administrator, in its sole discretion, may pay earned performance units or performance shares in the form of cash, in shares or in some combination.

Non-employee Directors

The 2015 Plan provides that all non-employee directors are eligible to receive all types of awards (except for incentive stock options) under the 2015 Plan. The 2015 Plan provides that in any given fiscal year, a non-employee director may not receive awards greater than 175,000 shares, which limit is increased to 300,000 shares in connection with awards granted in the fiscal year of his or her initial service as a non-employee director. The 2015 Plan further provides that, in the event of a change in control, as defined in the 2015 Plan, each outstanding equity award granted under the 2015 Plan that is held by a non-employee director will fully vest, all restrictions on the shares subject to such award will lapse, and with respect to awards with performance-based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at 100% of target levels, and all of the shares subject to such award will become fully exercisable, if applicable.

Non-transferability of Awards

Unless the administrator provides otherwise, the 2015 Plan generally does not allow for the transfer of awards and only the recipient of an award may exercise an award during his or her lifetime. If an award recipient ceases to be a service provider (as defined in the 2015 Plan) due to disability or death, the participant, his or her estate or beneficiary can exercise any vested awards outstanding for 12 months following the recipient's termination due to death or disability.

Change in Control

The 2015 Plan provides that in the event of a change in control, as defined under the 2015 Plan, each outstanding award will be treated as the administrator determines, except that if a successor corporation or its parent or subsidiary does not assume or substitute an equivalent award for any outstanding award, then such award will fully vest, all restrictions on the shares subject to such award will lapse, all performance goals or other vesting criteria applicable to the shares subject to such award will be deemed achieved at 100% of target levels and all of the shares subject to such award will become fully exercisable, if applicable, for a specified period prior to the transaction. In addition, if an option or stock appreciation right is not assumed or substituted for, the administrator will notify the participant in writing or electronically that the option or stock appreciation right will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the administrator, in its sole discretion, and the option or stock appreciation right will terminate upon the expiration of such period. The award will then terminate upon the expiration of the specified period of time.

Amendment or Termination

The administrator will have the authority to amend, suspend or terminate the 2015 Plan, provided such action will not impair the existing rights of any participant. The 2015 Plan will automatically terminate in 2025, unless we terminate it sooner.

mmunityBio, Inc.	21		2022 Proxy \$	statement
------------------	----	--	---------------	-----------

Summary of U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following summary is intended only as a general guide to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of participation in the 2015 Plan. The summary is based on existing U.S. laws and regulations as of April 18, 2022, and there can be no assurance that those laws and regulations will not change in the future. The summary does not purport to be complete and does not discuss the tax consequences upon a participant's death, or the provisions of the income tax laws of any municipality, state or foreign country in which the participant may reside. As a result, tax consequences for any particular participant may vary based on individual circumstances.

Incentive Stock Options

A participant recognizes no taxable income for regular income tax purposes as a result of the grant or exercise of an option that qualifies as incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code. If a participant exercises the option and then later sells or otherwise disposes of the shares acquired through the exercise of the option after both the two-year anniversary of the date the option was granted and the one-year anniversary of the exercise, the participant will recognize a capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the sale price of the shares and the exercise price, and we will not be entitled to any deduction for federal income tax purposes.

However, if the participant disposes of such shares either on or before the two-year anniversary of the date of grant or on or before the one-year anniversary of the date of exercise (a "disqualifying disposition"), any gain up to the excess of the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise over the exercise price generally will be taxed as ordinary income, unless the shares are disposed of in a transaction in which the participant would not recognize a gain (such as a gift). Any gain in excess of that amount will be a capital gain. If a loss is recognized, there will be no ordinary income, and such loss will be a capital loss. Any ordinary income recognized by the participant upon the disqualifying disposition of the shares generally should be deductible by us for federal income tax purposes, except to the extent such deduction is limited by applicable provisions of the Code.

For purposes of the alternative minimum tax, the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the shares on the exercise date is treated as an adjustment item in computing the participant's alternative minimum taxable income in the year of exercise. In addition, special alternative minimum tax rules may apply to certain subsequent disqualifying dispositions of the shares or provide certain basis adjustments or tax credits for purposes of the alternative minimum tax rules.

Nonstatutory Stock Options

A participant generally recognizes no taxable income as a result of the grant of such an option. However, upon exercising the option, the participant normally recognizes ordinary income equal to the amount that the fair market value of the shares on such date exceeds the exercise price. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. Upon the sale of the shares acquired by the exercise of a nonstatutory stock option, any gain or loss (based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the exercise date) will be taxed as capital gain or loss. No tax deduction is available to us with respect to the grant of a nonstatutory stock option or the sale of the shares acquired through the exercise of the nonstatutory stock option.

Stock Appreciation Rights

In general, no taxable income is reportable when a stock appreciation right is granted to a participant. Upon exercise, the participant generally will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of any shares received. Any additional gain or loss recognized upon any later disposition of the shares will be taxed as capital gain or loss.

Restricted Stock Awards

A participant acquiring shares of restricted stock generally will recognize ordinary income equal to the fair market value of the shares on the vesting date. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. The participant may elect, pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code to accelerate the ordinary income tax event to the date of acquisition by filing an election with the Internal Revenue Service no later than 30 days after the date the shares are acquired. Upon the sale of shares acquired pursuant to a restricted stock award, any gain or loss, based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the date the ordinary income tax event occurs, will be taxed as capital gain or loss.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 22 2022 Proxy Statement

Restricted Stock Unit Awards

There are no immediate tax consequences of receiving an award of restricted stock units. A participant who is awarded restricted stock units generally will be required to recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of shares issued to such participant at the end of the applicable vesting period or, if later, the settlement date elected by the administrator or a participant. Any additional gain or loss recognized upon any later disposition of any shares received will be taxed as capital gain or loss.

Performance Shares and Performance Unit Awards

A participant generally will recognize no income upon the grant of a performance share or a performance unit award. Upon the settlement of such awards, participants normally will recognize ordinary income in the year of receipt in an amount equal to the cash received and the fair market value of any cash or unrestricted shares received. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. Upon the sale of any shares received, any gain or loss, based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the date the ordinary income tax event occurs, will be taxed as capital gain or loss.

Section 409A

Section 409A of the Code provides certain requirements for non-qualified deferred compensation arrangements with respect to an individual's deferral and distribution elections and permissible distribution events. Awards granted under the 2015 Plan with a deferral feature will be subject to the requirements of Section 409A. If an award is subject to and fails to satisfy the requirements of Section 409A, the recipient of that award may recognize ordinary income on the amounts deferred under the award, to the extent vested, which may be prior to when the compensation is actually or constructively received. Also, if an award that is subject to Section 409A fails to comply with Section 409A's provisions, Section 409A imposes an additional 20% federal income tax on compensation recognized as ordinary income, as well as interest on such deferred compensation.

Tax Effect for the Company

We generally will be entitled to a tax deduction in connection with an award under the 2015 Plan in an amount equal to the ordinary income realized by a participant and at the time the participant recognizes such income (for example, the exercise of a nonstatutory stock option) except to the extent such deduction is limited by applicable provisions of the Code. Special rules limit the deductibility of compensation paid to the company's chief executive officer and other "covered employees" as determined under Section 162(m) and applicable guidance. Under Section 162(m), the annual compensation paid to any of these specified executives will be deductible only to the extent that it does not exceed \$1,000,000.

THE FOREGOING IS ONLY A SUMMARY OF THE EFFECT OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAXATION UPON PARTICIPANTS AND IMMUNITYBIO WITH RESPECT TO AWARDS UNDER THE 2015 PLAN. IT DOES NOT PURPORT TO BE COMPLETE AND DOES NOT DISCUSS THE IMPACT OF EMPLOYMENT OR OTHER TAX REQUIREMENTS, THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF A PARTICIPANT'S DEATH, OR THE PROVISIONS OF THE INCOME TAX LAWS OF ANY MUNICIPALITY, STATE, OR FOREIGN COUNTRY IN WHICH THE PARTICIPANT MAY RESIDE.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 23 2022 Proxy Statement

Number of Awards Granted to Employees, Directors and Consultants

The number of awards that an employee, director, or consultant may receive under the 2015 Plan is at the discretion of the administrator and therefore cannot be determined in advance. The following table sets forth: (i) the aggregate number of shares of common stock subject to options granted under the 2015 Plan during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 to each of our named executive officers; all executive officers, as a group; all directors who are not executive officers, as a group; (ii) the average per share exercise price of such options; (iii) the aggregate number of shares subject to restricted stock units granted under the 2015 Plan during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 to each of our named executive officers; all executive officers, as a group; all directors who are not executive officers, as a group; and all employees who are not executive officers, as a group; and (iv) the grant date value of option and restricted stock unit awards granted under the 2015 Plan during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Name of Individual or Group	Shares Subject to Options Granted (#)	Average Per Share Exercise Price of Options Granted (\$)	Shares Subject to Stock Awards Granted (#)	Grant Date Fair Value of Option and Stock Awards (\$) (1)
Richard Adcock	750,000	23.72	572,420	27,842,123
David Sachs	_	_	169,231	4,303,544
Patrick Soon-Shiong	26,064	14.91	_	300,571
All executive officers, as a group	776,064	23.42	804,742	32,805,857
All directors who are not executive officers, as a group	243,876	15.75	_	3,003,171
All employees who are not executive officers, as a group	50,000	17.24	7,861,200	183,127,278

⁽¹⁾ Amounts shown represent the grant date fair value of option and RSU awards determined in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 718 (ASC Topic 718), Stock Compensation.

As of April 18, 2022, the closing price of the company's common stock was \$4.76 per share.

Required Vote

Approval of an amendment of ImmunityBio, Inc.'s 2015 Equity Incentive Plan requires the affirmative "FOR" vote of a majority of the shares present live via the Internet or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal. You may vote "FOR," "AGAINST," or "ABSTAIN" on this proposal. Abstentions have the same effect as a vote against the proposal. Broker non-votes will not affect the outcome of voting on this proposal.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" THE APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE IMMUNITYBIO, INC. 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF SHARES OF THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE BY 19,900,000 SHARES.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 24 2022 Proxy Statement

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Our Current Named Executive Officers

The names of our executive officers, their ages, and their positions with the company as of April 29, 2022 are set forth below. There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

Name	Age	Position
Richard Adcock	53	Chief Executive Officer and President
David Sachs	44	Chief Financial Officer
Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D., FRCS (C), FACS	69	Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer

Richard Adcock. Please see "Election of Directors—Director Biographies."

David Sachs has served as our Chief Financial Officer since March 2021. He previously served as the chief financial officer of ImmunityBio, Inc. (a private company and an affiliate of Dr. Soon-Shiong) from July 2019 to March 2021. He also served as chief financial officer of Integrity Healthcare, LLC (a NantWorks subsidiary and an affiliate of Dr. Soon-Shiong) from February 2018 to August 2020. From April 2011 to June 2019, he held various executive positions at NantWorks and its subsidiaries, including serving as chief financial officer of NantHealth, Inc. from 2013 to 2015. Prior to NantWorks, he served in business development roles at Celgene Corporation and Abraxis BioScience and as an investment banker with Bank of America Merrill Lynch. Mr. Sachs received his B.A. in Economics from the University of California at Los Angeles and his M.B.A. in Finance and Strategy from the UCLA Anderson School of Management.

Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D., FRSC (C), FACS. Please see "Election of Directors—Director Biographies." Dr. Soon-Shiong was appointed Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and became an executive officer of the company in August 2021.

Certain Proceedings

On August 31, 2018, Verity Health and certain affiliates filed a voluntary petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, for which a patient care ombudsman was appointed. Mr. Adcock served as chief executive officer of Verity Health from January 2018 to September 2020.

Processes and Procedures for Executive Compensation

The Compensation Committee assists the Board in discharging the Boards' responsibilities relating to oversight of the compensation of the company's chief executive officer and other executive officers, including reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to the Board with respect to, the compensation, plans, policies and programs for the chief executive officer and other executive officers and administering the equity compensation plans for the company's executive officers and employees.

The Compensation Committee annually reviews the compensation, plans, policies and programs for the chief executive officer and our other executive officers. In connection therewith, the Compensation Committee considers, among other things, each executive officer's performance in light of established individual and corporate goals and objectives and the recommendations of the chief executive officer. In particular, the Compensation Committee considers the recommendations of the company's chief executive officer when reviewing base salary and incentive performance compensation levels of executive officers and when setting specific individual and corporate performance targets under our annual incentive bonus plan for executive officers. The company's Chief Executive Officer has no input and is not present during voting or deliberations about his or her compensation. The Compensation Committee may delegate its authority to a subcommittee, but it may not delegate any power or authority required by agreement, law, regulation or listing standard to be exercised by the Compensation Committee as a whole.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 25 2022 Proxy Statement

Consistent with the prior year, the Compensation Committee engaged Mercer as an independent outside compensation consultant to perform compensation advisory services during 2021 and to provide information, recommendations and other advice relating to director and executive compensation. Mercer served and continues to serve at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee has reviewed the independence of Mercer's advisory role relative to the consultant independence factors adopted by the SEC to guide listed companies in determining the independence of their compensation consultants, legal counsel and other advisors. Following its review, the Compensation Committee determined that no conflict of interest arose from the work performed by Mercer during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Employment Arrangements with Our Current Named Executive Officers

Richard Adcock

On October 20, 2020, we entered into an Offer of Employment letter with Mr. Adcock pursuant to which he agreed to serve as the company's Chief Executive Officer in consideration for an annual base salary of \$750,000. Mr. Adcock will be eligible to participate in the company's annual discretionary bonus plan. His discretionary target bonus is 50% of his annual base salary (*i.e.*, \$375,000) prorated to reflect the partial year of his employment with the company during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, and he was guaranteed a bonus for calendar year 2021 of at least 50% of his discretionary target bonus (*i.e.*, \$187,500). In order to receive any bonus payment, Mr. Adcock must remain continuously employed through, and still be employed by the company on, the date any such bonus is paid. As of April 29, 2022, Mr. Adcock's current annual base salary is \$796,000.

Mr. Adcock is eligible to participate in any regular health insurance, retirement, and other benefit plans established by the company for its employees from time to time. The company will also reimburse Mr. Adcock for costs associated with his two current life insurance policies.

Pursuant to his Offer of Employment letter, in February 2021 the Compensation Committee granted Mr. Adcock the following equity awards (which were modified from the recommended equity grant described in the Offer of Employment letter dated October 20, 2020):

- a stock option to purchase 750,000 shares pursuant to the 2015 Plan at an exercise price of \$23.72 per share, the closing price as reported on the Nasdaq on February 5, 2021, the date of grant. The option award vests according to the following schedule: one-third of the award (i.e., 250,000 options) shall vest in equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date, subject to Mr. Adcock remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 Plan) through the applicable vesting dates; and
- an equity award totaling 400,000 RSUs pursuant to the 2015 Plan. The RSU award is comprised of two separate awards, one settled by issuing 150,000 shares of the company's common stock and the other to be settled by issuing 250,000 shares of the company's common stock upon vesting. The first RSU award fully vested on February 5, 2021, and the second RSU award will vest according to the following schedule: one-third (i.e., 83,333) of the shares subject to the RSU award shall vest in equal annual installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of grant date, such that all shares shall be fully vested on the third anniversary of the grant date, subject to Mr. Adcock remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 Plan) through the applicable vesting dates.

On March 9, 2021, the company assumed 172,420 RSUs granted to Mr. Adcock under the 2015 NC Plan prior to the Merger. The RSU award vests as follows: five percent vested on September 9, 2021 (the six-month anniversary of the closing date of the Merger); five percent of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on the earlier of (A) December 31, 2022 and (B) the 60th day following approval by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of a biologics license application (BLA) or equivalent application for approval of Anktiva™ for use in the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2023; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2024; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2025; and the remaining RSUs will vest on December 31, 2026, subject to Mr. Adcock remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 NC Plan) through the applicable vesting dates.

If Mr. Adcock's employment is terminated without "cause" (as such term is defined in his Offer of Employment letter), he will receive a single cash payment equal to 12 months of his then-current annual base salary, less all applicable federal, state, and local withholdings and deductions. Such payment will be made within 2.5 months following the date on which termination occurs, subject to his timely execution and non-revocation of a release of claims in a form reasonably satisfactory to the company.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 26 2022 Proxy Statement

David Sachs

On August 3, 2020, NantCell, Inc. (formerly known as ImmunityBio, Inc., a private company) entered into an Offer of Employment letter with Mr. Sachs, who previously provided services through a shared services agreement with NantWorks, as its chief financial officer. In connection with the Merger, Mr. Sachs became the company's Chief Financial Officer effective March 9, 2021. Pursuant to the terms of his Offer of Employment Letter, Mr. Sachs received an annual base salary of \$387,000. Mr. Sachs is eligible to receive a discretionary target bonus of 50% of his then-current annual base salary, upon the achievement of certain performance targets to be determined by the Board in its sole discretion. In order to receive any bonus payment, Mr. Sachs must remain continuously employed through, and still be employed by the company on, the date any such bonus is paid. As of April 29, 2022, Mr. Sachs current annual base salary is \$532,000.

Mr. Sachs is eligible to participate in any regular health insurance, retirement, and other benefit plans established by the company for its employees from time to time.

On March 9, 2021, the company assumed 169,231 RSUs granted to Mr. Sachs under the 2015 NC Plan prior to the Merger. The RSU award is comprised of two separate awards, one to be settled by issuing 17,242 shares of the company's common stock and the other to be settled by issuing 151,989 shares of the company's common stock upon vesting. The first RSU award fully vested on December 9, 2021 (the nine-month anniversary of the closing date of the Merger), and the second RSU award vests according to the following schedule: 5% of the remaining 151,989 RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) vested on September 9, 2021 (the six-month anniversary of the closing date of the Merger); 5% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on the earlier of (A) December 31, 2022 and (B) the 60th day following approval by the FDA of a BLA or equivalent application for approval of Anktiva for use in the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2023; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2024; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2026, subject to Mr. Sachs remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 NC Plan) through the applicable vesting dates.

Mr. Sachs is also eligible for a severance payment if the company terminates his employment without "cause" or if he resigns for "good reason" (each as defined in his Offer of Employment Letter) (the Severance Payment). The Severance Payment will be equal to: (i) 83.33% of his then-current base salary (i.e., 10 months of severance) plus (ii) a prorated bonus paid out at 100% of his target annual bonus (i.e., the target 50% bonus) for the calendar year in which the termination occurs, less all applicable federal, state, and local withholdings and deductions. Such payment will be made within 60 days following the date on which termination occurs, subject to his timely execution and non-revocation of a release of claims in a form reasonably satisfactory to the company.

Patrick Soon-Shiong

On August 11, 2021, the Board appointed Dr. Soon-Shiong as Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer. In connection with his appointment, the Compensation Committee approved a base salary of \$600,000 per year. Dr. Soon-Shiong is eligible to receive an annual discretionary target bonus of up to 50% of his then-current annual base salary, upon the achievement of certain performance targets as determined by the Compensation Committee or the Board in its sole discretion. As an employee of the company, he does not continue to receive compensation for his service as a director under the company's Director Compensation Program. As of April 29, 2022, Dr. Soon-Shiong's current annual base salary is \$621,000.

Dr. Soon-Shiong is eligible to participate in any regular health insurance, retirement, and other benefit plans established by the company for its employees from time to time.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 27 2022 Proxy Statement

Merger or Change in Control

2014 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2014 Executive Incentive Plan (2014 Plan) provides that in the event of a merger or change in control, as defined in the 2014 Plan, each then outstanding option and stock appreciation right will automatically become fully vested, all restricted shares then outstanding will automatically fully vest free of restrictions, and each other award granted under the 2014 Plan that is then outstanding will automatically become vested and payable to the holder of such award unless the administrator has made appropriate provision for the substitution, assumption, exchange or other continuation of the award pursuant to the change in control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the administrator, in its sole and absolute discretion, may choose (in an award agreement or otherwise) to provide for full or partial accelerated vesting of any award upon a change in control (or upon any other event or other circumstance related to the change in control, such as an involuntary termination of employment occurring after such change in control, as the administrator may determine), irrespective of whether any such award has been substituted, assumed, exchanged or otherwise continued pursuant to the change in control.

Any award that has been accelerated in connection with a change in control pursuant to the preceding paragraph will terminate upon such event, subject to any provision made by the administrator for the survival, substitution, assumption, exchange, or other continuation of such award. Holders of options and stock appreciation rights will be given reasonable advance notice of the impending termination and a reasonable opportunity to exercise their outstanding awards. The administrator may make provision for payment in cash or property or both in respect of awards terminated in connection with a change in control.

2015 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2015 Plan provides that in the event of a merger or change in control, as defined under the 2015 Plan, each then outstanding award will be treated as the administrator determines, except that if a successor corporation or its parent or subsidiary does not assume or substitute an equivalent award for any outstanding award, then such award will fully vest, all restrictions on the shares subject to such award will lapse, all performance goals or other vesting criteria applicable to the shares subject to such award will be deemed achieved at 100% of target levels and all of the shares subject to such award will become fully exercisable, if applicable, for a specified period prior to the transaction. The award will then terminate upon the expiration of the specified period of time.

2015 NantCell Stock Incentive Plan

The 2015 NC Plan provides that in the event of a corporate transaction, as defined in the 2015 NC Plan, each outstanding award will terminate effective upon the consummation of such corporate transaction, except to the extent assumed or replaced in connection with such corporate transaction. The administrator may provide that awards granted under the 2015 NC Plan become vested and exercisable in connection with such a corporate transaction and release such awards from restrictions on transfer and repurchase or forfeiture rights.

Other Compensation Policies

Tax and Accounting Considerations

Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), generally limits the amount a public company may deduct for federal income taxes purposes for compensation paid to its chief executive officer, chief financial officer, and certain other executive officers up to \$1 million per executive office per year, subject to certain exceptions. Prior to our becoming a public company, the Board had not previously taken the deductibility limit imposed by Section 162(m) into consideration in setting compensation for the covered executive officers. As a publicly-traded company, the Compensation Committee is mindful of the benefits of full deductibility of compensation, and intends to operate our executive compensation program to be most efficient and effective for our stockholders, which may include compliance with Section 162(m) of the Code.

The Compensation Committee believes it is important to maintain cash and equity incentive compensation at the requisite level to attract and retain the individuals essential to our financial success, even if all or part of that compensation may not be deductible by reason of the Section 162(m) limitation.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 28 2022 Proxy Statement

Taxation of Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Section 409A of the Code requires that amounts that qualify as "nonqualified deferred compensation" satisfy requirements with respect to the timing of deferral elections, timing of payments, and certain other matters. Generally, the Compensation Committee intends to administer our executive compensation program and design individual compensation components, as well as the compensation plans and arrangements for our employees generally, so that they are either exempt from, or satisfy the requirements of, Section 409A. From time to time, we may be required to amend some of our compensation plans and arrangements to ensure that they are either exempt from, or compliant with, Section 409A.

Taxation of "Parachute" Payments

Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code provide that executive officers and directors who hold significant equity interests and certain other service providers may be subject to additional excise taxes if they receive payments or benefits in connection with a change in control of the company that exceeds certain prescribed limits, and that we (or a successor) may forfeit a deduction on the amounts subject to this additional tax.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Compensation Committee takes accounting considerations into account when designing compensation plans and arrangements for our executive officers and other employees. Chief among these is ASC Topic 718, the standard which governs the accounting treatment of stock-based compensation awards.

ASC Topic 718 requires us to recognize in our financial statements all share-based payment awards to employees, including grants of options to purchase shares of our common stock and restricted stock unit awards covering shares of our common stock to our executive officers, based on their fair values. With respect to stock options, the application of ASC Topic 718 involves significant amounts of judgment in the determination of inputs into the Black-Scholes valuation model that we use to determine the fair value of stock options. These inputs are based upon assumptions as to the volatility of the underlying stock, risk free interest rates, and the expected life (term) of the options. As required under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), we review our valuation assumptions at each grant date, and, as a result, our valuation assumptions used to value stock options granted in future periods may vary from the valuation assumptions we have used previously.

ASC Topic 718 also requires us to recognize the compensation cost of our share-based payment awards in our statement of operations over the period that an employee, including our executive officers, is required to render service in exchange for the award (which, generally, will correspond to the award's vesting schedule). The grant date fair value is reported in the compensation tables below, even though recipients may never realize any value from their equity awards.

Executive Compensation Clawback Policy

The Board has adopted a clawback policy. All bonus, and equity and non-equity incentive plan compensation (Bonus Compensation) awarded by the company is subject to this clawback policy. The policy provides that if the company restates its financial statements filed pursuant to the Exchange Act as a result of a material error in such financial statements or due to material non-compliance with any reporting requirements (any of the foregoing, a Misreporting Event), and no more than three fiscal years have elapsed from the original filing date of the financial statements upon which such Bonus Compensation was calculated or determined, then a committee of the Board consisting of only independent directors determines, in their business judgment, that (i) fraud or an illegal act by a participant caused the Misreporting Event that led to the restatement of the financial statements at issue and (ii) it would be in the best interests of the company to seek from such participant recovery of the Bonus Compensation they earned over the prior three years over what they would have earned if there had not been a material non-compliance in the financial statements.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 29 2022 Proxy Statement

Executive Compensation Tables

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides information regarding the compensation of our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and our next two most highly compensated executive officer during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, together referred to as our "named executive officers," for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. Our named executive officers are our only executive officers.

Name and Principal Position (a)	Year (b)	Salary (\$) (2) (c)	Bonus (\$) (3) (d)	Stock Awards (\$) (4) (e)	Option Awards (\$) (5) (f)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation (\$) (6) (g)	All Other Compensation (\$) (7) (i)	Total (\$) (j)
Richard Adcock	2021	765,144	57,656	13,872,641	13,969,483	269,063	82,740	29,016,727
Chief Executive Officer and President	2020	141,347	67,808	_	_	_	1,731	210,886
David Sachs	2021	423,451	35,625	4,303,544	_	166,250	7,807	4,936,677
Chief Financial Officer	2020	442,999	193,500	_	_	_	7,097	643,596
Patrick Soon-Shiong	2021	237,692	45,000	_	300,571	210,000	46,604	839,867
Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer (1)	2020	523,477	100,170	-	_	-	20,367	644,014

- (1) Dr. Soon-Shiong became an executive officer of the company as of August 11, 2021 upon his appointment as Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer. He previously served as the company's Chief Executive Officer until he resigned from this position as of October 26, 2020, and Mr. Adcock assumed the position of Chief Executive Officer.
- (2) Amounts shown in Column (c) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 reflect the base salary earned during the year, including salary increases effective during the year, if any. For Dr. Soon-Shiong, the amount reflects the base salary earned from August 11, 2021, when he was appointed by the Board as the company's Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer. Dr. Soon-Shiong continues to serve as the Executive Chairman of the Board. Effective as of August 11, 2021, he no longer receives compensation or equity awards in connection with his service on the Board as he is an employee of the company.
- (3) Amounts shown in Column (d) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 reflect discretionary cash bonuses awarded by the Compensation Committee (15% of target) for accomplishments in 2021 that were paid in 2022.
 - Amounts shown in Column (d) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 reflect discretionary cash bonuses awarded by the Compensation Committee (100% of target) in connection with the closing of the Merger that were paid in 2021.
- (4) Amounts shown for Column (e) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 reflect the grant date fair value of RSU awards as determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718. See "Grants of Plan-Based Awards" table for information on how these amounts were determined.
- (5) Amounts shown for Column (f) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 reflect the grant date fair value of stock option awards as determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718. See "Grants of Plan-Based Awards" table for information on how these amounts were determined.
- (6) Amounts shown in Column (g) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 reflect performance-based cash bonuses earned (70% of target) that were paid in 2022. See "2021 Executive Bonus Plan" for information on how these amounts were determined.
- (7) See "All Other Compensation—Other Compensation and Perquisites" below for a description of amounts received by our named executive officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 30 2022 Proxy Statement

All Other Compensation-Other Compensation and Perquisites

The following table provides the detail of all other compensation provided to our named executive officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021:

Name	Company Contributions to Retirement Plans (1) (\$)	Director Fees Earned (2) (\$)	Reimbursement of Personal Life Insurance Premiums (3) (\$)	Total (\$)
Richard Adcock	8,700		74,040	82,740
David Sachs	7,807	_	_	7,807
Patrick Soon-Shiong	_	46,604	_	46,604

⁽¹⁾ Amounts shown represent employer contributions made to the company's 401(k) plan for our named executive officers.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sets forth summary information regarding grants of plan-based awards made to our named executive officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021:

		Estimate Non-Equi	ts Under n Awards					
Name (a)	Grant Date (b)	Threshold (\$) (c)	Target (\$) (d)	Maximum (\$) (e)	All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of Stock or Units (#) (i)	All Other Option Awards: Number of Securities Underlying Options (#) (j)	Exercise or Base Price of Option Awards (\$/Share) (k)	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards (\$) (I)
Richard Adcock	8/9/2021 (1	L) —	384,375					
	2/5/2021 (2	2)			400,000	_	_	9,488,000
	2/5/2021 (3	3)				750,000	23.72	13,969,483
	3/4/2021 (4	1)			172,420	_	_	4,384,641
David Sachs	8/9/2021 (1	L) —	237,500	_				
	3/4/2021 (5	5)			169,231	_	_	4,303,544
Patrick Soon-Shiong	8/9/2021 (1	L) —	300,000	_				
	6/10/2021 (6	5)				26,064	14.91	300,571

⁽¹⁾ Amounts shown in Column (d) represent performance-based cash awards granted under the company's performance bonus plan shown at 100% of target calculated as follows: for Mr. Adcock, 50% of his annual salary (\$768,750); for Mr. Sachs, 50% of his annual salary (\$475,000); and Dr. Soon-Shiong, 50% of his annual salary (\$600,000). The company's non-equity incentive plan does not have a threshold or maximum payout. See "2021 Executive Bonus Plan" for additional information.

Amount shown in Column (I) represents the grant date fair value of the RSU awards determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718 based on the number of RSUs granted multiplied by \$23.72, the closing price of the company's common stock as reported on the Nasdaq on February 5, 2021, the date of grant.

⁽²⁾ Amount shown represents director fees earned by Dr. Soon-Shiong for the period from January 1, 2021 through August 10, 2021 during which he was not an employee of the company.

⁽³⁾ Amount shown represents reimbursement of premiums associated with Mr. Adcock's personal life insurance policies pursuant to the terms of his Offer of Employment letter dated October 20, 2020 and related tax gross up.

⁽²⁾ Amount shown in Column (i) represents awards totaling 400,000 RSUs granted to Mr. Adcock by the Compensation Committee of the Board pursuant to the 2015 Plan. The RSU award is comprised of two separate awards, one settled by issuing 150,000 shares of the company's common stock and the other to be settled by issuing 250,000 shares of the company's common stock upon vesting. The first RSU award fully vested on February 5, 2021 with the company retaining shares equal in value to the company's tax withholding obligations, and the second RSU award will vest according to the following schedule: one-third (i.e., 83,333) of the shares subject to the RSU award shall vest in equal annual installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of grant date, such that all shares shall be fully vested on the third anniversary of the grant date, subject to Mr. Adcock remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 Plan) through the applicable vesting dates

This grant of this equity award was made to Mr. Adcock in connection with his appointment as Chief Executive Officer, which was effective as of October 26, 2020, and was modified from the recommended equity grant described in his Offer of Employment letter dated October 20, 2020.

(3) Amount shown in Column (j) represents an option to purchase 750,000 shares of the company's common stock granted to Mr. Adcock by the Compensation Committee of the Board pursuant to the 2015 Plan at an exercise price of \$23.72 per share, the closing price as reported on the Nasdaq on February 5, 2021, the date of grant. The option award vests according to the following schedule: one-third of the award (i.e., 250,000 options) shall vest in equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date, subject to Mr. Adcock remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 Plan) through the applicable vesting dates

Amount shown in Column (I) represents the grant date fair value of stock options granted determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following key assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 0.8%; expected life of 6.0 years; expected volatility of the price of our common stock of 100.5%; expected dividend yield of 0.0%; and an exercise price of \$23.72 per share, the closing price as reported on the Nasdaq on February 5, 2021, the date of grant.

This grant of this equity award was made to Mr. Adcock in connection with his appointment as Chief Executive Officer, which was effective as of October 26, 2020, and was modified from the recommended equity grant described in his Offer of Employment letter dated October 20, 2020.

(4) Amount shown in Column (i) represents an RSU award that was granted to Mr. Adcock on March 4, 2021 under the 2015 NC Plan prior to the Merger. On March 9, 2021, in connection with the closing of the Merger, the NantCell RSUs were assumed by the company and converted into 172,420 RSUs of the company on the same terms and conditions as immediately prior to the Merger. The RSU award vests as follows: 5% vested on September 9, 2021 (the six-month anniversary of the closing date of the Merger); 5% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on the earlier of (A) December 31, 2022 and (B) the 60th day following approval by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of a biologics license application (BLA) or equivalent application for approval of Anktiva™ for use in the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2023; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2025; and the remaining RSUs will vest on December 31, 2026, subject to Mr. Adcock remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 NC Plan) through the applicable vesting dates.

Amount shown in Column (I) represents the grant date fair value of the RSU award estimated based on a third-party valuation as of the March 4, 2021 grant date, which was derived primarily from the estimated probabilities the closing of the Merger on March 9, 2021 and other exit assumptions.

(5) Amount shown in Column (i) represents two separate RSU awards that were granted to Mr. Sachs on March 4, 2021 under the 2015 NC Plan prior to the Merger. On March 9, 2021, in connection with the closing of the Merger, the NantCell RSUs were assumed by the company and converted into 169,231 RSUs of the company on the same terms and conditions as immediately prior to the Merger. The RSU award is comprised of two separate awards, one to be settled by issuing 17,242 shares of the company's common stock and the other to be settled by issuing 151,989 shares of the company's common stock upon vesting. The first RSU award fully vested on December 9, 2021 (the nine-month anniversary of the closing date of the Merger), and the second RSU award vests according to the following schedule: 5% of the remaining 151,989 RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) vested on September 9, 2021 (the six-month anniversary of the closing date of the Merger); 5% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on the earlier of (A) December 31, 2022 and (B) the 60th day following approval by the FDA of a BLA or equivalent application for approval of Anktiva for use in the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2023; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2023; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2024; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2024; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2024; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2024; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2024; 20% of the RSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole share) will vest on December 31, 2026, subject to Mr. Sachs remaining in "continuous service" (as defined in the 2015 NC Plan)

Amount shown in Column (I) represents the grant date fair value of the RSU awards estimated based on a third-party valuation as of the March 4, 2021 grant date, which was derived primarily from the estimated probabilities the closing of the Merger on March 9, 2021 and other exit assumptions.

(6) Amount shown in Column (j) represents a stock option award made to Dr. Soon-Shiong upon his re-election to the Board on June 10, 2021, prior to his rejoining as an employee of the company as its Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer. The shares subject to the award will vest 100% on the earlier to occur of June 10, 2022 or the date immediately preceding the 2022 Annual Meeting, subject to Dr. Soon-Shiong continuing to be a "service provider" (as defined in the 2015 Plan) through the applicable vesting date. This grant was made in connection with the re-election of Dr. Soon-Shiong to the Board at the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders.

Amount shown in Column (I) represents the grant date fair value of stock options granted determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following key assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 0.8%; expected life of 5.5 years; expected volatility of the price of our common stock of 102.0%; expected dividend yield of 0.0%; and an exercise price of \$14.91 per share, the closing price as reported on the Nasdaq on June 10, 2021, the date of grant.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 32 2022 Proxy Statement

2021 Executive Bonus Plan

Each of our named executive officers participated in the company's performance bonus plan during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the 2021 Executive Bonus Plan). The 2021 Executive Bonus Plan is a sub-plan of the company's Executive Incentive Compensation Plan. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, each named executive officer's target bonus opportunity under the 2021 Executive Bonus Plan was equal to 50% of the named executive officer's current annual base salary as of December 31, 2021.

Bonuses awarded under the 2021 Executive Bonus Plan were determined by the Compensation Committee based upon the achievement of certain financial and operational performance measures as described in the table below, including the relative weighting:

Category	Metric	Weighting
Financial Measure:	Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December 31, 2020, <i>plus</i> cash raised from equity and/or debt during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, <i>minus</i> net cash used in operating activities during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, <i>is greater than or equal to \$1.00</i> .	50%
Operational Measures:		
	Submit a BLA to the FDA for Anktiva plus BCG for BCG-unresponsive NMIBC CIS by December 31, 2021.	20%
	Full enrollment of the number of planned participants in Cohort C (third-line or greater) of the company's Phase 2 pancreatic cancer clinical trial (QUILT 88) during calendar year 2021.	10%
	Approval from Lung Cancer Master Protocol (Lung-MAP) of a Phase 3 non-small cell lung cancer clinical trial with first patient on study during calendar year 2021.	10%
	Approval from the South African Health Products Regulatory Authority (SAHPRA) to proceed with the company's SISONKE T-Cell Universal Boost trial (COVID 4.010) and first patient enrolled during calendar year 2021.	10%

During the first quarter of 2022, the Compensation Committee evaluated the company's achievement of the 2021 performance measures. The Compensation Committee determined whether the company had achieved the specific goals in each category, management's self-assessment, and the overall corporate performance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. Ultimately, certain of the performance goals were achieved, and others were not. Specifically, the Compensation Committee determined that the Financial Measure was achieved, as the company successfully raised capital and other sources of cash during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 sufficient to fund its operations and growth, with net cash used in operating activities totaling \$274.4 million being more than offset by net proceeds from debt financings totaling \$338.5 million and net proceeds from equity offerings totaling \$164.5 million plus \$97.0 million of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities (including current and noncurrent portions) as of December 31, 2020. In addition, the Compensation Committee determined that the following Operational Measures were achieved: Cohort C trial (QUILT 88) and the Sisonke Boost Trial (COVID-4.010), as announced in press releases issued by the company prior to the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. The Compensation Committee determined that the remaining Operational Measures, including the BLA submission and Lung-MAP enrollment measures, were not achieved as of December 31, 2021. Based on these considerations, the Compensation Committee determined that the actual achievement of the pre-established performance measures pursuant to the 2021 Executive Bonus Plan was 70% of target.

Notwithstanding the actual achievement at 70% of target, in consideration of the extraordinary effort of senior management, including the named executive officers, in connection with post-closing integration following the Merger, the company's additional accomplishments over the course of the year to position the company for future progression and success, and the progress made toward ultimate achievement of the goals that had not been achieved as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the Compensation Committee used its discretion to award an incremental 15% of target bonus payouts to the named executive officers, such that the aggregate amount of the actual payout under the 2021 Executive Bonus Plan including the discretionary component would be equivalent to 85% of target.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 33 2022 Proxy Statement

In consideration of the above, the target and actual amounts of payments to named executive officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 under the 2021 Executive Bonus Plan were as follows:

Name	Target Bonus Amount (\$)	Bonus Amount Based on Achievement of Performance Objectives (70% of Target) (\$)	Discretionary Bonus Amount (15% of Target) (\$)	Actual Bonus Payout (85% of Target) (\$)
Richard Adcock	384,375	269,063	57,656	326,719
David Sachs	237,500	166,250	35,625	201,875
Patrick Soon-Shiong	300,000	210,000	45,000	255,000

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2021. All outstanding option awards relate to our common stock.

Plan Category	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights (a)	Weig aver Exercise Outsta Opti Warran Rig (b	age Price of nding ons, ts and hts	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column (a)) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1), (2), (3), (4)	10,640,819	\$	15.62	4,969,446
Equity compensation plan not approved by security holders Total	10,640,819			4,969,446

⁽¹⁾ The equity compensation plans approved by security holders are the 2014 Plan and the 2015 Plan. The 2014 Plan has terminated as to future grants. The amount shown in Column (a) with respect to the 2014 Plan includes 503,493 shares issuable upon the exercise of vested stock options. The amount shown in Column (a) with respect to the 2015 Plan includes 3,075,390 shares issuable upon the exercise of vested stock options and 1,591,401 shares issuable upon the vesting of RSU awards

- (3) The amount shown in Column (b) is the weighted average exercise price for stock options outstanding.
- (4) The amount shown in Column (c) is the number of shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 34 2022 Proxy Statement

⁽²⁾ The 2015 NC Plan was approved by security holders in conjunction with the Merger. The 2015 NC Plan has terminated as to future grants. The amount shown in Column (a) with respect to this plan includes 546,047 shares issuable upon the exercise of vested stock options and 4,924,488 shares issuable upon the vesting of RSU awards.

Director Compensation

The compensation policy for the company's non-employee directors is intended to be competitive and fair so that we can attract the best talent to the Board. In addition to cash compensation, we provide equity awards and have stock ownership guidelines to align the directors' interests with those of our stockholders and to focus on the long-term growth of the company. We reimburse our directors for expenses associated with attending Board and committee meetings. Directors who are our employees of the company receive no compensation for serving on the Board, attending Board meetings or, in the case of Dr. Soon-Shiong, participating on Board committees. All cash payments to non-employee directors are paid quarterly in arrears on a prorated basis.

2021 Director Compensation Policy

Position Executive Chairman of the Board Non-Employee Director Annual Base Retainer:	Annual Cash Retainer (\$) 35,000 50,000	Equity Awards (Grant Date Fair Value) (\$)
Initial stock option grant upon appointment to the Board		300,000
Annual stock option grant upon re-election to the Board		300,000
Committee Chair Retainers:		
Audit Committee	10,000	
Compensation Committee	7,500	
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	7,500	
Related Party Transaction Committee	7,500	
Special Committee	15,000	
Committee Member Retainers:		
Audit Committee	10,000	
Compensation Committee	7,500	
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	7,500	
Related Party Transaction Committee	7,500	
Special Committee	15,000	

Equity Awards

With respect to the automatic initial grant to new non-employee directors, each grantee shall receive an initial stock option award to purchase shares of our common stock at a per-share exercise price equal to the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the first trading date on which the trading window under our Insider Trading Policy opens after becoming a non-employee director, and such option shall have a Black-Scholes value of \$300,000 as computed by ASC Topic 718 on the grant date. The initial award shall vest in three equal installments on each anniversary of the date the applicable non-employee director's service commenced, in each case subject to the non-employee director continuing to be a service provider through the applicable vesting date.

With respect to the automatic annual grants to all continuing non-employee directors, such grant will be made on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders, and such option shall have a Black-Scholes value of \$300,000 as computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718 on the grant date. The annual award will vest on the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the date the annual award is granted, or the day prior to the date of the annual meeting next following the date the annual award is granted, in each case, subject to the non-employee director continuing to be a service provider through the applicable vesting date.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 35 2022 Proxy Statement

The 2015 Plan provides that in the event of a merger or change in control, as defined in the 2015 Plan, each outstanding equity award granted under the 2015 Plan held by a non-employee director will fully vest, all restrictions on the shares subject to such award will lapse, and all of the shares subject to such award will become fully exercisable, if applicable.

Director Compensation Policy Changes for 2022

In April 2022, after reviewing data provided by Mercer, an independent compensation consultant, regarding practices at comparable companies and other factors, the Compensation Committee recommended, and the Board approved, the following modifications to our non-employee director compensation policy for 2022:

- an increase in the annual cash retainer for members of the Compensation Committee from \$7,500 to \$10,000, effective as of the date of approval;
- an increase in the annual cash retainer for the Chair of the Compensation Committee from \$7,500 to \$10,000, effective as of the date of approval; and
- an increase in the dollar value of the automatic annual equity grant to all continuing non-employee directors from \$300,000 to \$400,000 on the
 date of grant.

All other components of the director compensation policy for 2022 remained unchanged over the prior year.

Other Compensation Details

Our director compensation policy provides that in any given fiscal year, a non-employee director may not receive cash compensation and equity awards with an aggregate value greater than \$750,000 (determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP). Any cash compensation paid or awards granted to an individual for his or her services as an employee or a consultant (other than as a non-employee director) will not count for purposes of this limitation.

Non-Employee Director Stock Ownership Policy

Each non-employee director is expected have equity holdings of the company with a value equivalent of at least three times his or her annual base retainer (not including retainers for serving as Chairperson of the Board or as a member or Chair of any Board committee) and to maintain this minimum amount of stock ownership throughout his or her tenure on the Board. Non-employee Board members who were members of the Board on or before December 1, 2020 are expected to achieve the applicable level of stock ownership on or before the fifth anniversary date of December 1, 2020. Non-employee directors who joined the Board after December 1, 2020 are expected to achieve the applicable level of stock ownership on or before five-year anniversary of joining the Board. Minimum equity holdings can be satisfied by the following: shares directly-owned by the non-employee director; shares indirectly-held by the non-employee director or his or her immediate family members; shares subject to RSUs or other awards that have vested for which the non-employee has elected to defer the settlement to a date beyond the vesting date; and shares underlying RSUs and other awards that are vested or unvested for which the only requirement to earn the award is continued service to the company or its subsidiaries.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 36 2022 Proxy Statement

Director Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned by our non-employee directors during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. Dr. Soon-Shiong, Mr. Adcock and Dr. Simon are not included in the table below as they are employees of the company and thus receive no compensation for their service as a director. Compensation earned by Dr. Soon-Shiong for his service as Executive Chairman of the Board prior to August 11, 2021 when he rejoined as an employee of the company as our Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer is included in the Summary Compensation Table. See "Executive Compensation Tables—Summary Compensation Table".

Name (a)	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$) (b)	Option Awards (\$)(1) (d)	Total (\$) (h)
Michael D. Blaszyk (2)	108,534	300,571	409,105
John Owen Brennan (3)	57,694	600,507	658,201
Wesley Clark (3)	52,028	600,507	652,535
Cheryl L. Cohen (2)	85,302	300,571	385,873
Linda Maxwell (3)	62,472	600,507	662,979
Christobel Selecky (3)	53,917	600,507	654,424
Frederick W. Driscoll (4)	23,750	1,156,884	1,180,634
John C. Thomas, Jr. (5)	23,125	1,156,884	1,180,009

- (1) Amounts shown in Column (d) represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock option awards calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 without regard to estimated forfeitures. See Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation, of the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" that appear in Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of our Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 for a discussion of valuation assumptions made in determining the grant date fair value of stock option awards.
 - On March 29, 2021, the Board approved the acceleration of vesting of 83,333 shares of unvested stock options held by Messrs. Driscoll and Thomas. The modified options were exercisable for 90 days after the date of the modification. Amounts shown in Column (d) for Messrs. Driscoll and Thomas represent the excess of the fair value of the modified awards over the fair value of the original awards immediately before the modifications on March 29, 2021.
- (2) Amounts shown in Column (d) for Mr. Blaszyk and Ms. Cohen represent the grant date fair value of 26,064 stock option awards made on June 10, 2021 to independent directors upon their re-election to the Board.
- (3) Amounts shown in Column (d) for Mr. Brennan, Gen. Clark, Dr. Maxwell and Ms. Selecky represent the grant date fair value of 21,873 stock option awards made on May 3, 2021 to newly-appointed independent directors and 26,064 stock option awards made on June 10, 2021 to independent directors upon their re-election to the Board.
- (4) Mr. Driscoll served on the Board from January 1, 2021 through March 29, 2021, the date of his resignation. Amount shown in Column (b) represents Board fees earned by Mr. Driscoll through March 29, 2021.
- (5) Mr. Thomas served on the Board from January 1, 2021 through March 29, 2021, the date of his resignation. Amount shown in Column (b) represents Board fees earned by Mr. Thomas through March 29, 2021.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 37 2022 Proxy Statement

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information, as of April 18, 2022, with respect to the holdings of (i) each person who is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock, (ii) each of our directors, (iii) each executive officer, and (iv) all of our current directors and executive officers as a group. Beneficial ownership representing less than 1% is denoted with an asterisk (*) in the table below.

Beneficial ownership of our common stock is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes any shares of common stock over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power, or of which a person has a right to acquire ownership at any time within 60 days of April 18, 2022.

Except as otherwise indicated, we believe that the persons named in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock held by them. Applicable percentage ownership in the following table is based on 397,953,809 shares of common stock outstanding as of April 18, 2022 plus, for each individual, any securities that individual has the right to acquire within 60 days of that date.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)	Number of Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned	Percentage of Common Stock Beneficially Owned
5% Stockholders:		
Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D., FRCS (C), FACS (2)	314,183,709	78.77%
Cambridge Equities, LP (3)	261,705,814	65.76%
Other Directors and Named Executive Officers:		
Richard Adcock (4)	392,024	*
David Sachs (5)	43,700	*
Michael D. Blaszyk (6)	319,731	*
John Owen Brennan (7)	33,355	*
Wesley Clark (7)	33,355	*
Cheryl L. Cohen (8)	326,681	*
Linda Maxwell, M.D., M.B.A., FRCSC (7)	33,355	*
Christobel Selecky (7)	33,355	*
Barry J. Simon, M.D. (9)	3,884,426	*
All directors and executive officers as a group (11 persons) (10)	319,283,691	79.73%

⁽¹⁾ The address of each of the individuals and entities named in the table above is c/o ImmunityBio, Inc., 3530 John Hopkins Court, San Diego, California 92121.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 38 2022 Proxy Statement

⁽²⁾ Consists of (i) 261,705,814 shares held by Cambridge (ii) 29,473,932 shares directly held by Dr. Soon-Shiong, (iii) 8,383,414 shares held by NantBio, Inc., (iv) 7,976,159 shares held by California Capital Equity, LLC, (v) 5,618,326 shares held by the Chan Soon-Shiong Family Foundation, (vi) 100,000 shares held by Nant Capital, LLC, (vii) 900,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that were exercisable as of April 18, 2022 and (viii) 26,064 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options vesting within 60 days of April 18, 2022.

⁽³⁾ Consists of 261,705,814 shares held by Cambridge. MP 13 Ventures, LLC is the general partner of Cambridge and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by Cambridge. Dr. Soon-Shiong, Executive Chairman of the Board and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer of the company, is the sole member of MP 13 Ventures, LLC and has voting and dispositive power over the shares held by Cambridge.

⁽⁴⁾ Consists of (i) 140,094 shares directly held by Mr. Adcock, (ii) 1,930 shares indirectly held by Mr. Adcock, and (iii) 250,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options vesting within 60 days of April 18, 2022. Mr. Adcock disclaims beneficial ownership of the indirectly held shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein

- (5) Consists of 43,700 shares directly held by Mr. Sachs.
- (6) Consists of (i) 193,667 shares directly held by Mr. Blaszyk, (ii) 100,000 shares issuable upon the vesting of stock options that were exercisable as of April 18, 2022, and (iii) 26,064 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options vesting within 60 days of April 18, 2022.
- (7) Consists of (i) 7,291 shares issuable to Mr. Brennan, Gen. Clark, Dr. Maxwell and Ms. Selecky upon the exercise of stock options that were exercisable as of April 18, 2022 and (ii) 26,064 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options vesting within 60 days of April 18, 2022.
- (8) Consists of (i) 100,309 shares directly held by Ms. Cohen, (ii) 100,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that were exercisable as of April 18, 2022, (iii) 26,064 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options vesting within 60 days of April 18, 2022, and (iv) 100,308 shares issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units within 60 days of April 18, 2022.
- (9) Consists of (i) 3,031,456 shares directly held by Dr. Simon, (ii) 844,636 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that were exercisable as of April 18, 2022, and (iii) 8,334 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options vesting within 60 days of April 18, 2022.
- (10) Consists of (i) 32,983,158 shares directly held, (ii) 283,785,643 shares indirectly held, (iii) 2,223,800 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that were exercisable as of April 18, 2022, (iv) 190,782 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options vesting within 60 days of April 18, 2022, and (v) 100,308 shares issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units within 60 days of April 18, 2022.

mmunityBio, Inc.	39	2022 Proxy Statement
------------------	----	----------------------

Proposal 3 – Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accountants

Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accountants

At the Annual Meeting, stockholders are being asked to ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. Stockholder ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP is not required by our amended and restated bylaws or other applicable legal requirements. However, the Audit Committee is submitting the selection of Ernst & Young LLP to our stockholders because we value our stockholders' views on our independent registered public accounting firm and as a matter of good corporate governance. If the selection is not ratified by our stockholders, the Audit Committee may reconsider whether it should appoint another independent registered public accounting firm. A representative of Ernst & Young LLP is expected to attend the Annual Meeting, where he or she will be available to respond to appropriate questions and, if he or she desires, to make a statement.

Required Vote

Ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2022 requires the affirmative "FOR" vote of a majority of the shares present live via the Internet or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal. You may vote "FOR," "AGAINST," or "ABSTAIN" on this proposal. Abstentions have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" THE RATIFICATION OF THE SELECTION OF ERNST & YOUNG AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 40 2022 Proxy Statement

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee is a committee of the Board comprised solely of independent directors as required by Nasdaq corporate governance rules and the rules and regulations of the SEC. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter approved by the Board, which is available on our corporate web site at https://www.immunitybio.com. The composition of the Audit Committee, the attributes of its members and the responsibilities of the Audit Committee, as reflected in its charter, are intended to be in accordance with applicable requirements for corporate audit committees. The Audit Committee reviews and assesses the adequacy of its charter and the Audit Committee's performance on an annual basis.

With respect to its financial reporting process, the company's management is responsible for (1) establishing and maintaining internal controls and (2) preparing its consolidated financial statements. The company's independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, is responsible for performing an independent audit of its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and to issue a report thereon. It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to oversee these activities. It is not the responsibility of the Audit Committee to prepare the company's financial statements. These are the fundamental responsibilities of management. In the performance of its oversight function, the Audit Committee has:

- reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 with the company's management;
- discussed with Ernst & Young LLP the matters required to be discussed by the applicable requirements of Auditing Standard No. 1301, Communications with Audit Committees, as adopted by the PCAOB; and
- received written disclosures and letters from Ernst & Young LLP, as required by applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent registered public accounting firm's communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, and has discussed with Ernst & Young LLP that firm's independence.

Based on the Audit Committee's review of the audited financial statements and various discussions with management and Ernst & Young LLP, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements be included in the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 for filing with the SEC. The Audit Committee has also appointed Ernst & Young LLP as the company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022.

The Audit Committee

Michael Blaszyk (Chair) Cheryl L. Cohen Linda Maxwell Christobel Selecky

ImmunityBio, Inc. 41 2022 Proxy Statement

Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The following table presents the aggregate fees for services provided to us by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

	Fiscal Year End	ed December 31,
	2021	2020
Audit fees (1)	\$ 2,863,950	\$ 1,402,100
Audit-related fees	_	_
Tax fees (2)		
Tax compliance fees	133,900	72,100
Other tax fees	82,113	39,750
All other fees	_	_
Total (3)	\$ 3,079,963	\$ 1,513,950

- (1) Audit fees consist of fees incurred for professional services provided by Ernst & Young LLP for audit and quarterly reviews of our financial statements and related services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, professional fees included an audit of internal control over financial reporting.
- (2) Tax fees consist of various permissible tax compliance and tax advisory services fees provided by Ernst & Young LLP.
- (3) Total fees for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 do not include fees associated with NantCell, Inc. prior to the completion of the Merger.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee's policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent registered accounting firm. These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services, and other services. The Audit Committee generally pre-approves particular services or categories of services on a case-by-case basis. The independent registered public accounting firm and the company's management are required to periodically report to the Audit Committee regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with these pre-approvals, and the fees for the services performed to date. All services provided to us by and audit fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 described above were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

Auditor Independence

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no other professional services provided by Ernst & Young LLP that would have required the Audit Committee to consider their compatibility with maintaining the independence of Ernst & Young LLP.

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, which contains the audited consolidated financial statements of the company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, accompanies this proxy statement, but is not part of the company's soliciting materials.

Stockholders may obtain, without charge, a copy of the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on March 1, 2022, including the consolidated financial statements and schedules thereto, without the accompanying exhibits, by: writing to Investor Relations at our principal executive offices, contacting Investor Relations by telephone at 1-844-696-5235 or by email at Investors@immunitybio.com. The company's Annual Report on Form 10-K is also available online on our website at https://www.immunitybio.com and the SEC website at https://www.immunitybio.com and

ImmunityBio, Inc. 42 2022 Proxy Statement

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary of transactions since January 1, 2020 to which we have been, or plan to be, a party in which the annual amount involved exceeded, or is expected to exceed, \$120,000 and in which any of our executive officers, directors, promoters or beneficial holders of more than 5% of our capital stock had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than compensation arrangements which are described under the section of this proxy statement titled "Executive Compensation." For information regarding Cambridge, including the basis of control and the percentage of voting securities owned, please see "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management."

Cambridge Investment

On December 23, 2014, we entered into a subscription and investment agreement (Cambridge Subscription Agreement), a registration rights agreement (Cambridge Registration Rights Agreement), and a reclassification agreement (Reclassification Agreement) with Cambridge relating to the private placement of our Class A common stock. In the private placement, we issued to Cambridge an aggregate of 25,191,473 shares of Class A common stock at a price of \$1.89 per share. We received aggregate gross proceeds of \$47.5 million from Cambridge's investment. Dr. Soon-Shiong, our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, controls the entity that is the general partner of Cambridge, which beneficially owns approximately 65.76% of our common stock as of April 18, 2022.

Cambridge Subscription Agreement. Cambridge agreed in the Cambridge Subscription Agreement that, until the earlier of the consummation of our IPO and December 23, 2015, neither it nor any of its affiliates shall acquire, including by way of the acquisition of control of another entity, beneficial ownership of any shares of our common stock which, when aggregated with all of the other shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Cambridge and its affiliates, would cause the total number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Cambridge and its affiliates to exceed 49.9% of our outstanding shares of common stock. The Cambridge Subscription Agreement was amended pursuant to a letter agreement dated January 20, 2015, to remove the limitation on Class A common stock beneficially owned by Cambridge in exchange for Cambridge agreeing to vote its shares in favor of certain matters approved by a majority of the Board.

Cambridge Registration Rights Agreement. Under the terms of the Cambridge Registration Rights Agreement, we provided Cambridge with a right to demand registration of the shares of common stock issued under the Cambridge Subscription Agreement. We also granted to Cambridge "piggyback" registration rights exercisable at any time that allow them to include the shares of our common stock that they own in any public offering of equity securities initiated by us for our own account or the account of others (other than those public offerings pursuant to registration statements on forms that do not permit registration for resale by them). These piggyback registration rights are not available with respect to any shares of our common stock held by Cambridge which are eligible for resale pursuant certain exemptions from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act) or that are the subject of a then-effective registration statement. Cambridge agreed to waive its registration rights with respect to our IPO in July 2015.

Cambridge Reclassification Agreement. Pursuant to the Reclassification Agreement, we agreed together with Cambridge, Bio IP Ventures, LLC, and Bonderman Family Limited Partnership subject to the effectiveness of certain transactions, to take all necessary actions and to vote such shares necessary to convert all of our issued and outstanding shares of Series B preferred stock into Class A common stock, all of our issued and outstanding Series C preferred stock into Class B common stock, and to reclassify all of our Series B preferred stock, Series C preferred stock and Class B common stock into our Class A common stock by filing an amendment to our certificate of incorporation.

Cambridge Nominating Agreement. On June 18, 2015, we entered into the Cambridge Nominating Agreement, pursuant to which Cambridge has the right to designate one individual to be nominated and recommended for election by the Board for as long as Cambridge and/or its affiliates directly own more than 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock, subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and similar transactions. Dr. Soon-Shiong, who controls the entity that is the general partner of Cambridge and has the sole power to vote or direct to vote and the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition, was selected by Cambridge to hold this Board seat. The Cambridge director nominee shall be nominated and recommended for election by the Board or other duly authorized committee, subject to any applicable limitations imposed by the DGCL, the Board's fiduciary duties to our stockholders and any other applicable law. Cambridge's right to have a designee nominated or appointed to serve on the Board shall automatically terminate whenever Cambridge owns less than 20% of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 43 2022 Proxy Statement

Related Party Promissory Notes

A significant portion of our funding has been in the form of promissory notes held by entities affiliated with Dr. Soon-Shiong. Our related party promissory notes consist of the following (in thousands):

				Total Notes a as of D			
Related Party Promissory Notes	Note Year	Outstanding Advances	Interest Rate	2021		2020	
Nant Capital (1)	2021	\$ 300,000	SOFR	\$ 299,236	(1)	\$ _	
			+ 5.4%				
Nant Capital (2)	2015	55,226	5.0%	61,367	(3)	58,482	(3)
Nant Capital (2)	2020	50,000	6.0%	53,810	(4)	50,764	(4)
Nant Capital (5)	2021	40,000	6.0%	40,000	(5)	_	
NantMobile (2)	2019	55,000	3.0%	58,359	(6)	56,660	(6)
NantWorks (2)	2017	43,418	5.0%	54,067	(7)	51,546	(7)
NCSC (2)	2018	33,000	5.0%	38,746	(8)	36,901	(8)
Total related party promissory notes		\$ 576,644		\$ 605,585	-	\$ 254,353	

- (1) The outstanding advance is due and payable on December 17, 2022. This loan bears interest at Term SOFR + 5.4%, which is compounded annually and payable quarterly commencing on March 17, 2022. As of December 31, 2021, the interest rate on this loan was 5.47%. Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled \$0.7 million as of December 31, 2021. In the event of a default on the loan (as defined in the promissory note), including if we do not repay the loan at maturity, the company has the right, at its sole option, to convert the outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest due under this note into fully paid and non-assessable shares of the company's common stock at a price per share equal to \$5.67. Debt issuance cost of \$1.5 million paid to the lender in December 31, 2021 was recorded as a reduction of the principal amount of the note.
- (2) All outstanding advances and accrued and unpaid interest is due and payable on September 30, 2025. Interest on related party promissory notes is compounded annually. We may prepay the outstanding principal at any time without premium, penalty or the prior consent of the issuer. All outstanding amounts under the notes become due and payable upon certain bankruptcy and insolvency-related events. There are no equity or equity-linked convertible rights related to these promissory notes.
- (3) Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled \$6.1 million and \$3.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
- (4) Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled \$3.8 million and \$0.8 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
- (5) The outstanding principal is due and payable on September 30, 2025. Interest on this related party promissory note is compounded annually and payable quarterly commencing on June 30, 2021. We paid \$2.0 million in interest on this loan during the year ended December 31, 2021. All outstanding amounts under the note become due and payable upon certain bankruptcy and insolvency-related events. There are no equity or equity-linked convertible rights related to this promissory note.
- (6) Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled \$3.4 million and \$1.7 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
- (7) Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled \$10.6 million and \$8.1 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
- (8) Accrued and unpaid interest on this note totaled \$5.7 million and \$3.9 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 44 2022 Proxy Statement

The following table summarizes our estimated future contractual obligations for related party promissory notes as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending December 31:	Principal Payments	Interest yments (1)		 Total
2022	\$ 300,000	\$ 18,808	(2)	\$ 318,808
2023	_	2,400		2,400
2024	_	2,407		2,407
2025	276,644	 85,823	(3)	 362,467
Total principal and estimated interest due on related party promissory notes	\$ 576,644	\$ 109,438		\$ 686,082

- (1) Interest payments on our fixed-rate debt are calculated based on contractual interest rates and scheduled maturity dates. Interest payments on our variable-rate debt are calculated based on schedule maturity dates and the Term SOFR rate plus the contractual spread per the loan agreement. The rate on this debt as of December 31, 2021 was 5,47%.
- (2) Interest shown includes \$0.7 million of accrued and unpaid interest as of December 31, 2021 related to the \$300.0 million variable-rate loan. Interest on our \$300.0 million variable-rate loan and our \$40.0 million fixed-rate loan are payable on a monthly and quarterly basis, respectively.
- (3) Interest shown includes \$29.7 million of accrued and unpaid interest of December 31, 2021. Interest on these notes is payable at maturity on September 30, 2025.

On December 17, 2022, the \$300.0 million promissory note is due and payable. In the event of a default on the loan (as defined in the promissory note), including if we do not repay the loan at maturity, the company has the right, at its sole option, to convert the outstanding principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest due under this note into shares of the company's common stock at price of \$5.67 per share. There can be no assurance that we can refinance this promissory note or what terms will be available in the market at the time of refinancing. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon refinancing, then the interest expense relating to the refinanced indebtedness would increase.

Other Related Party Agreements and Arrangements

We conduct business with several affiliates under written agreements and informal arrangements. Below is a summary of outstanding balances and a description of significant relationships (in thousands):

	As of December 31,			1,
	2021 2020			2020
Due from related party–NantBio, Inc.	\$	1,294	\$	1,294
Due from related party-NantOmics LLC		_		591
Due from related parties–Various		39		118
Total due from related parties	\$	1,333	\$	2,003
Due to related party–NantWorks	\$	1,113	\$	10,650
Due to related party-Duley Road, LLC		1,380		2,787
Due to related party-NantBio, Inc.		943		943
Due to related party-Immuno-Oncology Clinic, Inc.		507		271
Due to related party-Various		_		187
Total due to related parties	\$	3,943	\$	14,838

which is a collection of multiple companies in the healthcare and technology space. As described below, we have entered into arrangements with NantWorks and certain affiliates of NantWorks. Affiliates of NantWorks are also affiliates of the company due to the common control by and/or common ownership interest of our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer.

Our Executive Chairman, Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, and principal stockholder, founded and has a controlling interest in NantWorks,

ImmunityBio, Inc. 45 2022 Proxy Statement

NantWorks

Under the NantWorks shared services agreement executed in November 2015, but effective August 2015, NantWorks provides corporate, general and administrative, manufacturing strategy, research and development, regulatory and clinical trial strategy, and other support services. We are charged for the services at cost plus reasonable allocations of employee benefits, facilities and other direct or fairly allocated indirect costs that relate to the employees providing the services. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded \$4.4 million and \$6.0 million, respectively, in selling, general and administrative expense, and \$0.4 million and \$2.0 million, respectively, of expense reimbursements under this arrangement in research and development expense, on the consolidated statements of operations. These amounts exclude certain general and administrative expenses provided by third-party vendors directly for our benefit, which have been reimbursed to NantWorks based on those vendors' invoiced amounts without markup by NantWorks.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we owed NantWorks a net amount of \$1.1 million and \$10.7 million, respectively, for all agreements between the two affiliates, which is included in *due to related parties*, on the consolidated balance sheets. We also recorded \$2.2 million and \$1.0 million of prepaid expenses for services that passed through to the company from NantWorks as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which are included in the *prepaid expenses and other current assets*, on the consolidated balance sheets.

In November 2015, we entered into a facility license agreement with NantWorks for approximately 9,500 rentable square feet of office space in Culver City, California, which was converted to a research and development laboratory and a current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) manufacturing facility. The initial license was effective from May 2015 through December 2020. The base rent for the initial lease term was \$47,000 per month, with annual increases of 3% beginning in January 2017. In September 2020, we amended this agreement to extend the term of this lease through December 31, 2021. Commencing January 1, 2021, the base rent increased by 3% to approximately \$54,500 per month. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the lease term will automatically renew on a month-to-month basis, terminable by either party with at least 30 days' prior written notice to the other party. Lease expense for this facility totaling \$0.7 million and \$0.6 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, was recorded in research and development expense, on the consolidated statements of operations.

Immuno-Oncology Clinic, Inc.

We entered into multiple agreements with Immuno-Oncology Clinic, Inc. (the Clinic) to conduct clinical trials related to certain of our product candidates. The Clinic is a related party as it is owned by an officer of the company and NantWorks manages the administrative operations of the Clinic.

In the second quarter of 2021, based on a review of our then updated clinical trial programs post-Merger, we updated our estimates of the investigator fees for the clinical trials that were underway or planned at the Clinic. As certain programs costs are excluded from and certain services are subject to credit adjustments under the Clinic agreements, we determined the expected future fees for services to be performed were less than the carrying value of the prepaid asset on the consolidated balance sheets. As a result, we partially wrote down the value of our prepayments under the Clinic agreements and recorded approximately \$1.9 million in *research and development expense*, on the consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2021. In November 2021, we completed a review of alternative structures that could support our more complex clinical trial requirements and made a decision to explore a potential transition of clinical trials at the Clinic to a new structure (including contracting with a new, non-affiliated professional corporation) to be determined and agreed upon by all parties and currently planned for the first half of 2022. Based on this decision to explore a potential transition, we determined that it was more likely than not that the previously recorded prepaid asset would not result in the collection of fees for services performed by the Clinic as contemplated in the original agreements. As a result, we wrote down the remaining value of our prepaid asset and recorded approximately \$2.5 million in *research and development expense*, on the consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended December 31, 2021.

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we incurred \$1.6 million and \$0.9 million in *research and development expense*, on the consolidated statements of operations related to the Clinic Agreement. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we owed the Clinic \$0.5 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, for services excluded from the Clinic Agreement. As of December 31, 2020, we had prepaid balances related to the Clinic Agreement of \$4.7 million.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 46 2022 Proxy Statement

Brink Biologics, Inc.

In 2015, we entered into an agreement with Brink Biologics, Inc. (Brink) whereby we granted to Brink worldwide exclusive licenses to use of certain cell lines and intellectual property for non-clinical laboratory testing. Brink is a related party as our Executive Chairman, Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and our principal stockholder, and our Chief Corporate Affairs Officer and member of the Board, collectively own more than 50% of Brink's outstanding shares. We recognized revenue of \$0.4 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 related to this license.

605 Doug St, LLC

In September 2016, we entered into a lease agreement with 605 Doug St, LLC, an entity owned by our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, for approximately 24,250 rentable square feet in El Segundo, California, which has been converted to a research and development laboratory and a cGMP manufacturing facility. The lease runs from July 2016 through July 2023. We have the option to extend the lease for one additional three-year term through July 2026. The base rent is approximately \$72,385 per month, with annual increases of 3% that began in July 2017. Lease expense for this facility totaling \$0.9 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, was recorded in *research and development expense*, on the consolidated statements of operations.

Duley Road, LLC

In February 2017, Altor BioScience Corporation (succeeded by our wholly-owned subsidiary Altor BioScience, LLC), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a lease agreement with Duley Road, a related party that is indirectly controlled by our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, for approximately 12,000 rentable square feet of office and cGMP manufacturing facility space in El Segundo, California. The lease term is from February 2017 through October 2024. We have the option to extend the initial term for two consecutive five-year periods through October 2034. The base rent is approximately \$40,700 per month, with annual increases of 3% that began in November 2018. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded rent payable to Duley Road of \$0.2 million and \$1.3 million, respectively. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded rent expense of \$0.6 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, which is reflected in research and development expense, on the consolidated statements of operations.

Effective in January 2019, we entered into two lease agreements with Duley Road for a second building located in El Segundo, California. The first lease is for the first floor of the building with approximately 5,650 rentable square feet. The lease has a seven-year term commencing in September 2019. The second lease is for the second floor of the building with approximately 6,488 rentable square feet. The lease has a seven-year term commencing in July 2019. Both floors of the building are used for research and development and office space. We have options to extend the initial terms of both leases for two consecutive five-year periods through 2036. The base rent for the two leases is approximately \$35,800 per month that increases at a rate of 3% per year.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded \$0.9 million and \$0.9 million of leasehold improvement payables, respectively, and \$0.3 million and \$0.6 million of lease-related payables to Duley Road, which were included in *due to related parties*, on the consolidated balance sheets. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded \$0.4 million and \$0.3 million of rent expense for the two leases, respectively, which was included in *research and development expense*, on the consolidated statements of operations.

NantBio, Inc.

In August 2018, we entered into a supply agreement with NantCancerStemCell, LLC (NCSC), a 60% owned subsidiary of NantBio. Under this agreement, we agreed to supply VivaBioCell, S.p.A.'s proprietary GMP-in-a-Box bioreactors and related consumables, made according to specifications mutually agreed to with both companies. The agreement has an initial term of five years and renews automatically for successive one-year terms unless terminated by either party in the event of material default upon prior written notice of such default and the failure of the defaulting party to remedy the default within 30 days of the delivery of such notice, or upon 90 days' prior written notice by NCSC. We recognized revenue of \$0.3 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. We recorded \$0.1 million and \$0.3 million of deferred revenue for bioreactors that were delivered but not installed as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded \$0.9 million in *due to related parties*, on the consolidated balance sheets related to this agreement.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 47 2022 Proxy Statement

In 2018, we entered into a shared service agreement pursuant to which we are charged for services at cost, without mark-up or profit by NantBio, but including reasonable allocations of employee benefits related to the employees providing the services. In April 2019, we agreed with NantBio to transfer certain NantBio employees and associated research and development projects, comprising the majority of NantBio's business, to the company. After the transfer, we settled certain employee bonuses and benefits that were accrued by NantBio for 2018. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded a net receivable from NantBio of \$1.3 million, which included \$1.0 million for employee bonuses and \$0.3 million for vendor costs we paid on behalf of NantBio.

NantOmics

In 2019, we made a strategic decision and transferred certain employees from NantOmics, a related party that is controlled by our Executive Chairman and Global Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, to the company. After the transfer, we settled certain employee bonuses and benefits that were accrued by NantOmics for the year ended December 31, 2020. We recorded a \$0.6 million receivable from NantOmics as of December 31, 2020.

605 Nash, LLC

In February 2021, but effective on January 1, 2021, we entered into a lease agreement with 605 Nash, a related party, whereby we leased approximately 6,883 rentable square feet (the Initial Premises) in a two story mixed use building containing approximately 64,643 rentable square feet on 605-607 Nash Street in El Segundo, California. This facility is used primarily for pharmaceutical development and manufacturing purposes. The lease term commenced in January 2021 and expires in December 2027, and includes an option to extend the lease for one three-year term through December 2030. The base rent is approximately \$20,300 per month with an annual increase of 3% on January 1 of each year during the lease term. In addition, under the agreement, we are required to pay our share of estimated property taxes and operating expenses. We received a rent abatement for the first seven months, and a tenant improvement incentive of \$0.3 million from the landlord for costs and expenses associated with the construction of tenant improvements for the Initial Premises. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded rent expense of \$0.2 million, which was recorded in research and development expense, on the consolidated statement of operations.

In May 2021, but effective on April 1, 2021, we entered into an amendment to our Initial Premises lease with 605 Nash. The amendment expanded the leased square feet by approximately 57,760 rentable square feet (the Expansion Premises). The lease term of the Expansion Premises commenced in April 2021 and expires in March 2028, whereby the company has the option to extend the initial term for three years. Per the terms of the amendment, the term of the Initial Premises lease was extended for an additional three months and now expires in March 2031. Base rent for the Expansion Premises is approximately \$170,400 per month with annual increases of 3% on April 1 of each year. We are responsible for the build out of the facility space and associated costs. The amended lease provides for a rent abatement for the first seven months, and for a tenant improvement allowance of approximately \$2.6 million for costs and expenses related to improvements made by us to the Expansion Premises. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred \$1.5 million of rent expense related to the Expansion Premises lease agreement.

557 Doug St, LLC

On September 27, 2021, we entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement with Nant Capital (the Purchase Agreement). Nant Capital is a related party controlled by Dr. Soon-Shiong. The Purchase Agreement transferred all outstanding membership interests in 557 Doug St, LLC from the company to Nant Capital. The only asset owned by 557 Doug St, LLC is the improved property located at 557 South Douglas Street, El Segundo, California with a building area of approximately 36,434 rentable square feet (the Douglas Property).

The purchase price under the Purchase Agreement was \$22.0 million, and after the offset prorated property taxes of \$0.1 million, the net proceeds from the sale were \$21.9 million. An independent appraisal of the Douglas Property (the Appraisal) assigned the Douglas Property a value of \$22.0 million. The net carrying value of the property was \$20.5 million as of the closing date. We accounted for the transfer as a sale of an asset to an entity under common control, recorded the transfer at book value and recognized the excess of net consideration over carrying book value of \$1.4 million as a capital contribution received from Nant Capital in *additional paid-in capital*, on the consolidated statement of stockholders' deficit for the year ended December 31, 2021.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 48 2022 Proxy Statement

In September 2021, we entered into a lease agreement with Nant Capital under which we leased back 557 South Douglas Street for an initial lease term of seven years, which commenced on September 27, 2021. The monthly base rent under the lease is approximately \$81,976 per month with an annual increase of 3% on October 1 of each year beginning in 2022 during the initial term and, if applicable, during the option term. For the first two years under the lease we will not be charged rent; we will begin paying rent on October 1, 2023 at the current monthly base rent. We prepaid the first month rent and security deposit totaling \$0.2 million upon the execution of the lease. We have an option to extend the lease for two additional seven-year periods when the prior term expires. The lease is classified as an operating lease. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded \$0.3 million of rent expense for the lease, which was included in research and development expense, on the consolidated statement of operations.

420 Nash, LLC

On September 27, 2021, we entered into a lease agreement with 420 Nash, LLC, a related party, whereby we leased an approximately 19,125 rentable square foot property located at 420 Nash Street, El Segundo, California, to be used primarily for the warehousing and storage of drug manufacturing supplies, products and equipment and ancillary office space.

Under the terms of the lease agreement, the lease term began on October 1, 2021 and expires on September 30, 2026. The base rent is approximately \$38,250 per month with an annual increase of 3% on October 1 of each year beginning in 2022 during the initial term. The company is responsible for the payment of real property taxes, repairs and maintenance, improvements, insurance and operating expenses during the term of the lease. We will receive a rent abatement for the first month of the lease, and a one-time improvement allowance of \$15,000 from the landlord that will be credited against base rent obligations for the second month of the lease.

The company has options to extend the lease term for two additional consecutive periods of five years each. At the beginning of each option term, the initial monthly base rent will be adjusted to market rent (as defined in the lease agreement) with an annual increase of 3% during the option term. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded \$0.1 million of rent expense for the lease, which was included in *research and development expense*, on the consolidated statement of operations.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. The indemnification agreements and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws require us to indemnify our directors, executive officers and certain controlling persons to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

Policies for Approval of Related Party Transactions

We have adopted a written Related Party Transactions Policy that sets forth our policies and procedures regarding the identification, review, consideration, approval and oversight of related party transactions. For purposes of our policy only, a "related party transaction" is a past, present, or future transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships) which we and any "related person" are participants, the amount involved exceeds \$120,000, and in which a related person had, has, or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Various transactions are not covered by this policy, including transactions involving compensation for services provided to us as an employee or director. A "related party," includes any executive officer, director or nominee to become director, and any holder of more than 5% of our common stock, including any immediate family members of such persons. Any related party transaction may only be consummated if approved by the Related Party Transactions Committee in accordance with the policy guidelines set forth below.

Under the policy, where a transaction has been identified as a related party transaction, management must present information regarding the proposed related party transaction to the Related Party Transactions Committee for review and approval during a committee meeting. In considering related party transactions, the Related Party Transactions Committee takes into account the relevant available facts and circumstances including, but not limited to whether the terms of such transaction are no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third-party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related person's interest in the transaction.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 49 2022 Proxy Statement

Other Matters

Stockholder Proposals for the 2023 Annual Meeting

Proposals Pursuant to Rule 14a-8. Stockholders may present proper proposals for inclusion in our proxy statement and for consideration at the 2023 annual meeting of stockholders by submitting their proposals in writing to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices so that they are received no later than the close of business (5:30 p.m. Pacific Time) on December 30, 2022. In addition, stockholder proposals must comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act regarding the inclusion of stockholder proposals in company-sponsored proxy materials. Pursuant to the rules promulgated by the SEC, simply submitting a proposal does not guarantee that it will be included.

Director Nominations Pursuant to our Bylaws. It is the policy of the Governance Committee to consider recommendations for candidates to the Board from stockholders holding no less than 1% of the outstanding shares of our common stock continuously for at least 12 months prior to the date of the submission of the recommendation or nomination.

A stockholder that wishes to recommend a candidate for consideration by the Governance Committee as a potential candidate for director must direct the recommendation in writing to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices, and must include the candidate's name, home and business contact information, detailed biographical data, relevant qualifications, class and number of shares of the company's common stock that are held by the nominee, a signed letter from the candidate confirming willingness to serve, information regarding any relationships between us and the candidate and evidence of the recommending stockholder's ownership of our common stock. Such recommendation must also include a statement from the recommending stockholder in support of the candidate, particularly within the context of the criteria for board membership, including issues of character, integrity, judgment, and diversity of experience, independence, area of expertise, corporate experience, potential conflicts of interest, other commitments and the like and personal references. The Governance Committee will consider the recommendation but will not be obligated to take any further action with respect to the recommendation.

In order to be brought before our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, the stockholder must have given timely notice of such proposal or nomination, in proper written form. To be timely for our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, a stockholder's notice of a matter that the stockholder wishes to present, or the person or persons the stockholder wishes to nominate as a director, must be delivered to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices not less than 45 days and not more than 75 days before the one-year anniversary of the date on which we first mailed our proxy materials or a notice of availability of proxy materials (whichever is earlier) for the preceding year's annual meeting. As a result, any written notice given by a stockholder pursuant to these provisions of our amended and restated bylaws must be received by our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices:

- not earlier than February 13, 2023 and
- not later than March 15, 2023.

In the event that we hold our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after the one-year anniversary date of the 2022 Annual Meeting, then such written notice must be received no earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and no later than the close of business on the later of the following two dates:

- the 90th day prior to such annual meeting, or
- the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made.

To be in proper written form, a stockholder's notice and/or proposals must include the specified information concerning the proposal or nominee as described in our amended and restated bylaws. We reserve the right to reject, rule out of order, or take other appropriate action with respect to any proposal that does not comply with these and other applicable requirements. Notices and/or proposals should be addressed to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 50 2022 Proxy Statement

Availability of Bylaws

A copy of our amended and restated bylaws may be obtained by accessing the company's filings on the SEC's website at https://www.sec.gov. You may also contact our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices for a copy of the relevant bylaw provisions regarding the requirements for making stockholder proposals and nominating director candidates.

Code of Global Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted a written Code of Global Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions and agents and representatives, including consultants. A copy of the Code of Global Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website, https://www.immunitybio.com. If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant any waivers from, the Code of Global Business Conduct and Ethics for any officer or director, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes of ownership on Forms 3, 4 and 5 with the SEC. Such directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on our review of the copies of such forms we have received and written representations from certain reporting persons that they filed all required reports, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 Mr. Adcock filed one delinquent report on Form 4 on April 14, 2021 related to one equity award granted to him on March 9, 2021 under the 2015 NC Plan prior to the Merger.

Householding of Proxy Materials

The SEC has adopted rules that permit brokers, banks and other agents to satisfy the delivery requirements for proxy statements and annual reports by delivering a single notice of proxy availability or proxy statement and annual report, as applicable, to two or more stockholders sharing the same address. This process, which is commonly referred to as "householding," can provide added convenience for our stockholders and additional cost savings for us.

This year, a number of brokers, banks and other agents with account holders who are our stockholders will be householding our proxy materials. A single notice of proxy availability or proxy statement and annual report, as applicable, will be delivered to multiple stockholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected stockholders. Once you have received notice from your broker, bank or other agent that they will be householding communications to your address, householding will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent to the householding of communications. If at any time you no longer wish to participate in householding and would prefer to receive a separate notice of proxy availability or proxy statement and annual report, please either (i) notify your broker, bank or other agent, (ii) direct your written request to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices, or (iii) contact us by phone at (858) 663-0300. Upon receipt of any such written or oral request, we undertake to promptly deliver free of charge a separate notice of proxy availability or copy of the proxy statement and/or annual report, as applicable, to a stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of these documents was delivered. Stockholders who currently receive multiple copies of the notice of proxy availability or proxy statement and annual report at their address and would like to request householding of their communications should notify their broker, bank or other agent.

ImmunityBio, Inc. 51 2022 Proxy Statement

No Incorporation by Reference

This report of the Audit Committee shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A promulgated by the SEC or Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any prior or subsequent filing by the company under the Securities Act, except to the extent ImmunityBio specifically requests that the information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporates it by reference.

We maintain a website at https://www.immunitybio.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not intended to be incorporated by reference into this proxy statement, and references to our website address in this proxy statement are inactive textual references only.

We know of no other matters to be submitted at the 2022 Annual Meeting. If any other matters properly come before the 2022 Annual Meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the proxy to vote the shares they represent as the Board may recommend. Discretionary authority with respect to such other matters is granted by a properly submitted proxy.

The Board of Directors

San Diego, California April 29, 2022

ImmunityBio, Inc. 52 2022 Proxy Statement

Appendix A

ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries 2015 Equity Incentive Plan

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND	SUBSIDIARIES
2015 EQUITY INCEN	ITIVE PLAN
(As amended on [1 2022)

1.	Pur	poses (of the	Plan.	The	pur	poses	of t	:his I	Plan	are:

- to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility,
- · to provide additional incentive to Employees, Directors and Consultants, and
- to promote the success of the Company's business.

The Plan permits the grant of Incentive Stock Options, Nonstatutory Stock Options, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Stock Appreciation Rights, Performance Units and Performance Shares.

- 2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions will apply:
- (a) "Administrator" means the Board or any of its Committees as will be administering the Plan, in accordance with Section 4 of the Plan.
- (b) "Applicable Laws" means the legal and regulatory requirements relating to the administration of equity-based awards and the related issuance of Shares thereunder, including but not limited to U.S. federal and state corporate laws, U.S. federal and state securities laws, the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted and the applicable laws of any non-U.S. country or jurisdiction where Awards are, or will be, granted under the Plan.
- (c) "Award" means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units or Performance Shares.
- (d) "Award Agreement" means the written or electronic agreement setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to each Award granted under the Plan. The Award Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.
- (e) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (f) "Change in Control" means the occurrence of any of the following events:
- (i) A change in the ownership of the Company which occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting as a group ("Person"), acquires ownership of the stock of the Company that, together with the stock held by such Person, constitutes more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection, the acquisition of additional stock by any one Person, who is considered to own more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company will not be considered a Change in Control; or
- (ii) A change in the effective control of the Company which occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is replaced during any twelve (12) month period by Directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board prior to the date of the appointment or election. For purposes of this clause (ii), if any Person is considered to be in effective control of the Company, the acquisition of additional control of the Company by the same Person will not be considered a Change in Control; or

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-1	2022 Proxy Statem	ent
-------------------	-----	-------------------	-----

(iii) A change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company's assets which occurs on the date that any Person acquires (or has acquired during the twelve (12) month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than fifty percent (50%) of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (iii), the following will not constitute a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company's assets: (A) a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the Company's stockholders immediately after the transfer, or (B) a transfer of assets by the Company to: (1) a stockholder of the Company (immediately before the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to the Company's stock, (2) an entity, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, or (4) an entity, at least fifty percent (50%) of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by a Person described in this subsection (iii)(B)(3). For purposes of this subsection (iii), gross fair market value means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets.

For purposes of this definition, persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that enters into a merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or similar business transaction with the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed a Change in Control unless the transaction qualifies as a change in control event within the meaning of Code Section 409A, as it has been and may be amended from time to time, and any proposed or final Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance that has been promulgated or may be promulgated thereunder from time to time.

Further and for the avoidance of doubt, a transaction will not constitute a Change in Control if: (i) its sole purpose is to change the state of the Company's incorporation, or (ii) its sole purpose is to create a holding company that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held the Company's securities immediately before such transaction.

- (g) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference to a specific section of the Code or regulation thereunder will include such section or regulation, any valid regulation promulgated under such section, and any comparable provision of any future legislation or regulation amending, supplementing or superseding such section or regulation.
- (h) "Committee" means a committee of Directors or of other individuals satisfying Applicable Laws appointed by the Board, or a duly authorized committee of the Board, in accordance with Section 4 hereof.
- (i) "Common Stock" means the common stock of the Company.
- (j) "Company" means ImmunityBio, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor thereto.
- (k) "Consultant" means any natural person, including an advisor, engaged by the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary to render bona fide services to such entity, provided the services (i) are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction, and (ii) do not directly promote or maintain a market for the Company's securities, in each case, within the meaning of Form S-8 promulgated under the Securities Act.
- (I) "Director" means a member of the Board.

ImmunityBio, Inc.

- (m) "Disability" means total and permanent disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, provided that in the case of Awards other than Incentive Stock Options, the Administrator in its discretion may determine whether a permanent and total disability exists in accordance with uniform and non-discriminatory standards adopted by the Administrator from time to time.
- (n) "Employee" means any person, including Officers and Directors, employed by the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director's fee by the Company will be sufficient to constitute "employment" by the Company.

A-2

2022 Proxy Statement

(o)	"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.	
` '	<u> </u>	

- (p) "Exchange Program" means a program under which (i) outstanding Awards are surrendered or cancelled in exchange for awards of the same type (which may have higher or lower exercise prices and different terms), awards of a different type, and/or cash, (ii) Participants would have the opportunity to transfer any outstanding Awards to a financial institution or other person or entity selected by the Administrator, and/or (iii) the exercise price of an outstanding Award is increased or reduced. The Administrator will determine the terms and conditions of any Exchange Program in its sole discretion.
- (q) "Fair Market Value" means, as of any date, the value of Common Stock determined as follows:
- (i) If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, including without limitation the New York Stock Exchange, the NASDAQ Global Select Market, the NASDAQ Global Market or the NASDAQ Capital Market of The NASDAQ Stock Market, its Fair Market Value will be the closing sales price for such stock (or the closing bid, if no sales were reported) as quoted on such exchange or system on the day of determination, as reported in *The Wall Street Journal* or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;
- (ii) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, the Fair Market Value of a Share will be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the date of determination (or, if no bids and asks were reported on that date, as applicable, on the last trading date such bids and asks were reported), as reported in *The Wall Street Journal* or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable:
- (iii) For purposes of any Awards granted on the Registration Date, the Fair Market Value will be the initial price to the public as set forth in the final prospectus included within the registration statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the initial public offering of the Common Stock; or
- (iv) In the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value will be determined in good faith by the Administrator.
- (r) "Fiscal Year" means the fiscal year of the Company.
- (s) "Incentive Stock Option" means an Option that by its terms qualifies and is intended to qualify as an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
- (t) "Inside Director" means a Director who is an Employee.
- (u) "Nonstatutory Stock Option" means an Option that by its terms does not qualify or is not intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
- (v) "Officer" means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- (w) "Option" means a stock option granted pursuant to the Plan.
- (x) "Outside Director" means a Director who is not an Employee.
- (y) "Parent" means a "parent corporation," whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(e) of the Code.
- (z) "Participant" means the holder of an outstanding Award.
- (aa) "Performance Share" means an Award denominated in Shares which may be earned in whole or in part upon attainment of performance goals or other vesting criteria as the Administrator may determine pursuant to Section 10.
- (bb) "Performance Unit" means an Award which may be earned in whole or in part upon attainment of performance goals or other vesting criteria as the Administrator may determine and which may be settled for cash, Shares or other securities or a combination of the foregoing pursuant to Section 10.
- (cc) "Period of Restriction" means the period during which the transfer of Shares of Restricted Stock are subject to restrictions and therefore, the Shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. Such restrictions may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of target levels of performance, or the occurrence of other events as determined by the Administrator.

(dd)	"Plan"	means this	2015	Equity	Incentive	Plan.

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-3	2022 Proxy Statement
-------------------	-----	----------------------

- (ee) "Registration Date" means the effective date of the first registration statement that is filed by the Company and declared effective pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, with respect to any class of the Company's securities.
- (ff) "Restricted Stock" means Shares issued pursuant to a Restricted Stock award under Section 7 of the Plan, or issued pursuant to the early exercise of an Option.
- (gg) "Restricted Stock Unit" means a bookkeeping entry representing an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share, granted pursuant to Section 8. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company.
- (hh) "Rule 16b-3" means Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b-3, as in effect when discretion is being exercised with respect to the Plan.
- (ii) "Section 16(b)" means Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.
- (jj) "Service Provider" means an Employee, Director or Consultant.
- (kk) "Share" means a share of the Common Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section 14 of the Plan.
- (II) "Stock Appreciation Right" means an Award, granted alone or in connection with an Option, that pursuant to Section 9 is designated as a Stock Appreciation Right.

(mm) "Subsidiary" means a "subsidiary corporation," whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code.

- Stock Subject to the Plan.
- (a) Stock Subject to the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Section 14 of the Plan, the maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under the Plan is 29,400,000 Shares, plus the sum of (i) any Shares that, as of the Registration Date, have been reserved but not issued pursuant to any awards granted under the Company's 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Existing Plan"), and are not subject to any awards granted thereunder, and (ii) any Shares subject to stock options or similar awards granted under the Existing Plan that, on or after the Registration Date, expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full and Shares issued pursuant to awards granted under the Existing Plan that are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company, with the maximum number of Shares to be added to the Plan pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) equal to 9,197,066. The Shares may be authorized, but unissued, or reacquired Common Stock.
- (b) <u>Lapsed Awards</u>. If an Award expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full, is surrendered pursuant to an Exchange Program, or, with respect to Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units or Performance Shares, is forfeited to, or repurchased by, the Company due to failure to vest, then the unpurchased Shares (or for Awards other than Options or Stock Appreciation Rights the forfeited or repurchased Shares), which were subject thereto will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has terminated). With respect to Stock Appreciation Rights, only Shares actually issued (i.e., the net Shares issued) pursuant to a Stock Appreciation Right will cease to be available under the Plan; all remaining Shares under Stock Appreciation Rights will remain available for future grant or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has terminated). Shares that actually have been issued under the Plan under any Award will not be returned to the Plan and will not become available for future distribution under the Plan; provided, however, that if Shares issued pursuant to Awards of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares or Performance Units are repurchased by the Company or are forfeited to the Company, such Shares will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan. Shares used to pay the exercise price of an Award or to satisfy the tax withholding obligations related to an Award will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan. To the extent an Award under the Plan is paid out in cash rather than Shares, such cash payment will not result in reducing the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing and, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 14, the maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of Incentive Stock Options will equal the aggregate Share number stated in Section 3(a), plus, to the extent allowable under Section 422 of the Code, any Shares that
- (c) <u>Share Reserve</u>. The Company, during the term of this Plan, will at all times reserve and keep available such number of Shares as will be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-4	2022 Proxy Statemen
minutarity 210, 11101	,,,,	zozz i roxy otatomon

- 4. Administration of the Plan.
- (a) Procedure.
- (i) Multiple Administrative Bodies. Different Committees with respect to different groups of Service Providers may administer the Plan.
- (ii) <u>Section 162(m)</u>. To the extent that the Administrator determines it to be desirable to qualify Awards granted hereunder as "performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the Plan will be administered by a Committee of two (2) or more "outside directors" within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.
- (iii) <u>Rule 16b-3</u>. To the extent desirable to qualify transactions hereunder as exempt under Rule 16b-3, the transactions contemplated hereunder will be structured to satisfy the requirements for exemption under Rule 16b-3.
- (iv) Other Administration. Other than as provided above, the Plan will be administered by (A) the Board or (B) a Committee, which committee will be constituted to satisfy Applicable Laws.
- (b) <u>Powers of the Administrator</u>. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, and in the case of a Committee, subject to the specific duties delegated by the Board to such Committee, the Administrator will have the authority, in its discretion:
- (i) to determine the Fair Market Value;
- (ii) to select the Service Providers to whom Awards may be granted hereunder;
- (iii) to determine the number of Shares to be covered by each Award granted hereunder;
- (iv) to approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan:
- (v) to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any Award granted hereunder. Such terms and conditions include, but are not limited to, the exercise price, the time or times when Awards may be exercised (which may be based on performance criteria), any vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions, and any restriction or limitation regarding any Award or the Shares relating thereto, based in each case on such factors as the Administrator will determine;
- (vi) to institute and determine the terms and conditions of an Exchange Program;
- (vii) to construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and Awards granted pursuant to the Plan;
- (viii) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, including rules and regulations relating to sub-plans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable foreign laws or for qualifying for favorable tax treatment under applicable foreign laws;
- (ix) to modify or amend each Award (subject to Section 19 of the Plan), including but not limited to the discretionary authority to extend the post-termination exercisability period of Awards and to extend the maximum term of an Option (subject to Section 6(b) of the Plan regarding Incentive Stock Options):
- (x) to allow Participants to satisfy tax withholding obligations in such manner as prescribed in Section 15 of the Plan;
- (xi) to authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company any instrument required to effect the grant of an Award previously granted by the Administrator:
- (xii) to allow a Participant to defer the receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of Shares that otherwise would be due to such Participant under an Award: and
- (xiii) to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for administering the Plan.
- (c) Effect of Administrator's Decision. The Administrator's decisions, determinations and interpretations will be final and binding on all Participants and any other holders of Awards.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-5	2022 Proxy Statemen
-----------------------	---------------------

5. <u>Eligibility.</u> Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and Performance Units may be granted to Service Providers. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to Employees.

Stock Options

- (a) <u>Limitations</u>. Each Option will be designated in the Award Agreement as either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option. However, notwithstanding such designation, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the Participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary) exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), such Options will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options. For purposes of this Section 6(a), Incentive Stock Options will be taken into account in the order in which they were granted. The Fair Market Value of the Shares will be determined as of the time the Option with respect to such Shares is granted.
- (b) <u>Term of Option</u>. The term of each Option will be stated in the Award Agreement. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the term will be ten (10) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement. Moreover, in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a Participant who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the term of the Incentive Stock Option will be five (5) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement.
- (c) Option Exercise Price and Consideration.
- (i) <u>Exercise Price</u>. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to exercise of an Option will be determined by the Administrator, subject to the following:
- (1) In the case of an Incentive Stock Option
- (A) granted to an Employee who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the per Share exercise price will be no less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.
- (B) granted to any Employee other than an Employee described in paragraph (A) immediately above, the per Share exercise price will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.
- (2) In the case of a Nonstatutory Stock Option, the per Share exercise price will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.
- (3) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Options may be granted with a per Share exercise price of less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant pursuant to a transaction described in, and in a manner consistent with, Section 424(a) of the Code.
- (ii) Waiting Period and Exercise Dates. At the time an Option is granted, the Administrator will fix the period within which the Option may be exercised and will determine any conditions that must be satisfied before the Option may be exercised.
- (iii) Form of Consideration. The Administrator will determine the acceptable form of consideration for exercising an Option, including the method of payment. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the Administrator will determine the acceptable form of consideration at the time of grant. Such consideration may consist entirely of: (1) cash; (2) check; (3) promissory note, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws; (4) other Shares, provided that such Shares have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Shares as to which such Option will be exercised and provided that accepting such Shares will not result in any adverse accounting consequences to the Company, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion; (5) consideration received by the Company under a broker-assisted (or other) cashless exercise program (whether through a broker or otherwise) implemented by the Company in connection with the Plan; (6) by net exercise; (7) such other consideration and method of payment for the issuance of Shares to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws; or (8) any combination of the foregoing methods of payment.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-6 2022 Proxy Statement

(d) Exercise of Option.

(i) <u>Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Stockholder</u>. Any Option granted hereunder will be exercisable according to the terms of the Plan and at such times and under such conditions as determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. An Option may not be exercised for a fraction of a Share.

An Option will be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (i) a notice of exercise (in such form as the Administrator may specify from time to time) from the person entitled to exercise the Option, and (ii) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is exercised (together with applicable withholding taxes). Full payment may consist of any consideration and method of payment authorized by the Administrator and permitted by the Award Agreement and the Plan. Shares issued upon exercise of an Option will be issued in the name of the Participant or, if requested by the Participant, in the name of the Participant and his or her spouse. Until the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company), no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with respect to the Shares subject to an Option, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Company will issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares promptly after the Option is exercised. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Section 14 of the Plan.

Exercising an Option in any manner will decrease the number of Shares thereafter available, both for purposes of the Plan and for sale under the Option, by the number of Shares as to which the Option is exercised.

- (ii) <u>Termination of Relationship as a Service Provider</u>. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider, other than upon the Participant's termination as the result of the Participant's death or Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of termination (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement). In the absence of a specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for three (3) months following the Participant's termination. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination the Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If after termination the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified by the Administrator, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.
- (iii) <u>Disability of Participant</u>. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider as a result of the Participant's Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent the Option is vested on the date of termination (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement). In the absence of a specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for twelve (12) months following the Participant's termination. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination the Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If after termination the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.
- (iv) <u>Death of Participant</u>. If a Participant dies while a Service Provider, the Option may be exercised following the Participant's death within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of death (but in no event may the option be exercised later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement), by the Participant's designated beneficiary, provided such beneficiary has been designated prior to Participant's death in a form acceptable to the Administrator. If no such beneficiary has been designated by the Participant, then such Option may be exercised by the personal representative of the Participant's estate or by the person(s) to whom the Option is transferred pursuant to the Participant's will or in accordance with the laws of descent and distribution. In the absence of a specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for twelve (12) months following Participant's death. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if at the time of death Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will immediately revert to the Plan. If the Option is not so exercised within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.

Restricted Stock.

(a) <u>Grant of Restricted Stock</u>. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator, at any time and from time to time, may grant Shares of Restricted Stock to Service Providers in such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-7 2022 Proxy Statement

- (b) <u>Restricted Stock Agreement</u>. Each Award of Restricted Stock will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the Period of Restriction, if any, the number of Shares granted, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine. Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the Company as escrow agent will hold Shares of Restricted Stock until the restrictions on such Shares have lapsed.
- (c) <u>Transferability</u>. Except as provided in this Section 7 or the Award Agreement, Shares of Restricted Stock may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction.
- (d) Other Restrictions. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may impose such other restrictions on Shares of Restricted Stock as it may deem advisable or appropriate.
- (e) <u>Removal of Restrictions</u>. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 7, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted Stock grant made under the Plan will be released from escrow as soon as practicable after the last day of the Period of Restriction or at such other time as the Administrator may determine. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or be removed.
- (f) <u>Voting Rights</u>. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares, unless the Administrator determines otherwise.
- (g) <u>Dividends and Other Distributions</u>. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of Restricted Stock will be entitled to receive all dividends and other distributions paid with respect to such Shares, unless the Administrator provides otherwise. If any such dividends or distributions are paid in Shares, the Shares will be subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the Shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which they were paid.
- (h) <u>Return of Restricted Stock to Company</u>. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock for which restrictions have not lapsed will revert to the Company and again will become available for grant under the Plan.

8. Restricted Stock Units.

- (a) <u>Grant</u>. Restricted Stock Units may be granted at any time and from time to time as determined by the Administrator. After the Administrator determines that it will grant Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, it will advise the Participant in an Award Agreement of the terms, conditions, and restrictions related to the grant, including the number of Restricted Stock Units.
- (b) <u>Vesting Criteria and Other Terms</u>. The Administrator will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which, depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will determine the number of Restricted Stock Units that will be paid out to the Participant. The Administrator may set vesting criteria based upon the achievement of Company-wide, divisional, business unit, or individual goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment or service), applicable federal or state securities laws or any other basis determined by the Administrator in its discretion.
- (c) <u>Earning Restricted Stock Units</u>. Upon meeting the applicable vesting criteria, the Participant will be entitled to receive a payout as determined by the Administrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time after the grant of Restricted Stock Units, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may reduce or waive any vesting criteria that must be met to receive a payout.
- (d) <u>Form and Timing of Payment</u>. Payment of earned Restricted Stock Units will be made as soon as practicable after the date(s) determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may only settle earned Restricted Stock Units in cash, Shares, or a combination of both.
- (e) Cancellation. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited to the Company.
- 9. Stock Appreciation Rights.
- (a) <u>Grant of Stock Appreciation Rights</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a Stock Appreciation Right may be granted to Service Providers at any time and from time to time as will be determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion.
- (b) <u>Number of Shares</u>. The Administrator will have complete discretion to determine the number of Stock Appreciation Rights granted to any Service Provider.

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-8	2022 Prox	y Statemen

- (c) Exercise Price and Other Terms. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right will be determined by the Administrator and will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant. Otherwise, the Administrator, subject to the provisions of the Plan, will have complete discretion to determine the terms and conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan.
- (d) <u>Stock Appreciation Right Agreement</u>. Each Stock Appreciation Right grant will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the exercise price, the term of the Stock Appreciation Right, the conditions of exercise, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.
- (e) <u>Expiration of Stock Appreciation Rights</u>. A Stock Appreciation Right granted under the Plan will expire ten (10) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement, as determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rules of Section 6(d) relating to exercise also will apply to Stock Appreciation Rights.
- (f) Payment of Stock Appreciation Right Amount. Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right, a Participant will be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:
- (i) The difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the exercise price; times
- (ii) The number of Shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised.

At the discretion of the Administrator, the payment upon Stock Appreciation Right exercise may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent value, or in some combination thereof.

- 10. Performance Units and Performance Shares.
- (a) <u>Grant of Performance Units/Shares</u>. Performance Units and Performance Shares may be granted to Service Providers at any time and from time to time, as will be determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion. The Administrator will have complete discretion in determining the number of Performance Units and Performance Shares granted to each Participant.
- (b) <u>Value of Performance Units/Shares</u>. Each Performance Unit will have an initial value that is established by the Administrator on or before the date of grant. Each Performance Share will have an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.
- (c) <u>Performance Objectives and Other Terms</u>. The Administrator will set performance objectives or other vesting provisions (including, without limitation, continued status as a Service Provider) in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number or value of Performance Units/Shares that will be paid out to the Service Providers. The time period during which the performance objectives or other vesting provisions must be met will be called the "<u>Performance Period</u>." Each Award of Performance Units/Shares will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the Performance Period, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine. The Administrator may set performance objectives based upon the achievement of Company-wide, divisional, business unit or individual goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment or service), applicable federal or state securities laws, or any other basis determined by the Administrator in its discretion.
- (d) <u>Earning of Performance Units/Shares</u>. After the applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of Performance Units/Shares will be entitled to receive a payout of the number of Performance Units/Shares earned by the Participant over the Performance Period, to be determined as a function of the extent to which the corresponding performance objectives or other vesting provisions have been achieved. After the grant of a Performance Unit/Share, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may reduce or waive any performance objectives or other vesting provisions for such Performance Unit/Share.
- (e) Form and Timing of Payment of Performance Units/Shares. Payment of earned Performance Units/Shares will be made as soon as practicable after the expiration of the applicable Performance Period. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Performance Units/Shares in the form of cash, in Shares (which have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the value of the earned Performance Units/Shares at the close of the applicable Performance Period) or in a combination thereof.
- (f) <u>Cancellation of Performance Units/Shares</u>. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned or unvested Performance Units/Shares will be forfeited to the Company, and again will be available for grant under the Plan.

	1	
ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-9	2022 Proxy Statemen

- 11. <u>Outside Director Limitations</u>. Subject to the provisions of Section 14 of the Plan, no Outside Director may be granted, in any Fiscal Year, Awards covering more than 175,000 Shares, increased to 300,000 Shares in the Fiscal Year of his or her initial service as an Outside Director.
- 12. <u>Leaves of Absence/Transfer Between Locations</u>. Unless the Administrator provides otherwise, vesting of Awards granted hereunder will be suspended during any unpaid leave of absence. A Participant will not cease to be an Employee in the case of (i) any leave of absence approved by the Company or (ii) transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company, its Parent, or any Subsidiary. For purposes of Incentive Stock Options, no such leave may exceed three (3) months, unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract. If reemployment upon expiration of a leave of absence approved by the Company is not so guaranteed, then six (6) months following the first (1st) day of such leave any Incentive Stock Option held by the Participant will cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and will be treated for tax purposes as a Nonstatutory Stock Option.
- 13. <u>Transferability of Awards</u>. Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, an Award may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised, during the lifetime of the Participant, only by the Participant. If the Administrator makes an Award transferable, such Award will contain such additional terms and conditions as the Administrator deems appropriate.
- 14. Adjustments; Dissolution or Liquidation; Change in Control.
- (a) <u>Adjustments</u>. In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other securities, or other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of Shares or other securities of the Company, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the Shares occurs, the Administrator, in order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan, will adjust the number and class of Shares that may be delivered under the Plan and/or the number, class, and price of Shares covered by each outstanding Award, and the numerical Share limit in Section 3 of the Plan.
- (b) <u>Dissolution or Liquidation</u>. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Administrator will notify each Participant as soon as practicable prior to the effective date of such proposed transaction. To the extent it previously has not been exercised, an Award will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed action.
- (c) Change in Control. In the event of a Change in Control, each outstanding Award will be treated as the Administrator determines, including, without limitation, that (i) Awards may be assumed, or substantially equivalent Awards will be substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof) with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of shares and prices; (ii) upon written notice to a Participant, that the Participant's Awards will terminate upon or immediately prior to the consummation of such Change in Control; (iii) outstanding Awards will vest and become exercisable, or payable, or restrictions applicable to an Award will lapse, in whole or in part prior to or upon consummation of such Change in Control, and, to the extent the Administrator determines, terminate upon or immediately prior to the effectiveness of such merger or Change in Control; (iv) (A) the termination of an Award in exchange for an amount of cash and/or property, if any, equal to the amount that would have been attained upon the exercise of such Award or realization of the Participant's rights as of the date of the occurrence of the transaction (and, for the avoidance of doubt, if as of the date of the occurrence of the transaction the Administrator determines in good faith that no amount would have been attained upon the exercise of such Award or realization of the Participant's rights, then such Award may be terminated by the Company without payment), or (B) the replacement of such Award with other rights or property selected by the Administrator in its sole discretion; or (v) any combination of the foregoing. In taking any of the actions permitted under this Section 14(c), the Administrator will not be required to treat all Awards similarly in the transaction.

In the event that the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for the Award, the Participant will fully vest in and have the right to exercise all of his or her outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, including Shares as to which such Awards would not otherwise be vested or exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units will lapse, and, with respect to Awards with performance-based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of target levels and all other terms and conditions met. In addition, if an Option or Stock Appreciation Right is not assumed or substituted in the event of a Change in Control, the Administrator will notify the Participant in writing or electronically that the Option or Stock Appreciation Right will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, and the Option or Stock Appreciation Right will terminate upon the expiration of such period.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-10 2022 Proxy Statement

For the purposes of this subsection (c), an Award will be considered assumed if, following the Change in Control, the Award confers the right to purchase or receive, for each Share subject to the Award immediately prior to the Change in Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash, or other securities or property) received in the Change in Control by holders of Common Stock for each Share held on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders were offered a choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding Shares); provided, however, that if such consideration received in the Change in Control is not solely common stock of the successor corporation or its Parent, the Administrator may, with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration to be received upon the exercise of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right or upon the payout of a Restricted Stock Unit, Performance Unit or Performance Share, for each Share subject to such Award, to be solely common stock of the successor corporation or its Parent equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by holders of Common Stock in the Change in Control.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 14(c) to the contrary, an Award that vests, is earned or paid-out upon the satisfaction of one or more performance goals will not be considered assumed if the Company or its successor modifies any of such performance goals without the Participant's consent; provided, however, a modification to such performance goals only to reflect the successor corporation's post-Change in Control corporate structure will not be deemed to invalidate an otherwise valid Award assumption.

(d) <u>Outside Director Awards</u>. With respect to Awards granted to an Outside Director, in the event of a Change in Control, the Participant will fully vest in and have the right to exercise Options and/or Stock Appreciation Rights as to all of the Shares underlying such Award, including those Shares which otherwise would not be vested or exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units will lapse, and, with respect to Awards with performance-based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of target levels and all other terms and conditions met.

15. <u>Tax</u>.

- (a) <u>Withholding Requirements</u>. Prior to the delivery of any Shares or cash pursuant to an Award (or exercise thereof) or such earlier time as any tax withholding obligations are due, the Company will have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes (including the Participant's FICA obligation) required to be withheld with respect to such Award (or exercise thereof).
- (b) <u>Withholding Arrangements</u>. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit a Participant to satisfy such tax withholding obligation, in whole or in part by (without limitation) (a) paying cash, (b) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable cash or Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be withheld, or (c) delivering to the Company already-owned Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be withheld. The Fair Market Value of the Shares to be withheld or delivered will be determined as of the date that the taxes are required to be withheld.
- (c) Compliance With Code Section 409A. Awards will be designed and operated in such a manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. The Plan and each Award Agreement under the Plan is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. To the extent that an Award or payment, or the settlement or deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A, the Award will be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A.
- 16. <u>No Effect on Employment or Service</u>. Neither the Plan nor any Award will confer upon a Participant any right with respect to continuing the Participant's relationship as a Service Provider with the Company, nor will they interfere in any way with the Participant's right or the Company's right to terminate such relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws.
- 17. <u>Date of Grant</u>. The date of grant of an Award will be, for all purposes, the date on which the Administrator makes the determination granting such Award, or such other later date as is determined by the Administrator. Notice of the determination will be provided to each Participant within a reasonable time after the date of such grant.

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-11	2022 Proxy Statement
-------------------	------	----------------------

- 18. <u>Term of Plan.</u> Subject to Section 22 of the Plan, the Plan will become effective upon the later to occur of (i) its adoption by the Board or (ii) the business day immediately prior to the Registration Date. It will continue in effect for a term of ten (10) years from the date adopted by the Board, unless terminated earlier under Section 19 of the Plan.
- 19. Amendment and Termination of the Plan.
- (a) Amendment and Termination. The Administrator may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the Plan.
- (b) <u>Stockholder Approval</u>. The Company will obtain stockholder approval of any Plan amendment to the extent necessary and desirable to comply with Applicable Laws.
- (c) Effect of Amendment or Termination. No amendment, alteration, suspension or termination of the Plan will materially impair the rights of any Participant, unless mutually agreed otherwise between the Participant and the Administrator, which agreement must be in writing and signed by the Participant and the Company. Termination of the Plan will not affect the Administrator's ability to exercise the powers granted to it hereunder with respect to Awards granted under the Plan prior to the date of such termination.
- 20. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares.
- (a) <u>Legal Compliance</u>. Shares will not be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Award unless the exercise of such Award and the issuance and delivery of such Shares will comply with Applicable Laws and will be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with respect to such compliance.
- (b) <u>Investment Representations</u>. As a condition to the exercise of an Award, the Company may require the person exercising such Award to represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise that the Shares are being purchased only for investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute such Shares if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, such a representation is required.
- 21. <u>Inability to Obtain Authority</u>. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction or to complete or comply with the requirements of any registration or other qualification of the Shares under any state, federal or foreign law or under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the stock exchange on which Shares of the same class are then listed, or any other governmental or regulatory body, which authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance is deemed by the Company's counsel to be necessary or advisable for the issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, will relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to which such requisite authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance will not have been obtained.
- adopted by the Board. Such stockholder approval will be obtained in the manner and to the degree required under Applicable Laws.

22. Stockholder Approval. The Plan will be subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months after the date the Plan is

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-12	2022 Proxy Statement
-------------------	------	----------------------

Name ("Participant"): «Name»

Address: «Address»

«CityStateZip»

Termination Period:

as provided in Section 14 of the Plan.

ImmunityBio, Inc.

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the ImmunityBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") will have the same defined meanings in this Stock Option Agreement including the Notice of Stock Option Grant (the "Notice of Grant"), the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, and the appendices and exhibits attached thereto (all together, the "Award Agreement").

The undersigned Participant has been granted an Option to purchase Common Stock of ImmunityBio, Inc. (the "Company"), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, as follows:
Date of Grant «GrantDate»
Vesting Commencement Date «VCD»
Number of Shares Granted «Shares»
Exercise Price per Share «Purchase_Price»
Total Exercise Price «Purchase_Price»
Type of Option Incentive Stock Option
Nonstatutory Stock Option
Term/Expiration Date «GrantDate»
Vesting Schedule:
Subject to accelerated vesting as set forth below or in the Plan, this Option will be exercisable, in whole or in part, in accordance with the following schedule:
[Insert Vesting Schedule, e.g.: Twenty-five percent (25%) of the Shares subject to the Option shall vest on the one (1) year anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, and one forty-eighth (1/48th) of the Shares subject to the Option shall vest each month thereafter on the same day of the month as the Vesting Commencement Date (and if there is no corresponding day, on the last day of the month), subject to Participant continuing to be a Service Provider through each such date.]

This Option will be exercisable for three (3) months after Participant ceases to be a Service Provider, unless such termination is due to Participant's death or Disability, in which case this Option will be exercisable for twelve (12) months after Participant ceases to be a Service Provider. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, in no event may this Option be exercised after the Term/Expiration Date as provided above and may be subject to earlier termination

A-13

2022 Proxy Statement

Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and represents that he or she is familiar with the terms and provisions thereof, and hereby accepts this Award Agreement subject to all of the terms and provisions thereof. Participant has reviewed the Plan and this Award Agreement in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Award Agreement and fully understands all provisions of this Award Agreement. Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan or this Award Agreement. Participant further agrees to notify the Company upon any change in the residence address indicated below.

PARTICIPANT	IMMUNITYBIO, INC.	
Signature	Ву	
_		
«Name»		
Print Name	Print Name	
	Title	
Address:	Tiue	
Address.		
«Address»		
«CityStateZip»	<u>_</u>	
ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-14	2022 Proxy Statement

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

- 1. <u>Grant of Option</u>. The Company hereby grants to the individual (the "Participant") named in the Notice of Stock Option Grant of this Award Agreement (the "Notice of Grant") an option (the "Option") to purchase the number of Shares, as set forth in the Notice of Grant, at the exercise price per Share set forth in the Notice of Grant (the "Exercise Price"), subject to all of the terms and conditions in this Award Agreement and the Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference. Subject to Section 19(c) of the Plan, in the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of the Plan and the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan will prevail.
- (a) For U.S. taxpayers, the Option will be designated as either an Incentive Stock Option ("ISO") or a Nonstatutory Stock Option ("NSO"). If designated in the Notice of Grant as an ISO, this Option is intended to qualify as an ISO under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). However, if this Option is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option, to the extent that it exceeds the \$100,000 rule of Code Section 422(d) it will be treated as an NSO. Further, if for any reason this Option (or portion thereof) will not qualify as an ISO, then, to the extent of such nonqualification, such Option (or portion thereof) shall be regarded as a NSO granted under the Plan. In no event will the Administrator, the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary or any of their respective employees or directors have any liability to Participant (or any other person) due to the failure of the Option to qualify for any reason as an ISO.
- (b) For non-U.S. taxpayers, the Option will be designated as an NSO.
- 2. <u>Vesting Schedule</u>. Except as provided in Section 3, the Option awarded by this Award Agreement will vest in accordance with the vesting provisions set forth in the Notice of Grant. Shares scheduled to vest on a certain date or upon the occurrence of a certain condition will not vest in Participant in accordance with any of the provisions of this Award Agreement, unless Participant will have been continuously a Service Provider from the Date of Grant until the date such vesting occurs.
- 3. <u>Administrator Discretion</u>. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the unvested Option at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Option will be considered as having vested as of the date specified by the Administrator.
- Exercise of Option.
- (a) <u>Right to Exercise</u>. This Option may be exercised only within the term set out in the Notice of Grant, and may be exercised during such term only in accordance with the Plan and the terms of this Award Agreement.
- (b) Method of Exercise. This Option is exercisable by delivery of an exercise notice (the "Exercise Notice") in the form attached as Exhibit A or in a manner and pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may determine, which will state the election to exercise the Option, the number of Shares in respect of which the Option is being exercised (the "Exercised Shares"), and such other representations and agreements as may be required by the Company pursuant to the provisions of the Plan. The Exercise Notice will be completed by Participant and delivered to the Company. The Exercise Notice will be accompanied by payment of the aggregate Exercise Price as to all Exercised Shares together and of any Tax Obligations (as defined in Section 6(a)). This Option will be deemed to be exercised upon receipt by the Company of such fully executed Exercise Notice accompanied by the aggregate Exercise Price.
- 5. Method of Payment. Payment of the aggregate Exercise Price will be by any of the following, or a combination thereof, at the election of Participant:
- (a) cash;
- (b) check;
- (c) consideration received by the Company under a formal cashless exercise program adopted by the Company in connection with the Plan; or

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-15 2022 Proxy Statement

(d) if Participant is a U.S. employee, surrender of other Shares which have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate Exercise Price of the Exercised Shares, provided that accepting such Shares, in the sole discretion of the Administrator, will not result in any adverse accounting consequences to the Company.

Tax Obligations.

- Participant acknowledges that, regardless of any action taken by the Company or, if different, Participant's employer (the "Employer"), the ultimate (a) liability for any tax and/or social insurance liability obligations and requirements in connection with the Option, including, without limitation, (a) all federal, state, and local taxes (including the Participant's Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) obligation) that are required to be withheld by the Company or the Employer or other payment of tax-related items related to Participant's participation in the Plan and legally applicable to Participant, (b) the Participant's and, to the extent required by the Company (or Employer), the Company's (or Employer's) fringe benefit tax liability, if any, associated with the grant, vesting, or exercise of the Option or sale of Shares, and (c) any other Company (or Employer) taxes the responsibility for which the Participant has, or has agreed to bear, with respect to the Option (or exercise thereof or issuance of Shares thereunder) (collectively, the "Tax Obligations"), is and remains Participant's responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company or the Employer. Participant further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (i) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax Obligations in connection with any aspect of the Option, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or exercise of the Option, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such exercise and the receipt of any dividends or other distributions, and (ii) do not commit to and are under no obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Option to reduce or eliminate Participant's liability for Tax Obligations or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if Participant is subject to Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction between the Date of Grant and the date of any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction. If Participant fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of any required Tax Obligations hereunder at the time of the applicable taxable event, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to issue or deliver the Shares.
- Tax Withholding. When the Option is exercised, Participant generally will recognize immediate U.S. taxable income if Participant is a U.S. taxpayer. If Participant is a non-U.S. taxpayer, Participant will be subject to applicable taxes in his or her jurisdiction. Pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may specify from time to time, the Company and/or Employer shall withhold the minimum amount required to be withheld for the payment of Tax Obligations. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit Participant to satisfy such Tax Obligations, in whole or in part (without limitation), if permissible by applicable local law, by (a) paying cash, (b) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount of such Tax Obligations, (c) withholding the amount of such Tax Obligations from Participant's wages or other cash compensation paid to Participant by the company and/or the Employer, (d) delivering to the Company already vested and owned Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to such Tax Obligations, or (e) selling a sufficient number of such Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant through such means as the Company may determine in its sole discretion (whether through a broker or otherwise) equal to the amount of the Tax Obligations. To the extent determined appropriate by the Company in its discretion, it will have the right (but not the obligation) to satisfy any Tax Obligations by reducing the number of Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant. Further, if Participant is subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction between the Date of Grant and a date of any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company and/or the Employer (and/or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for tax in more than one jurisdiction. If Participant fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of any required Tax Obligations hereunder at the time of the Option exercise, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to honor the exercise and refuse to deliver the Shares if such amounts are not delivered at the time of exercise.
- (c) <u>Notice of Disqualifying Disposition of ISO Shares</u>. If the Option granted to Participant herein is an ISO, and if Participant sells or otherwise disposes of any of the Shares acquired pursuant to the ISO on or before the later of (i) the date two (2) years after the Date of Grant, or (ii) the date one (1) year after the date of exercise, Participant will immediately notify the Company in writing of such disposition. Participant agrees that Participant may be subject to income tax withholding by the Company on the compensation income recognized by Participant.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-16 2022 Proxy Statement

- (d) <u>Code Section 409A</u>. Under Code Section 409A, an option that vests after December 31, 2004 (or that vested on or prior to such date but which was materially modified after October 3, 2004) that was granted with a per share exercise price that is determined by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") to be less than the fair market value of a share on the date of grant (a "Discount Option") may be considered "deferred compensation." A Discount Option may result in (i) income recognition by Participant prior to the exercise of the option, (ii) an additional twenty percent (20%) federal income tax, and (iii) potential penalty and interest charges. The Discount Option may also result in additional state income, penalty and interest charges to Participant. Participant acknowledges that the Company cannot and has not guaranteed that the IRS will agree that the per Share Exercise Price of this Option equals or exceeds the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Date of Grant in a later examination. Participant agrees that if the IRS determines that the Option was granted with a per Share Exercise Price that was less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Date of Grant, Participant will be solely responsible for Participant's costs related to such a determination.
- 7. <u>Rights as Stockholder</u>. Neither Participant nor any person claiming under or through Participant will have any of the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates representing such Shares (which may be in book entry form) will have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Participant (including through electronic delivery to a brokerage account). After such issuance, recordation and delivery, Participant will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.
- 8. No Guarantee of Continued Service. PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING OF SHARES PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT THE WILL OF THE COMPANY (OR THE EMPLOYER) AND NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF BEING HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS OPTION OR ACQUIRING SHARES HEREUNDER. PARTICIPANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS AWARD AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROMISE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND WILL NOT INTERFERE IN ANY WAY WITH PARTICIPANT'S RIGHT OR THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY (OR THE EMPLOYER) TO TERMINATE PARTICIPANT'S RELATIONSHIP AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.
- 9. Nature of Grant. In accepting the Option, Participant acknowledges, understands and agrees that:
- (a) the grant of the Option is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive future grants of options, or benefits in lieu of options, even if options have been granted in the past;
- (b) all decisions with respect to future option or other grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company;
- (c) Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan;
- (d) the Option and any Shares acquired under the Plan are not intended to replace any pension rights or compensation;
- (e) the Option and Shares acquired under the Plan and the income and value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end-of-service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or similar payments;
- (f) the future value of the Shares underlying the Option is unknown, indeterminable, and cannot be predicted with certainty;
- (g) if the underlying Shares do not increase in value, the Option will have no value;
- (h) if Participant exercises the Option and acquires Shares, the value of such Shares may increase or decrease in value, even below the Exercise Price;

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-17	2022 Proxy Statemen
-------------------	------	---------------------

- (i) for purposes of the Option, Participant's engagement as a Service Provider will be considered terminated as of the date Participant is no longer actively providing services to the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary (regardless of the reason for such termination and whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms of Participant's employment or service agreement, if any), and unless otherwise expressly provided in this Award Agreement (including by reference in the Notice of Grant to other arrangements or contracts) or determined by the Administrator, (i) Participant's right to vest in the Option under the Plan, if any, will terminate as of such date and will not be extended by any notice period (e.g., Participant's period of service would not include any contractual notice period or any period of "garden leave" or similar period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or Participant's employment or service agreement, if any, unless Participant is providing bona fide services during such time); and (ii) the period (if any) during which Participant may exercise the Option after such termination of Participant's engagement as a Service Provider will commence on the date Participant ceases to actively provide services and will not be extended by any notice period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is enployed or terms of Participant's engagement agreement, if any; the Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant is no longer actively providing services for purposes of his or her Option grant (including whether Participant may still be considered to be providing services while on a leave of absence):
- (j) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the Option and the benefits evidenced by this Award Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Option or any such benefits transferred to, or assumed by, another company nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares; and
- (k) the following provisions apply only if Participant is providing services outside the United States:
- (i) the Option and the Shares subject to the Option are not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purpose;
- (ii) Participant acknowledges and agrees that none of the Company, the Employer, or any Parent or Subsidiary shall be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation between Participant's local currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the Option or of any amounts due to Participant pursuant to the exercise of the Option or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon exercise; and
- (iii) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Option resulting from the termination of Participant's engagement as a Service Provider (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms on Participant's employment or service agreement, if any), and in consideration of the grant of the Option to which Participant is otherwise not entitled, Participant irrevocably agrees never to institute any claim against the Company, any Parent, any Subsidiary or the Employer, waives his or her ability, if any, to bring any such claim, and releases the Company, any Parent or Subsidiary and the Employer from any such claim, if notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a court of competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, Participant shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agrees to execute any and all documents necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claim.
- 10. <u>No Advice Regarding Grant</u>. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations regarding Participant's participation in the Plan, or Participant's acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares. Participant is hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.
- 11. <u>Data Privacy</u>. Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of Participant's personal data as described in this Award Agreement and any other Option grant materials by and among, as applicable, the Employer, the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant's participation in the Plan.

Participant understands that the Company and the Employer may hold certain personal information about Participant, including, but not limited to, Participant's name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or directorships held in the Company, details of all Options or any other entitlement to Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Participant's favor ("Data"), for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-18 2022 Proxy Statement

Participant understands that Data will be transferred to a stock plan service provider as may be selected by the Company in the future, which is assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. Participant understands that the recipients of the Data may be located in the United States or elsewhere, and that the recipient's country of operation (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy laws and protections than Participant's country. Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting his or her local human resources representative. Participant authorizes the Company and any other possible recipients which may assist the Company (presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the sole purposes of implementing, administering and managing Participant's participation in the Plan. Participant understands that Data will be held only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage Participant's participation in the Plan. Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may, at any time, view Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of Data, require any necessary amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her local human resources representative. Further, Participant understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If Participant does not consent, or if Participant later seeks to revoke his or her consent, his or her engagement as a Service Provider and career with the Employer will not be adversely affected; the only adverse consequence of refusing or withdrawing Participant's consent is that the Company would not be able to grant Participant Options or other equity awards or administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or withdrawing his or her consent may affect Participant's ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Participant's refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, Participant understands that he or she may contact his or her local human resources representative.

- 12. <u>Address for Notices</u>. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Award Agreement will be addressed to the Company at ImmunityBio, Inc., 3530 John Hopkins Ct., San Diego, CA 92121, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.
- 13. <u>Non-Transferability of Option</u>. This Option may not be transferred in any manner otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised during the lifetime of Participant only by Participant.
- 14. <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Award Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this Award Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restrictions on transfer herein set forth, this Award Agreement shall be binding upon Participant and his or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. The rights and obligations of Participant under this Award Agreement may only be assigned with the prior written consent of the Company.
- 15. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Stock. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion, that the listing, registration, qualification or rule compliance of the Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state, federal or foreign law, the tax code and related regulations or under the rulings or regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory body or the clearance, consent or approval of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the purchase by, or issuance of Shares, to Participant (or his or her estate) hereunder, such purchase or issuance will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, rule compliance, clearance, consent or approval will have been completed, effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company. Subject to the terms of the Award Agreement and the Plan, the Company shall not be required to issue any certificate or certificates for Shares hereunder prior to the lapse of such reasonable period of time following the date of exercise of the Option as the Administrator may establish from time to time for reasons of administrative convenience.
- 16. <u>Language</u>. If Participant has received this Award Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language other than English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control.
- 17. Interpretation. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Award Agreement and to adopt such rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules (including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Shares subject to the Option have vested). All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon Participant, the Company and all other interested persons. Neither the Administrator nor any person acting on behalf of the Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Award Agreement.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-19 2022 Proxy Statement

- 18. <u>Electronic Delivery and Acceptance</u>. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to Options awarded under the Plan or future options that may be awarded under the Plan by electronic means or request Participant's consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through any on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.
- 19. <u>Captions</u>. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this Award Agreement.
- 20. <u>Agreement Severable</u>. In the event that any provision in this Award Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of this Award Agreement.
- 21. <u>Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan</u>. By accepting this Award, Participant expressly warrants that he or she has received an Option under the Plan, and has received, read and understood a description of the Plan. Participant understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be amended, suspended or terminated by the Company at any time.
- 22. <u>Governing Law and Venue</u>. This Award Agreement will be governed by the laws of California, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof. For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises under this Option or this Award Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the jurisdiction of the State of California, and agree that such litigation will be conducted in the courts of Los Angeles, California, or the federal courts for the United States for the Central District of California, and no other courts, where this Option is made and/or to be performed.
- 23. <u>Country Addendum</u>. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Award Agreement, this Option shall be subject to any special terms and conditions set forth in any appendix to this Award Agreement for Participant's country (the "Country Addendum"). Moreover, if Participant relocates to one of the countries included in the Country Addendum, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant, to the extent the Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. The Country Addendum constitutes part of this Award Agreement.
- 24. <u>Modifications to the Agreement</u>. This Award Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. Participant expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Award Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than those contained herein. Modifications to this Award Agreement or the Plan can be made only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Award Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Award Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of Participant, to comply with Code Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A of the Code in connection with the Option.
- 25. <u>No Waiver</u>. Either party's failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Award Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such provision or provisions, nor prevent that party from thereafter enforcing each and every other provision of this Award Agreement. The rights granted both parties herein are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.
- 26. <u>Tax Consequences</u>. Participant has reviewed with its own tax advisors the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Award Agreement. With respect to such matters, Participant relies solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents, written or oral. Participant understands that Participant (and not the Company) shall be responsible for Participant's own tax liability that may arise as a result of this investment or the transactions contemplated by this Award Agreement.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-20 2022 Proxy Statement

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT COUNTRY ADDENDUM

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This Country Addendum includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Option granted to Participant under the Plan if Participant works in one of the countries listed below. If Participant is a citizen or resident of a country (or is considered as such for local law purposes) other than the one in which he or she is currently working or if Participant relocates to another country after receiving the Option, the Company will, in its discretion, determine the extent to which the terms and conditions contained herein will be applicable to Participant.

Certain capitalized terms used but not defined in this Country Addendum shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan, the and/or the Award Agreement to which this Country Addendum is attached.

NOTIFICATIONS

This Country Addendum also includes notifications relating to exchange control and other issues of which Participant should be aware with respect to his or her participation in the Plan. The information is based on the exchange control, securities and other laws in effect in the countries listed in this Country Addendum, as of [DATE]. Such laws are often complex and change frequently. As a result, the Company strongly recommends that Participant not rely on the notifications herein as the only source of information relating to the consequences of his or her participation in the Plan because the information may be outdated when Participant exercises the Option or sells Shares acquired under the Plan.

In addition, the notifications are general in nature and may not apply to Participant's particular situation, and the Company is not in a position to assure Participant of any particular result. Accordingly, Participant is advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to how the relevant laws in Participant's country may apply to Participant's situation.

Finally, if Participant is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which Participant is currently working (or is considered as such for local law purposes) or if Participant moves to another country after the Option is granted, the information contained herein may not be applicable to Participant.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-21 2022 Proxy Statement

EXHIBIT A

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN EXERCISE NOTICE

ImmunityBio, Inc. 3530 John Hopkins Ct. San Diego, CA 92121 Attention: Stock Administration

- 1. <u>Exercise of Option</u>. Effective as of today, the undersigned ("Purchaser") hereby elects to purchase shares (the "Shares") of the Common Stock of ImmunityBio, Inc. (the "Company") under and pursuant to the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") and the Stock Option Agreement, dated and including the Notice of Grant, the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, and appendices and exhibits attached thereto (the "Award Agreement"). The purchase price for the Shares will be \$, as required by the Award Agreement.
- 2. <u>Delivery of Payment</u>. Purchaser herewith delivers to the Company the full purchase price of the Shares and any Tax Obligations (as defined in Section 7(a) of the Award Agreement) to be paid in connection with the exercise of the Option.
- 3. <u>Representations of Purchaser</u>. Purchaser acknowledges that Purchaser has received, read and understood the Plan and the Award Agreement and agrees to abide by and be bound by their terms and conditions.
- 4. <u>Rights as Stockholder</u>. Until the issuance (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company) of the Shares, no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with respect to the Shares subject to the Option, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Shares so acquired will be issued to Purchaser as soon as practicable after exercise of the Option. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date of issuance, except as provided in Section 14 of the Plan.
- 5. <u>Tax Consultation</u>. Purchaser understands that Purchaser may suffer adverse tax consequences as a result of Purchaser's purchase or disposition of the Shares. Purchaser represents that Purchaser has consulted with any tax consultants Purchaser deems advisable in connection with the purchase or disposition of the Shares and that Purchaser is not relying on the Company for any tax advice.
- 6. <u>Entire Agreement; Governing Law.</u> The Plan and Award Agreement are incorporated herein by reference. This Exercise Notice, the Plan and the Award Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Purchaser with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely to the Purchaser's interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and Purchaser. This agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of California.

Submitted by: PURCHASER	Accepted by: IMMUNITYBIO, INC.	
Signature	Ву	
Print Name	Its	
Address:		
	Date Received	
ImmunityBio. Inc.	A-22	2022 Proxy Statement

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

NOTICE OF GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") shall have the same defined meanings in this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, including the Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units (the "Notice of Grant"), the Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Grant, and any appendices and exhibits attached thereto (all together, the "Award Agreement").

Name ("Participant"): «Name»

Address: «Address»

The undersigned Participant has been granted the right to receive an Award of Restricted Stock Units, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, as follows:

Date of Grant: «GrantDate»

Vesting Commencement Date: «VCD»

Number of Restricted Stock Units: «Shares»

Vesting Schedule:

Subject to any acceleration provisions contained in the Plan or set forth below, the Restricted Stock Units will vest in accordance with the following schedule:

In the event Participant ceases to be a Service Provider for any or no reason before Participant vests in the Restricted Stock Units, the Restricted Stock Units and Participant's right to acquire any Shares hereunder will immediately terminate.

Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and represents that he or she is familiar with the terms and provisions thereof, and hereby accepts this Award Agreement subject to all of the terms and provisions thereof. Participant has reviewed the Plan and this Award Agreement in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Award Agreement and fully understands all provisions of this Award Agreement. Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan or this Award Agreement. Participant further agrees to notify the Company upon any change in the residence address indicated below.

PARTICIPANT	IMMUNITYBIO, INC.	
Signature	Ву	
«Name»		
Print Name	Print Name	
Address:	Title	
«Address»		
«CityStateZip»		
ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-23	2022 Proxy Statement

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT

- 1. <u>Grant of Restricted Stock Units</u>. The Company hereby grants to the individual (the "Participant") named in the Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units of this Award Agreement (the "Notice of Grant") under the Plan an Award of Restricted Stock Units, subject to all of the terms and conditions in this Award Agreement and the Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference. Subject to Section 19(c) of the Plan, in the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall prevail.
- 2. <u>Company's Obligation to Pay.</u> Each Restricted Stock Unit represents the right to receive a Share on the date it vests. Unless and until the Restricted Stock Units will have vested in the manner set forth in Section 3 or 4, Participant will have no right to payment of any such Restricted Stock Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units, such Restricted Stock Unit will represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.
- 3. <u>Vesting Schedule</u>. Except as provided in Section 4, and subject to Section 5, the Restricted Stock Units awarded by this Award Agreement will vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the Notice of Grant, subject to Participant continuing to be a Service Provider through each applicable vesting date.
- 4. Payment after Vesting.
- (a) <u>General Rule</u>. Subject to Section 6, any Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to Participant (or in the event of Participant's death, to his or her properly designated beneficiary or estate) in whole Shares. Subject to the provisions of Section 4(b), such vested Restricted Stock Units shall be paid in whole Shares as soon as practicable after vesting, but in each such case within sixty (60) days following the vesting date. In no event will Participant be permitted, directly or indirectly, to specify the taxable year of payment of any Restricted Stock Units payable under this Award Agreement.
- (b) Acceleration.
- (i) <u>Discretionary Acceleration</u>. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the unvested Restricted Stock Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having vested as of the date specified by the Administrator. If Participant is a U.S. taxpayer, the payment of Shares vesting pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall in all cases be paid at a time or in a manner that is exempt from, or complies with, Section 409A. The prior sentence may be superseded in a future agreement or amendment to this Award Agreement only by direct and specific reference to such sentence.
- (ii) Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Award Agreement or any other agreement (whether entered into before, on or after the Date of Grant), if the vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock Units is accelerated in connection with Participant's termination as a Service Provider (provided that such termination is a "separation from service" within the meaning of Section 409A, as determined by the Company), other than due to Participant's death, and if (x) Participant is a U.S. taxpayer and a "specified employee" within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of such termination as a Service Provider and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will result in the imposition of additional tax under Section 409A if paid to Participant on or within the six (6) month period following Participant's termination as a Service Provider, then the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of Participant's termination as a Service Provider, unless Participant dies following his or her termination as a Service Provider, in which case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid in Shares to Participant's estate as soon as practicable following his or her death.
- (c) <u>Section 409A</u>. It is the intent of this Award Agreement that it and all payments and benefits to U.S. taxpayers hereunder be exempt from, or comply with, the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units provided under this Award Agreement or Shares issuable thereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities herein will be interpreted to be so exempt or so comply. Each payment payable under this Award Agreement is intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2). For purposes of this Award Agreement, "Section 409A" means Section 409A of the Code, and any final Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance thereunder, as each may be amended from time to time.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-24 2022 Proxy Statement

- 5. <u>Forfeiture Upon Termination as a Service Provider</u>. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Award Agreement, if Participant ceases to be a Service Provider for any or no reason, the then-unvested Restricted Stock Units awarded by this Award Agreement will thereupon be forfeited at no cost to the Company and Participant will have no further rights thereunder.
- 6. <u>Death of Participant</u>. Any distribution or delivery to be made to Participant under this Award Agreement will, if Participant is then deceased, be made to Participant's designated beneficiary, or if no beneficiary survives Participant, the administrator or executor of Participant's estate. Any such transferee must furnish the Company with (a) written notice of his or her status as transferee, and (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer and compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining to said transfer.
- 7. <u>Tax Consequences</u>. Participant has reviewed with its own tax advisors the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Award Agreement. With respect to such matters, Participant relies solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents, written or oral. Participant understands that Participant (and not the Company) shall be responsible for Participant's own tax liability that may arise as a result of this investment or the transactions contemplated by this Award Agreement.

8. Tax Obligations

- Responsibility for Taxes. Participant acknowledges that, regardless of any action taken by the Company or, if different, Participant's employer (the "Employer"), the ultimate liability for any tax and/or social insurance liability obligations and requirements in connection with the Restricted Stock Units, including, without limitation, (a) all federal, state, and local taxes (including the Participant's Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) obligation) that are required to be withheld by the Company or the Employer or other payment of tax-related items related to Participant's participation in the Plan and legally applicable to Participant, (b) the Participant's and, to the extent required by the Company (or Employer), the Company's (or Employer's) fringe benefit tax liability, if any, associated with the grant, vesting, or exercise of the Restricted Stock Units or sale of Shares, and (c) any other Company (or Employer) taxes the responsibility for which the Participant has, or has agreed to bear, with respect to the Restricted Stock Units (or exercise thereof or issuance of Shares thereunder) (collectively, the "Tax Obligations"), is and remains Participant's responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company or the Employer. Participant further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (i) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax Obligations in connection with any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such settlement and the receipt of any dividends or other distributions, and (ii) do not commit to and are under no obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate Participant's liability for Tax Obligations or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if Participant is subject to Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction between the Date of Grant and the date of any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction. If Participant fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of any required Tax Obligations hereunder at the time of the applicable taxable event, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to issue or deliver the Shares.
- (b) Tax Withholding. When Shares are issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units, Participant generally will recognize immediate U.S. taxable income if Participant is a U.S. taxpayer. If Participant is a non-U.S. taxpayer, Participant will be subject to applicable taxes in his or her jurisdiction. Pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may specify from time to time, the Company and/or Employer shall withhold the minimum amount required to be withheld for the payment of Tax Obligations. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit Participant to satisfy such Tax Obligations, in whole or in part (without limitation), if permissible by applicable local law, by (a) paying cash, (b) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount of such Tax Obligations, (c) withholding the amount of such Tax Obligations from Participant's wages or other cash compensation paid to Participant by the company and/or the Employer, (d) delivering to the Company already vested and owned Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to such Tax Obligations, or (e) selling a sufficient number of such Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant through such means as the Company may determine in its sole discretion (whether through a broker or otherwise) equal to the amount of the Tax Obligations. To the extent determined appropriate by the Company in its discretion, it will have the right (but not the obligation) to satisfy any Tax Obligations by reducing the number of Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant and, until determined otherwise by the Company, this will be the method by which such Tax Obligations are satisfied. Further, if Participant is subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction between the Date of Grant and a date of any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-25 2022 Proxy Statement

Company and/or the Employer (and/or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for tax in more than one jurisdiction. If Participant fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of such Tax Obligations hereunder at the time any applicable Restricted Stock Units otherwise are scheduled to vest pursuant to Sections 3 or 4, Participant will permanently forfeit such Restricted Stock Units and any right to receive Shares thereunder and the Restricted Stock Units will be returned to the Company at no cost to the Company. Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to deliver the Shares if such Tax Obligations are not delivered at the time they are due.

- 9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither Participant nor any person claiming under or through Participant will have any of the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates representing such Shares (which may be in book entry form) will have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Participant (including through electronic delivery to a brokerage account). After such issuance, recordation and delivery, Participant will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.
- 10. No Guarantee of Continued Service. PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING OF THE RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT THE WILL OF THE COMPANY (OR THE EMPLOYER) AND NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF BEING HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD OR ACQUIRING SHARES HEREUNDER. PARTICIPANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROMISE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND SHALL NOT INTERFERE IN ANY WAY WITH PARTICIPANT'S RIGHT OR THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY (OR THE EMPLOYER) TO TERMINATE PARTICIPANT'S RELATIONSHIP AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.
- 11. <u>Grant is Not Transferable</u>. Except to the limited extent provided in Section 6, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby will not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise) and will not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of this grant, or any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any execution, attachment or similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately will become null and void.
- 12. Nature of Grant. In accepting the grant, Participant acknowledges, understands and agrees that:
- (a) the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive future grants of Restricted Stock Units, or benefits in lieu of Restricted Stock Units, even if Restricted Stock Units have been granted in the past;
- (b) all decisions with respect to future Restricted Stock Units or other grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company;
- (c) Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan;
- (d) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units are not intended to replace any pension rights or compensation;
- (e) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, and the income and value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end-of-service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or similar payments;
- (f) the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted;

ImmunityBio, Inc.	A-26	2022 Proxy Statement
-------------------	------	----------------------

- (g) for purposes of the Restricted Stock Units, Participant's status as a Service Provider will be considered terminated as of the date Participant is no longer actively providing services to the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary (regardless of the reason for such termination and whether or not later to be found invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms of Participant's employment or service agreement, if any), and unless otherwise expressly provided in this Award Agreement (including by reference in the Notice of Grant to other arrangements or contracts) or determined by the Administrator, Participant's right to vest in the Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, if any, will terminate as of such date and will not be extended by any notice period (e.g., Participant's period of service would not include any contractual notice period or any period of "garden leave" or similar period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms of Participant's employment or service agreement, if any, unless Participant is providing bona fide services during such time); the Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant is no longer actively providing services for purposes of the Restricted Stock Units grant (including whether Participant may still be considered to be providing services while on a leave of absence);
- (h) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the Restricted Stock Units and the benefits evidenced by this Award Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Restricted Stock Units or any such benefits transferred to, or assumed by, another company nor be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares; and
- (i) the following provisions apply only if Participant is providing services outside the United States:
- (i) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares are subject to the Restricted Stock Units are not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purpose.
- (ii) Participant acknowledges and agrees that none of the Company, the Employer or any Parent or Subsidiary shall be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation between Participant's local currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the Restricted Stock Units or any amounts due to Participant to the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon settlement; and
- (iii) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units resulting from the termination of Participant's engagement as a Service Provider (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms on Participant's employment or service agreement, if any), and in consideration of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units to which Participant is otherwise not entitled, Participant irrevocably agrees never to institute any claim against the Company, any Parent, any Subsidiary or the Employer, waives his or her ability, if any, to bring any such claim, and releases the Company, any Parent or Subsidiary and the Employer from any such claim, if notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a court of competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, Participant shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agrees to execute any and all documents necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claim.
- 13. <u>No Advice Regarding Grant</u>. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations regarding Participant's participation in the Plan, or Participant's acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares. Participant is hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.
- 14. <u>Data Privacy.</u> Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of Participant's personal data as described in this Award Agreement and any other Restricted Stock Unit grant materials by and among, as applicable, the Employer, the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant's participation in the Plan.

Participant understands that the Company and the Employer may hold certain personal information about Participant, including, but not limited to, Participant's name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or directorships held in the Company, details of all Restricted Stock Units or any other entitlement to Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Participant's favor ("Data"), for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-27 2022 Proxy Statement

Participant understands that Data will be transferred to a stock plan service provider as may be selected by the Company in the future, which is assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. Participant understands that the recipients of the Data may be located in the United States or elsewhere, and that the recipients' country of operation (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy laws and protections than Participant's country. Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting his or her local human resources representative. Participant authorizes the Company, any stock plan service provider selected by the Company and any other possible recipients which may assist the Company (presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the sole purpose of implementing, administering and managing his or her participation in the Plan. Participant understands that Data will be held only as long as is necessary to implement. administer and manage Participant's participation in the Plan. Participant understands if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may, at any time, view Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of Data, require any necessary amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her local human resources representative. Further, Participant understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If Participant does not consent, or if Participant later seeks to revoke his or her consent, his or her status as a Service Provider and career with the Employer will not be adversely affected; the only adverse consequence of refusing or withdrawing Participant's consent is that the Company would not be able to grant Participant Restricted Stock Units or other equity awards or administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or withdrawing his or her consent may affect Participant's ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Participant's refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, Participant understands that he or she may contact his or her local human resources representative.

- 15. Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Award Agreement will be addressed to the Company at ImmunityBio, Inc., 3530 John Hopkins Ct., San Diego, CA 92121, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.
- 16. <u>Electronic Delivery and Acceptance</u>. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to the Restricted Stock Units awarded under the Plan or future Restricted Stock Units that may be awarded under the Plan by electronic means or request Participant's consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through any on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.
- 17. <u>No Waiver</u>. Either party's failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such provision or provisions, nor prevent that party from thereafter enforcing each and every other provision of this Agreement. The rights granted both parties herein are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.
- 18. <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restrictions on transfer herein set forth, this Agreement shall be binding upon Participant and his or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. The rights and obligations of Participant under this Agreement may only be assigned with the prior written consent of the Company.
- 19. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Stock. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion, that the listing, registration, qualification or rule compliance of the Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state, federal or foreign law, the tax code and related regulations or under the rulings or regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory body or the clearance, consent or approval of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the issuance of Shares to Participant (or his or her estate) hereunder, such issuance will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, rule compliance, clearance, consent or approval will have been completed, effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company. Subject to the terms of the Agreement and the Plan, the Company shall not be required to issue any certificate or certificates for Shares hereunder prior to the lapse of such reasonable period of time following the date of vesting of the Restricted Stock Units as the Administrator may establish from time to time for reasons of administrative convenience.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-28 2022 Proxy Statement

- 20. <u>Language</u>. If Participant has received this Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language other than English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control.
- 21. <u>Interpretation</u>. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Award Agreement and to adopt such rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules (including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon Participant, the Company and all other interested persons. Neither the Administrator nor any person acting on behalf of the Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Award Agreement.
- 22. <u>Captions</u>. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this Award Agreement.
- 23. <u>Modifications to the Agreement</u>. This Award Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. Participant expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Award Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than those contained herein. Modifications to this Award Agreement or the Plan can be made only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Award Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Award Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of Participant, to comply with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A in connection to this Award of Restricted Stock Units.
- 24. <u>Governing Law and Venue</u>. This Award Agreement will be governed by the laws of California, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof. For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises under the Restricted Stock Units or this Award Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the jurisdiction of the State of California, and agree that such litigation will be conducted in the courts of Los Angeles, California or the federal courts for the United States for the Central District of California, and no other courts.
- 25. <u>Agreement Severable</u>. In the event that any provision in this Award Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of this Award Agreement.
- 26. <u>Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan</u>. By accepting this Award, Participant expressly warrants that he or she has received Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, and has received, read and understood a description of the Plan. Participant understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be amended, suspended or terminated by the Company at any time.
- 27. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. The Plan is incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Award Agreement (including the exhibits referenced herein) constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely to the Participant's interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and Participant.
- 28. [Country Addendum. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock Unit grant shall be subject to any special terms and conditions set forth in any appendix to this Award Agreement for Participant's country. Moreover, if Participant relocates to one of the countries included in the Country Addendum, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant, to the extent the Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. The Country Addendum constitutes part of this Award Agreement.]

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-29 2022 Proxy Statement

IMMUNITYBIO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT COUNTRY ADDENDUM

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This Country Addendum includes additional terms and conditions that govern the award of Restricted Stock Units under the Plan if Participant works in one of the countries listed below. If Participant is a citizen or resident of a country (or is considered as such for local law purposes) other than the one in which he or she is currently working or if Participant relocates to another country after receiving the Award of Restricted Stock Units, the Company will, in its discretion, determine the extent to which the terms and conditions contained herein will be applicable to Participant.

Certain capitalized terms used but not defined in this Country Addendum shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan and/or the Award Agreement to which this Country Addendum is attached.

NOTIFICATIONS

This Country Addendum also includes notifications relating to exchange control and other issues of which Participant should be aware with respect to his or her participation in the Plan. The information is based on the exchange control, securities and other laws in effect in the countries listed in this Country Addendum, as of [DATE]. Such laws are often complex and change frequently. As a result, the Company strongly recommends that Participant not rely on the notifications herein as the only source of information relating to the consequences of his or her participation in the Plan because the information may be outdated when Participant vests in the Restricted Stock Units and acquires Shares, or when Participant subsequently sell Shares acquired under the Plan.

In addition, the notifications are general in nature and may not apply to Participant's particular situation, and the Company is not in a position to assure Participant of any particular result. Accordingly, Participant is advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to how the relevant laws in Participant's country may apply to Participant's situation.

Finally, if Participant is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which Participant is currently working (or is considered as such for local law purposes) or if Participant moves to another country after receiving an Award of Restricted Stock Units, the information contained herein may not be applicable to Participant.

ImmunityBio, Inc. A-30 2022 Proxy Statement



YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT! PLEASE VOTE BY:

INTERNET



Go To: www.proxypush.com/IBRX

• Cast your vote online

- Have your Proxy Card ready
 Follow the simple instructions to record your vote

PHONE Call 1-844-209-9557



- · Use any touch-tone telephone
- · Have your Proxy Card ready
- · Follow the simple recorded instructions



- Mark, sign and date your Proxy Card
- Fold and return your Proxy Card in the postage-paid envelope provided



Go Green! To receive documents via e-mail, simply go to: www.proxydocs.com/IBRX

ImmunityBio, Inc.

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

For Stockholders of Record as of April 18, 2022

Tuesday, June 14, 2022 at 9:30 AM, Pacific Time TIME: PLACE: Annual Meeting to be held live via the Internet.

Please visit www.proxydocs.com/IBRX for more details.

This proxy is being solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors

The undersigned hereby appoints Richard Adcock, Jason Liljestrom, and David Sachs (the "Named Proxies"), and each or either of them, as the true and lawful attorneys of the undersigned, with full power of substitution and revocation, and authorizes them, and each of them, to vote all the shares of capital stock of ImmunityBio, Inc. which the undersigned is entitled to vote at said meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof upon the matters specified and upon such other matters as may be properly brought before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, conferring authority upon such true and lawful attorneys to vote in their discretion on such other matters as may properly come before the meeting and revoking any proxy heretofore given.

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED AS DIRECTED OR, IF NO DIRECTION IS GIVEN, SHARES WILL BE VOTED IDENTICAL TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDATION. This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. In their discretion, the Named Proxies are authorized to vote upon such other matters that may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

You are encouraged to specify your choice by marking the appropriate box (SEE REVERSE SIDE) but you need not mark any box if you wish to vote in accordance with the Board of Directors' recommendation. The Named Proxies cannot vote your shares unless you sign (on the reverse side) and return this card.

PLEASE BE SURE TO SIGN AND DATE THIS PROXY CARD AND MARK ON THE REVERSE SIDE.

ImmunityBio, Inc.

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Please make your marks like this:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE: FOR ON PROPOSALS 1, 2 AND 3

	PROPOSAL			YOUR VO	BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS	
1.	To elect nine directors from the nominees named in the proxy statement to serve until our 2023 and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation.		FOR		WITHHOLD	1
	1.01 Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D.					FOR
	1.02 Richard Adcock					FOR
	1.03 Barry J. Simon, M.D.					FOR
	1.04 Michael D. Blaszyk					FOR
	1.05 John Owen Brennan					FOR
	1.06 Wesley Clark					FOR
	1.07 Cheryl L. Cohen					FOR
	1.08 Linda Maxwell, M.D.					FOR
	1.09 Christobel Selecky					FOR
2.	To approve an amendment to the ImmunityBio, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan to increase the company's common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 19,900,000 shares.		FOR	AGAINST	ABSTAIN	FOR
3.	To ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as ImmunityBio's independent registered public a year ending December 31, 2022.	accounting firm for the fiscal				FOR
4.	To transact other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting.					
You must register to attend the Annual Meeting online and/or participate at www.proxydocs.com/IBRX. Authorized Signatures - Must be completed for your instructions to be executed. Please sign exactly as your name(s) appears on your account. If held in joint tenancy, all persons should sign. Trustees, administrators, etc., should include title and authority. Corporation should provide full name of corporation and title of authorized officer signing the Proxy/Vote Form.						
Si	gnature (and Title if applicable) Date	Signature (if held jointly)				Date